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INTRODUCTION

This report has been prepared in response to a pe?ition
received by the Assistant Secretary - Indian Affairs from
the United Houma Nation, Inc., hereafter UHN, seeking
Federal acknowledgment as an Indian tribe under Part 83 of
Title 25 of the Code of Federal Requlations (25 CFR 83).

Part 83 establishes procedures by which unrecognized Indian
groups may seek Federal acknowledgment of an existing
government-to-government relationship with the United
States. To be entitled to such a political relationship
with the United States, the petitioner must submit
documentary evidence that the group meets the seven criteria
set forth in Section 83.7 of 25 CFR. Failure to meet any
one of the seven criteria will result in a determination
that the group does not exist as an Indian tribe within the
meaning of Federal law.

Publication of the Assistant Secretary’s proposed finding in
the Federal Register initiates a 180-day response period
during which factual and/or legal arguments and evidence to
rebut the evidence relied upon are received from the
petitioner and any other interested party. Such evidence
should be submitted in writing to the Office of the
Assistant Secretary - Indian Affairs, 1849 C Street, N.W.,
Washington, D.C. 20240, Attention: Branch of Acknowledgment
and Research, Mail Stop 2611-MIB.

After consideration of all written arguments and evidence
received during the 180-day response period, the Assistant
Secretary will make a final determination regarding the
petitioner’s status, a summary of which will be published in
the Federal Register within 60 days of the expiration of the
180-day response period. This determination will become
effective 60 days from its date of publication unless the
Secretary of the Interior requests the Assistant Secretary
to reconsider under 25 CFR 83.10(c).

If at the expiration of the 180-day response period this
proposed finding is confirmed, the Assistant Secretary will
analyze and forward to the petitioner other options, if any,
under which the petitioner might make application for
services or other benefits.

A summary of the evidence under the Acknowledgment criteria
follows. Technical reports detailing the evidence are also
attached. To help the reader, brief discussions are
provided below of social/racial distinctions, names and
abbreviations, as well as other terminology used in this
report.
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social/Racial Distinctions

From the 18th century to the present, the progenitors of the
petitioner and the petitioner’s ancestral group have lived
in a multi-racial society unique in the United States.
Historically, throughout this period, racial distinctions
were made by and about both individuals and communities. To
persons living in the region, these distinctions were
important.

The more extreme theories of late nineteenth and early
twentieth-century racists cannot be projected backwards into
the antebellum period. Neither is it even a matter of
saying "Indian" and "African-American," when discussing a
place and time when social/racial categories, while
important, were nonetheless also fluid and to some extent
dependent upon economic status and life style. It is not
such a simple matter as saying "white" and "non-white."

In order to present an accurate picture of the historical
developrent of the petitioner’s group, it has been necessary
to understand and use the social/racial categories which
were in effect at each period of its history. To some
extent, it has been necessary to reference the vocabulary
and/or terminology in use at each point in time, even when
these wcrds are now considered to be offensive. Such words,
when used in source records or oral histories, have been
placed in quotation marks to indicate that these words
specifically were used by the informant, and that the usage
was determined by BAR researchers to be critical in
understanding the historical context of an event or the
process of community development.

Discrimination on a racial basis can, in fact, be strong
evidence for the existence of distinct community. To
understeand the discrimination, it is necessary to understand
the ethrichistorical context and the classifications that
were used in the society in which the petitioner’s ancestral
group lived. That the BAR’s researchers have found it
necessary to employ these terms does not mean that the BAR’s
researchers endorse these terms.

Although racial heritage that is other than "Indian" may be
present within a group, genealogical research focuses on
whether the group’s members descend from a historical Indian
tribe.

Names and Other Terminology

Many of the names common to the history of the United Houma
Nation are found in official records under a variety of
spellin¢gs. Where specific documents are discussed within
the attached reports, individual names will be spelled as
they appear in the document. In general discussions not
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dealing with specific documents, however, the Branch of
Acknowledgment and Research (BAR) has attempted to
standardize the spelling of names to conform with spellings
found ir the group today. A list of "standardized" names
along with spelling variations found in official records is
provided for the reader.

In the attached technical reports the terms '"husband,"
"wife," and "married" are used for unions which lasted
and/or rroduced children even though the BAR researchers are
fully aware that some of these unions may not have been
recognized legally within the state of Louisiana.

Wherever possible, references to materials submitted as part

of the petition or supplements to it, incorporate volume and
document numbers assigned by the petitioner.

I\bbreviations and/or Acronyms used in Reports

BAR = Branch of Acknowledgment and Research, Bureau
of Indian Affairs (Evaluator of the Petition)

BIA = Bureau of Indian Affairs

CIA = Commissioner of Indian Affairs

FD = Field data collected by member of BAR
research team

HA = Houma Alliance, [Inc.], one of precursor
organizations to the UHN petitioner

HT = The Houma Tribes, Inc., one of precursor
organizations to the UHN petitioner

NARA = National Archives and Records Administration

Pink Charts = Early printouts from a genealogical database

created by BAR genealogists from information
provided by the UHN. Pink charts were then
annotated to show additional data collected
and its source.

RG = Record Group, record classification system
utilized by NARA (RG 29, Records of the
Bureau of the Census)

UHN = United Houma Nation, Inc. (the petitioner)

UHN Pet., Narr. = Petition narrative which cites page #
(UHN Pet., Narr. 35)

UHN Pet., Ex. = Petition exhibit which cites volume #
and document # (UHN Pet., Ex. 7:#56)

UHN BC(#) = Refers to Petitioner’s Blue Chart by # (UHN

BC2)
UHN GEN = Refers to Petitioner’s Genealogical

(Ancestry/Individual History) Charts
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Standard

Abbe
Billiot

Chaisson
Courteau

Creppel
Dardar
Dion

Enerisse

Galley
Gregoire
Tacalobe

Jeanne
Lamatte
Naquin
Renaud
Sauvage
Solet

Verdin

Verret

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgement

Standardized Surname Spellings

Spelling variations

Abe. See also Courteau

Biliot, Billau, Billaud, Billaux,
Billoux, Billeau, Billeaux, Billiau,
Billot, Biot, Biau, Biou, Bion, Beo,
Beyo, Beyout

Chiasson, Chasson, Shaison

Corteau, Corteaux, Courtai, Courtaine,
Courtan, Courtau, Courteaud, Courteaux,
Courto, Courtot, ?Pourteau

Crapel, Crepel, Creppelle, Clappell
Dardard, Dardare, Dardarr, Dardart
Dionne, Dyan, Dian, Dianne, ?Jean,
?Jeanne, Deanne, Deon

Eric, Erice, Eris, ?Iriess, Iris,
Nerisse, Aries [Acies], Ellis, Enerise,
?Riche

Gallet, Gallais

Gregoir

Jacalobe, Tacalobe, ?Cacalobe, Tough-la-
Bay, Loup-la-Bay. See also Courteau.
Jean, John, ?Dion

Lamothe, Lamotte

Nacquin, Nankin, Nanquin, Nanguin
Renau, Reynolds

Le Sauvage, Savage

Saule, Saulet, Sauly, Sole, Soley,
Soule, Soulie

Verdam, Verdine, Verdun, Vardin,
Berdine, Veirdean

Verrette, Verris
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PLACE AND TRIBAL NAME SPELLINGS FOR HOUMA REPORT

Due to variant spellings of numerous names of people, places
and things in this finding, we have used the following
authorities for the spellings:

Handbook of American Indians North of Mexico (2 volumes) by
Fredericx W. Hodge, ed. Totowa, NJ:Rowman and Littlefield,
1979 for the Indian names and languages spelling. (Hodge)

Louisiana Geographic Names Information System, Alphabetical
List

Branch of Geographic Names, Office of Geographic and
Cartograoshic Research, National Mapping Division, U.S.
Geological Survey, 6/11/86. (GNIS)

ACOLAPISSA (Indians) (Hodge 1:9)no Colapissa
ALIBAMU (Indians) (Hodge 1:43) no Alabamas/alimaons
Amite River (GNIS:5)

APALACHEZ (Indians) (Hodge 1:67)

ATTACAPA (Indians) (District) (Hodge 1:114)
Atchafalaya River (locale, Bayou GNIS:9)
"Balise"

Barataria (ppl GNIS:12)

Bartheleny

BAYOGOULA (Indians) (Hodge 1:137)

Bayou Boweuf (stream, GNIS:53)

Bayou D’‘’Arbonne (stream, Quachita, GNIS:103)
Bayou D’Arkonne Lake (reservoir, Union, GNIS:21
Bayou de Chene (stream, Lafourche, GNIS:21)
Bayou De:rrbonne (gut, Natchitoches, GNIS:22)
Bayou du Large (stream, GNIS:192))

Bayou Lacombe (stream, GNIS:188)

Bayou Lafourche (stream, GNIS:189)

Bayou Te:-rebonne (stream, GNIS:32)

Bayou Saint Jean Charles (stream, GNIS:30)
Cabanocey/Cabannocey

Calabee (chief)

Calcasieu Lake (GNIS:67)

Cantrelle (family)

Carondelet

Cathcart

CATAWBA /Indians) (Hodge 1:213)

CHITIMACHA (Indians) (Hodge 1:286)no Sitimacha
COUSHATTA (Indians) (Federal Register notice 9/29/86)
Dulac (ppl, GNIS:116)

"Fort Chartres"

Fort Tou.ouse

Houma (ppl, GNIS:169)

Iberville no Point

Isle Jean-Charles

Judice (family)
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KOASATI (Indians) (Hodge 1:720)
Lafourche (GNIS:189)

La Fourche des Chetimachas

Lake Pontchartrain (GNIS:277)

Lamotte Creek (stream, Rapides, GNIS:191)
Larose ‘ppl, GNIS:192)

Manchac (ppl GNIS:216)
Matiabee/Natchiabee

MUGULASHA (Indians) (Hodge 1:954)
MUSKOGEAN (Hodge 2:500)

OPELOUSA (Indians) (Hodge 2:139)
PASCAGOULA (Indians) (Hodge II1:205)
Pacagou.a Bayou (GNIS:263)

Plattenville (ppl GNIS:275)

Petit Caillou, Bayou (stream, GNIS:267)
Point Barre (GNIS:275)

Pointe au Chien (school and bayou, GNIS, 276)
Pointe (oupee (GNIS:276)

SEMINOLES (Indians) (Hodge 2:500)
TALAPOOSA (Indians) (Hodge 2:677)
Tensas River (stream, GNIS:338)
Thibodaux (ppl GNIS:339)

Tombigbee River (mod.AL)

Vermilion (GNIS:351)

Yalobusha River (ms)

Yazoo River (GNIS:369)
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Ssummary under the Criteria -- United Houma Nation, Inc.

SUMMARY UNDER THE CRITERIA 83.7(a-g)

Evidence submitted by the United Houma Nation, Inc.
(hereinafter the petitioner) and obtained through other
interested parties and independent research by the
Acknowledgment staff demonstrates that the petitioner does
not meet all seven criteria required for Federal
acknowleigment. Specifically, the petitioner does not meet
criteria (b), (c), and (e). In accordance with the
regulations set forth in 25 CFR 83, failure to meet any one
of the sa2ven criteria requires a determination that the
group does not exist as an Indian tribe within the meaning
of Federal law.

This is a proposed finding based on available evidence, and,
as such, does not preclude the submission of other evidence
to the contrary during the 180-day comment period which
follows publication of this finding. Such new evidence may
result in a change in the conclusions reached in the
proposed finding. The final determination, which will be
publishel separately after the receipt of the comments, will
be based on both the new evidence submitted in response to
the propossed finding and the original evidence used in
formulating the proposed finding.

In the summary of evidence which follows, each criterion has
been reproduced in boldface type as it appears in the
regulations. Summary statements of the evidence relied upon
follow the respective criteria.

83.7(a) The petitioner has been identified as an
American Indian entity on a substantially
continuous basis since 1900. Evidence that
the group’s character as an Indian entity has
from time to time been denied shall not be
considered to be conclusive evidence that
this criterion has not been met.

The petitzion for Federal acknowledgment as an Indian tribe
submitted by the United Houma Nation, Inc. (hereafter
referred to as UHN) maintains that the petitioner descends
from the historical Houma tribe, which was mentioned in
eighteen:h century French, Spanish, and English colonial
document:is. The UHN undoubtedly descends from people who
since the mid-nineteenth century have been intermittently
identified as Indian, as a mixed-blood Indian community, or
as of Indian ancestry, Indian appearance, and/or of Indian
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Summary under the Criteria -- United Houma Nation, Inc.

lifesty.e. Several early-nineteenth century ancestors have
been documented as Indian, but there is no.evidepce that
they desicend from the historical Houma Indian tribe.

Criterion 83.7(a) serves to establish the identification of
the pet:.tioner as an American Indian entity, by sources
externa.. to the group (for example, historians,
anthropologists, government agencies), but does not
determine the tribal character of the group. Tribal
character (such as identification with and descent from a
historical Indian tribe, the maintenance of social
community, and the exercise of political authority) is
determined by other criteria. Criterion 83.7(a) does not
require identification as a specific tribe, although such
evidence is stronger than simple identification as an Indian
group.

Federal qovernment. The Federal censuses from 1870, 1880,
and 1910 all indicate the petitioner lived in a number of
settlements isolated from non-group members. In the 1870
and 1880 censuses, a majority of the petitioner’s ancestral
settlements in the lower bayous were identified as Indian.
The regular 1890 census is not available for evaluation
because it was destroyed by fire. But the special 1890
Federal census of Indians taxed and not taxed is extant, and
indicates there were 55 Indians living in Terrebonne Parish

that year.

The 1900 census identified most of the UHN ancestors living
in the Lower bayous as white, black, or mulatto. It is
known that census takers in 1900 often did not record

accurately the Indian origins of some communities in the
South. Rather, there was a tendency to force all
inhabitants into a bifurcated racial classification; that
is, ind:viduals were labelled either white or black, but
seldom ndian. The regulations state that occasional
identif:.cation of the petitioner as non-Indian by external
sources will not be the sole grounds for denying that a
petitioner has met criterion 83.7(a). The three previous
censuses; (1870, 1880, and 1890) and two subsequent censuses
(1910, :920) tended to list the UHN ancestors living in the
vicinity of the founding Bayou Terrebonne settlement as
Indians. We therefore find that the 1900 census does not
constitute conclusive evidence that the UHN were not
identified as an American Indian entity. In addition to the
consistent identification as an American Indian entity in
every Federal census from 1870 to 1920, with the exception
of 1900, there is evidence, detailed below, which indicates
the UHN ancestors were identified as an American Indian

2
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Summary under the Criteria -- United Houma Nation, Inc.

entity ketween 1890 and 1910, by knowledgeable external
sources other than the Federal government.

In the 1910 and 1920 censuses, those living along Bayou
Terreborne, in the vicinity of the original founding
community, were consistently identified as Indian. But the
majority of the UHN ancestors living away from the original
founding settlement area were listed as non-Indian. Even
those UEN ancestors with no documented Indian ancestry were
labelled Indian, if they lived along Bayou Terrebonne. This
indicates that outsiders had a perception that the people
living along parts of Bayou Terrebonne, and sharing
particular surnames, were a distinguishable American Indian
entity.

During the 1920’s, several members of the UHN ancestral
group wrote to the BIA requesting assistance. Reports
compiled during the 1930’s by researchers sent by the Bureau
of Indian Affairs (Nash Report; Underhill Report) accepted
the comrunity as mixed-blood Indian, but no Federal
assistarce was provided. Most efforts during this period
were aired at the improvement of educational facilities.

In the 1930’s, Assistant Commissioner - Indian Affairs
Scattergood did not deny that the group was Indian, but
indicated that the UHN ancestral group lacked tribal status
vis-a-vis the Federal government. Scattergood’s conclusion
was based on at least three considerations: that the Houma
never had treaty relations with the Federal government; had
never been given any reservation lands; and had no allotment
history. Though Scattergood’s summary of the facts was
accurate, it does not constitute conclusive evidence that
the UHN were not regarded as an Indian entity under
criterion 83.7(a). Under the current regulations for
Federal acknowledgment, petitioners are not required to have
signed a treaty. Petitioners are also not required to have
had a reservation established for them, or to have an
allotment history. While denying their status as an Indian
tribe, Scattergood did nonetheless identify the petitioner’s
ancestors as an American Indian entity.

State government. 1In 1921, the Congressman representing the
district in which Terrebonne Parish is located wrote to the
Commissioner of Indian Affairs (COIA) enclosing a memorial
presented to him by "the Houma Indians, who reside in my
district." Another Louisiana congressman wrote the BIA on
their behalf a decade later. The UHN became a member of the
Louisiana Commission on Indian Affairs sometime after their
formation in 1974.
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Summary under the Criteria —-- United Houma Nation, Inc.

Local government. In the second half of the nineteenth
century and first half of the twentieth century local
governmental authorities identified the petitioner as a non-
white en:tity, with partial Indian ancestry. The petitioner
fought against locally exerted pressure to amalgamate with
those friee families of color descended from the antebellum
slave population. This is particularly evidenced ip efforts
by the Terrebonne Parish school authorities to require the
attendance of UHN children at "colored" segregated schogls
(see below). Oral histories stated that during segregation,
Terrebonne Parish had a tripartite system for, example,
public wiater fountains, with the UHN group distinguished
both from white and from black. In 1931, the secretary of
the Houma-Terrebonne Chamber of Commerce wrote to BIA
researcher Roy Nash offering assistance "in this splendid
effort to help these people," and identifying them as
Indians, part French, some with Negro blood.

In his 1938 Master’s thesis, the local school board
commissioner, H.L. Bourgeois, treated the petitioner as a
distinct community with mixed Indian and non-Indian
heritage. But the bifurcated racial classification system
(i.e., black and white) shaped the way outsiders, including
Bourgeois, acted toward the UHN ancestors. In regard to the
education system, there were segregated schools for white
children and colored children. The school officials would
not allow the UHN children to attend the school for whites.
The UHN ancestors did not want their children to attend the
"colored" schools alongside black children, and requested
the establishment of separate Indian schools. Local school
officials refused to comply with the request. Thus, while
accepting that the UHN had partial Indian ancestry, local
school officials lumped the UHN together with blacks as
"colored:s" or non-whites.

The fact that the children of the petitioner’s ancestors
were forced to attend the colored schools during segregation
does not constitute conclusive evidence that the UHN were
not idenf:ified as an American Indian entity. Bourgeois’
assumption that the UHN ancestors were a separate entity was
based on the perception that they had partial American
Indian ancestry. -This provides supporting evidence that the
petitioner meets criterion 83.7(a).

Academic and scholarly. At the time of anthropologist John
R. Swanton’s field research among the petitioner’s ancestors
in 1907, under the auspices of the Bureau of American
Ethnology, two of the petitioner’s elderly female ancestors
still recalled a few Indian words, which were recently

4
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Summary under the Criteria -- United Houma Nation, Inc.

identified as Mobilian Trade Jargon (a pidgin language,
based on Choctaw, spoken by most Indians along the Gulf
Coast, from Florida to Louisiana). Since 1907, the
ancestors of the petitioner have regularly been reported in
anthropological literature as a "mixed-blood" Indian group.
In 1935, anthropologist Fred Kniffen identified the Houma as
an American Indian entity. During the late 1930’s, Frank G.
Speck expressed no doubts about Swanton’s identification of
the group with the historical Houma tribe, and stated that
he would "rate the Houma as a people possessing Indian blood
and cultural characters to a degree about equal to that of
the Creek, Choctaw, Catawba, and Seminoles."™ 1In 1941, Speck
acknowledged the existence of both Indian (from a variety of
tribes) and non-Indian elements in the group, but in 1943 he
simply asserted that "the modern people known as Houma
Indians . . . are descendants of the Historic Houma tribe
mentioned in eighteenth-century narratives of Louisiana."

From the 1940’s to the present, subsequent scholars
continued to identify the petitioner’s ancestors as
descendants of the historical Houma Indian tribe based on
the unfounded assumptions of Swanton and Speck. In spite of
the inaccuracy of this identification, the petitioner has
been consistently identified by external sources as an
American Indian entity. Evidence for this includes
identification by anthropologists and sociologists (e.g.,
Fred Kniffen in 1935 and 1987; William H. Gilbert, Jr., in
1946; and Ann Fischer in 1968), historians (e.g., Charles
Gayarre in 1974; Kenneth Martin in 1984; Richebourg
McWilliams, in 1953), and others. 1In the 1970’s, Janel
Curry, Jessica Parks, and Edison Roy researched and wrote
about the petitioner for their Master’s theses. Two
additional papers were also published during the 1970’s,
partially based upon research conducted in the petitioner’s
communities, concerning housing and racial identification.

Other external sources of identification. From the late
1930’s to the present, many journalists (e.g., Fred Barry,
Sherwin Guidry, Edgar Poe) and Protestant missionaries and
mission organizations (e.g., Milbry Guest, Henry Harper,
Mary Lou Jenkins, Mary Beth Littlejohn, and Wilhelmina
Hooper) have identified the petitioner as an American Indian
entity. The petitioner has been identified as an American
Indian entity in newspapers with greater frequency since the
founding of their organization in the 1970’s.

As noted above, evaluation under criterion (a) does not
establish the identification of the petitioner with a
specific tribe. It also does not consider whether any such

5
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Summary under the Criteria -- United Houma Nation, Inc.

identifications are accurate. Nevertheless, in the case of
the UHN, it should be stated clearly that there is no
evidence to support the contention of early anthropologists,
or the petitioner, that the petitioner’s ancestors are
related to the historical Houma Indian tribe. In fact, all
available evidence indicates that they are clearly not Houma
Indian descendants. This finding, elaborated under
criterion 83.7(e), has no bearing on whether or not the
petitioner meets criterion 83.7(a).

External identification of a petitioner’s ancestors as
descendants of a specific Indian tribe, even though it does
not accurately reflect the historical tribal origins of the
group, may nevertheless provide evidence that the group was
identifi2d by outsiders as American Indian. Thus Swanton’s
and Speck’s specific identification of the petitioner’s
ancestors as Houma Indians, while historically and
genealogically inaccurate, has to be separated from the fact
that their research, and the research of those who followed
them, provides evidence that the petitioner has been
consistently identified by external sources as an American
Indian entity since the early 1900’s to the present.

Based on this and other evidence that external sources
identified the petitioner as an American Indian entity from
1900 to “he present, we conclude that the petitioner meets
criterion 83.7(a). .

83.7(b) A predominant portion of the petitioning
group comprises a distinct community and has
existed as a community from historical times
until the present.

The avai.able evidence demonstrates that the petitioner did
not exist continuously as a distinct community from
historical times to the present. Most significantly, there
is no evidence for a UHN ancestral community (Indian or non-
Indian) prior to 1830. The petitioner has not presented any
evidence that such a community existed, and none has been
found. The petitioner maintains that they are descended
from the historical Houma Indian tribe. There is no
evidence of any social, political, or genealogical
connections between the petitioner and the historical Houma
Indian tribe.

First historical contact of Europeans with the historical
Houma Incian tribe (though not the petitioner) dates to the
1682 voyage of LaSalle, at which time the Houma Indian tribe

6
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Summary under the Criteria -- United Houma Nation, Inc.

was living on the Mississippi-Louisiana state border, north
of present-day Baton Rouge, Louisiana. The Houma Indians
moved tc Bayou St. Jean (near New Orleans) in 1706, and by
1718 had moved to the headwaters of Bayou Lafocurche,
residing on both banks of the Mississippi River near the
present-day town of Donaldsonville, Louisiana. They
continued to live in settlements in this area into the early
1800’s.

By 1830, however, there is evidence that a single community
of UHN ancestors had formed, at Montegut on Bayou
Terrebonne, which is the community from which the petitioner
descends. The majority of these ancestors were non-Indians,
though a few were Indian. The varied origins of this
community are detailed below. This community existed
continuously from 1830 to 1880. There is no evidence that
any of the Houma Indians from around the Donaldsonville area
ever migrated, as individuals or as a tribe, to the UHN
ancestral settlement near Montegut.

From 1840 to 1880, some of the petitioner’s ancestors
migrated out of this community to nearby bayous in south
Louisiana and established several socially and politically
independent, satellite settlements. The evidence indicates
that these communities were never united across the bayous
on a continuous basis in terms of extensive, significant
social and political relations. However, each of the
communities did exhibit a high degree of internal social
cohesion by 1880.

The evidance in this case is complex, and presents a unique
situation, in comparison to previous acknowledgment cases,
because 5>f the three-stage historical process just described
in outline form: 1. prior to 1830, no evidence of a social
community; 2. 1830 to 1880, a single UHN ancestral
community; 3. 1880 to the present, several (six or more)
socially and politically independent communities. Thus,
when speaking of the UHN petitioner’s ancestors between 1830
and 1880, the reference will be to a single "community.™"
From 1880 to the present the reference will be to the
separate UHN "communities."

The earliest UHN community evolved from individuals and
nuclear amilies who moved to modern-day Lafourche and
Terrebonne Parishes beginning in the 1780’s. The UHN
ancestors who first settled the bayous of southern Lafourche
and Terrebonne Parishes, Louisiana, did not enter the area
together. The UHN petitioner presents a situation in which
a2 small number of individual Indians, from partially unknown

7
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summary under the Criteria -- United Houma Nation, Inc.

tribal backgrounds (two unrelated Indian women and a single
Indian nuclear family), and numerous non-Indian individuals,
coalesced into a distinct community on Bayou Terrebonne
between 1810 and 1830. Geographically, the origins of the
individual families can be traced to several locations:
south of New Orleans, the city of New Orleans, the German
Coast, and Ascension Parish. Ethnically, they were French,
German, English, and African, as well as American Indian.
The various families came to take up land grants from the
Spanish colonial administration.

The petitioner’s ancestors who would meet in Louisiana’s
lower bayous had few, if any, previous relationships, other
than those within nuclear families. In only two cases were
prior interactions documented among genealogically unrelated
ancestors moving onto Bayou Terrebonne. The documentation
indicates that the vast majority of the ties among the UHN’s
ancestors developed only after the families had settled on
their land in Terrebonne Parish after 1800. After moving
onto Spanish-era land grants along Terrebonne Bayou near
present-day Montegut, they united through marriage, econonic
undertakings, and other social interactions. After these
immigrants had become one another’s neighbors, over the
course of a generation, the settlers evolved into the small
farming community shown on Federal census records and
General Land Office records in the 1830’s.

In the context of Louisiana history, it is not surprising to
find that some members of such a farming community were of
American Indian origin. Documents generated by the colonial
administrations, travelers’ reports, and letters described
what has been metaphorically called the "mixing bowl" of
Louisiana Indians in the second half of the eighteenth
century. The many small Muskogean tribes which had lived on
the greater Mississippi River Delta were battered by the
great European powers, displaced by settlers, and decimated
by disease. They moved often. Members of different tribes
intermarried. Often larger groupings amalgamated
temporarily, and sometimes permanently.

What has rarely been focused on in historical and other
writings is that Indian individuals and families also joined
non-Indian society. Some Indians married non-Indian
settlers. Others took on many of the customs of the new
population. They were baptized. They learned and used the
French language. They farmed and cared for domesticated
animals. They held slaves. Some obtained land grants.
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While some Indian groups acculturated and changed
substantially in social, political, and cultural practices,
they maintained tribal political authority within tribal
communities. The Tunica-Biloxi, Chitimacha, and Mississippi
Choctaw are good examples of groups which were able to
sustain continuous existence as tribal entities despite
acculturative processes. Other Indian individuals and
families did not maintain close relations with tribesmen,
but rather, joined existing non-Indian communities or
pioneered in the frontier communities being established in
their midst. The Indian ancestors of the UHN petitioner
clearly fall into the latter category.

Extensive settlement of Bayou Lafourche had begun in the
mid-1700’s. Settlers from Acadia, who would become known in
Louisiana as "Cajuns," settled in the upper part of Bayou
Lafourche. By 1790, internal migration within Louisiana
brought second-generation Cajuns and landless Creoles (as
those born in Louisiana were called) to Bayou Terrebonne in
search of new lands. The need for new lands was felt
especially by second and younger sons who could not inherit
accordiny to primogeniture requirements of Franco-Spanish
law. Young Creoles from the German Coast, English Turn, and
other olier settlements moved with second generation Cajuns
into the lower bayous in the 1790’s. They became neighbors
along Bayou Terrebonne. Other settlers came directly from
France or the young United States.

Between 1790 and 1820, documents show the petitioner’s
ancestors moving to a location above modern-day Montegut on
Bayou Terrebonne. Their descendants have remained
associatad with this place for 200 years. In 1907, an
informant from the group told ethnologist John Swanton that
all the people whom Swanton subsequently called "Houma"
living in Terrebonne and Lafourche Parishes were descended
from three families: Billiot, Courteau, and Verdin. The
informan:’s claim has been verified by extensive research on
the peti:ioning group.

General l.and Office records and documents of probate,
marriage, baptisms, and other events show that the nucleus
of the founding settlement was comprised of these three
families. First, the Courteau family was clearly associated
with the Biloxi Tribe. They were a nuclear family: parents
and children. Second, the Billiot nuclear family had mixed
ancestry: African-American and German Creole. The Billiots
were not Indian in origin; but, after their settlement on
Bayou Terrebonne, three of their sons married Indian women.
Third, the Verdin family was also mixed: German/French

9

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgement UHN-V001-D005 Page 17 of 448



Summary under the Criteria =-- United Houma Nation, Inc.

Creole and unidentified Indian. Extensive genealogical
analysis has shown that all of the members of the
petitioning group descend from at least one of these three

families.

The petitioner, anthropologists, and others have often
referred to the three founding families of the UHN
petitioner. It has usually been assumed that these three
families had Indian origins. Anthropologist John Swanton
even speculated that the three families represented three
clans or moieties, but there is no evidence to support this
contention. Even his own field notes of interviews with the
oldest members of the community support a scenario which
would attribute diverse tribal and geographical origins to
the founding ancestors.

The Billiot and Verdin families received Spanish land grants
along Bayou Terrebonne between 1788 and 1803, as did a
Courteau brother-in-law, Louis Sauvage. Between 1805 and
1830, two of the original core families, the Indian Courteau
family and the non-Indian Billiot family, contracted two
marriages. They were neighbors and associates of the Indian
Verdin family, whose children were not yet old enough to
marry. However, during the same period of time, 1805-1830,
the two remaining Courteau siblings and the seven remaining
Billiot siblings contracted marriages with members of other
neighboring families (Billiot) or with persons of unknown
origin. None of these neighboring families can be
documented as American Indian: most have been documented as
non-Indian in origin -- French, Acadian, Euro-African, or
Mexican, for example. In summary, a group of neighbors
lived on Bayou Terrebonne approximately 20 miles south of
the modern city of Houma, Louisiana, between 1805 and 1830.
They are ancestors of the petitioner.

The group of people living along Bayou Terrebonne before
1830 did not, however, constitute a distinct Indian
community. It was a group of neighbors: settlers of widely
varying origins. Only a minority of these settlers had
American Indian ancestry: one family and two apparently
unrelated women. These individuals appear in the records of
Terrebonne Parish and in the 1810 Federal census. They
owned their land in fee simple and paid taxes on it. Both
local and Federal census records identified some in the
neighborhood as "Indian." 1In one case, Houma Courteau was
specifically identified as Biloxi. However, extensive
research has failed to document any tribe or band of Indians
that settled along Bayou Terrebonne in the later eighteenth
or early nineteenth centuries.

10
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Extensive records concerning the activities of the three
core families and those whom they married prior to the Civil
War have been located. These records leave no doubt that
the three families became closely associated. The three
families lived next door to one another. In the second and
third generations they married each other. Between 1825 and
1840, three siblings of the mixed French/German/Indian
Verdin family married into the Courteau line; the other
three Verdin children who survived to maturity married non-
Indian neighbors.

While the founders’ descendants often married each other, no
widespread pattern of group endogamy (marriage to other UHN
ancestors) could be confirmed for the period before 1880.
During the second and third generations, the UHN ancestors
married widely. In addition to the intermarriages among the
three core families, members of the core families entered
into unicns with several recent European immigrants (for
example, Dardar, Parfait, Gallet, Roubion, Molinaire), with
members cf local French/German Creole families (Frederick,
Robinet, Prevost), and with free persons of color (Solet,
Verret, Jeanne). Two Cajun women (Magneau, Renaud) married
into the Billiot family during the second generation. The
first Cajun marriage by a woman from one of the core
families was between a Verdin daughter and one of the
Naquins who had settled on Isle Jean-Charles.

In the revised acknowledgment regulations, which became
effective March 28, 1994, two kinds of high evidence are
specifiecl which allow a petitioner to show that they
historiceally met or currently meet the criterion of
community. First, section 83.7(b) (1) (i~ix) lists several
specific examples of high evidence that can be used to
demonstrate conclusively that social community exists at a
particular point in time; for example, significant rates of
culturally appropriate patterned marriages, significant
social relationships connecting individual members,
significant degree of shared labor, broadly shared cultural
patterns such as kinship organization, language, religious
beliefs, etc. Second, section 83.7(b) (2) (i-v) addresses
another kind of high level of evidence for social community:
"A petitioner shall be considered to have provided
sufficient evidence of community at a given point in time"
if evidence is provided to demonstrate one of five
characteristics. For example, 83.7(b) (2) (i) states that if
a petitioner can show that "more than fifty percent of the
members reside in a geographical area exclusively or almost
exclusively composed of members of the group, and the
balance of the group maintains consistent interaction with

11
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some members of the community," that is sufficient gvidgnce
that the petitioner meets that criterion at that point 1in
time.

The UHN petitioner can show that their ancestors met the
high level of geographical evidence for community between
1830 and 1880 because at least fifty percent of the
petitioner’s ancestral group lived in a geographic area
exclusively inhabited by their ancestors, which extended
from just north of modern Montegut to Isle Jean-Charles on
Bayou Terrebonne. Land records show a central community
existing near Montegut as early as 1830. There are no full
descriptions of the community between 1830 and 1880, but the
geographic proximity and isolation of the petitioner’s
ancestral population, as evidenced by the Federal census
schedules, maps, and other period documents, demonstrates
they meet criterion 83.7(b)(2) from 1830 to 1880.

From abcout 1810 to 1880, the ancestral group’s members
married widely with their neighbors (UHN and non-UHN), and
there is no evidence of a widespread pattern of endogamy
which would meet the high levels of evidence required by the
regulations at 83.7(b)(2)(i). An analysis of the partial
evidence provided by the petitioner for two distinct UHN
communities showed that fifty percent or more of the
marriages within the separate communities were endogamous
from 1880 to 1940. There is, therefore, limited but
inconclusive evidence suggesting that marriage patterns may
have distinguished the UHN petitioner from both the white
and African American populations also living in the region
from 1880 to 1940. The preliminary analysis raises the
possibility that endogamy may have been characteristic for
each of the UHN communities during this time period. More

complete evidence concerning marriage patterns, for all of
the UHN component communities, needs to be submitted and
more analysis needs to be done, before the petitioner or its
component communities can meet a high level of evidence for
83.7(b).

In addition to the evidence suggesting endogamy may have
been practiced within the separate communities between 1880
and 1940, the descendants of the founders also appeared in
documents and on census rolls together, or sometimes filed
legal papers on the same day.

In 1880, the Federal Census showed the petitioner’s
ancestors living in the founding settlement just north of
Montegut, in extensions to that original settlement along
Bayou Terrebonne, and in satellite communities on other

12
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nearby bayous. The censuses record the same pattern of
geographic distribution continuing in 1900, 1910, and 1920.
There ar2 no ethnographic or other first-hand descriptions
of these communities before 1907. The existence of the
separate communities is assumed solely based on geographical
proximity of the ancestors according to the Federal
censuses.

The first ethnographic description of the petitioner’s
ancestor:s was published in 1911, based on the 1907 field
research of anthropologist John Swanton, who described
clearly separate and distinct settlements, not only on lower
Bayou Te:rrebonne, but also on Bayou Grand Caillou, Bayou du
Large, and Bayou Lafourche. The communities listed by
Swanton were often viewed as similar by outsiders because
they were seen as being similar in terms of their ancestry,
language, and customs.

In spite of identification by outsiders as an American
Indian entity from 1900 to the present, it may not be
presumed that close social and economic relationships
continued to exist among the later nineteenth-century and
early twentieth-century residents of the founding settlement
on Bayou Terrebonne and residents of the satellite
communities on other bayous, who were three and four
generations removed from each other in kinship. Because of
the system of racial hierarchy which existed in this region,
residents of one UHN settlement sometimes denied that they
were related in any way to residents of other UHN
settlements, despite the fact that outsiders often
classified all UHN ancestors together. As time progressed
and late) generations were born, the contacts between the
major areas of settlement (the different bayous) cannot be
presumed to exist: kin ties became more and more distant.
Data to demonstrate continued significant interaction is
required to show that the entire descendent population
living in the founding settlement and the satellite
settlements continued to exist as a single, unified
community. Evidence showing this type of interaction was
not prov:ded.

The evolution of separate communities from the single
founding community had clearly occurred by 1907, when
Swanton visited the region and wrote about the kin-based
level of social and political organization that
characterized the petitioner at that time. Although the six
settlements listed by Swanton in 1911 were misidentified as

"Houma," it is clear that the settlements were each separate
and distinct from the surrounding populations. It is also
13
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certain that some of the UHN component communities were
socially and politically independent of each other at the
time of his visit.

The petitioner did not submit conclusive evidence which
shows that, from 1880 to the present, the entire petitioner
meets the requirements for community under the
acknowledgment requlations as _a single entity. However,
some evidence suggests that, from 1880 to 1940, the
petitioner’s precursor population lived in several distinct
communities which individually met the requirements for
community. These communities were located on Bayous
Terrebonne, du Large, Lafourche, and Grand Caillou.
Residence patterns from 1880 to 1940, show that the majority
of the UHN ancestral population lived in geographically
distinct "village-like" settlements, which were exclusively
inhabited by the petitioner’s members. A residence pattern
of this sort clearly demonstrates that the separate
settlements which make up the petitioner meet the high level
evidence for community required by 83.7(b)(2) (i) between
1880 and 1940.

By the mid-1940’s, some of the petitioner’s ancestors began
emigrating to urban areas, such as New Orleans, to work in
war-related industry. This led to a pattern of more and
more members living outside of the lower bayou communities.
Thus, from 1940 to the present, it cannot be assumed that
the petitioner meets the high level of evidence of social
community based on geographical distribution. There is no
alternative evidence that the petitioner meets criterion
83.7(b) based on residential patterns.

The evidence also indicates that, as the petitioner’s
members emigrated from the lower bayous in greater numbers
than ever before, they started marrying non-petitioner
members with greater frequency. Thus, the petitioner, as a
whole, does not meet the sufficient level of evidence of
community from 1940 to the present based on endogamy,
although specific communities within the petitioner retained
the endcgamous marriage pattern much longer. In the UHN
community at Dulac, for example, community residents
continued until 1980 to be predominantly married to other
UHN members. However, UHN members who are historically
associated with the separate settlements, but who currently
reside ocutside of the region (nearly two-thirds of the UHN
membership), are very likely to be married to non-UHN
spouses. There is some evidence that those who marry
outside of the UHN membership do not continue to maintain
residence in the lower bayou communities post-maritally.
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For these reasons, since 1940, endogamy cannot be used as
sufficient evidence of community for the UHN petitioner as a
whole or for the component communities. Each individual
community would have to be analyzed, including relatives
living away from the traditional community, to determine if
endogamy coculd be used to provide sufficient evidence of
community after 1940. Evidence that could be analyzed in
such a manner was not provided by the petitioner.

Other evidence, such as continuing interaction, may be used
to demonstrate that the separate communities continued to
exist from 1940 to the present. After 1940, there is
evidence that some people in the separate UHN settlements in
the lowelr bayous met on a daily basis, often worked together
in task groups for fishing and trapping, socialized,
maintained order and supported distinct institutions such as
churches, schools or dance halls. This provides evidence
suggesting that the separate settlements on the lower bayous
have maintained community between 1940 to the present, but
this needs to be better documented for each decade. There
has been no analysis of the closeness of kin ties which
exist belween residents of the bayou communities and
migrants to New Orleans. If the UHN members in lower bayou
communit:ies and the UHN members in New Orleans area are
related as primary kin (children, parents, and
grandparents), this could be used to demonstrate that the
separate settlements have maintained close social
relationships with urban residents associated with their
individual communities from 1940 to the present. Evidence
to perform such an analysis was not submitted by the
petitioner.

There is limited evidence, based on a list of member’s
addresses submitted by the petitioner, that some or all of
the UHN communities on the lower bayous may meet the level
of evidence required for recognition under the regulations
as separate entities, from 1940 to the present. However,
some of the addresses that were spot checked for
confirmation were proven to be inaccurate. Additionally,
the address information for many of the group’s members was
not compl.ete. The petitioner did not submit sufficient
evidence to prove conclusively that their community has
continuecd to exist from 1940 to the present. Because of the
failure to meet criterion 83.7(b) prior to 1830, it is not
necessary to evaluate this issue further at this time.

The cohesiiveness. found in some of the separate communities
does not prove that the entire petitioning population meets
83.7(b) &s a single community. Overall, little interaction

15
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between :he various communities in the lower bayous has been
demonstrated. In fact, antagonistic relations, justified by
perceived racial differences, typified the few social o
interactions between the petitioner’s component communities
that were documented. There is evidence that people who
emigrated from Isle Jean-Charles to New Orleans have
maintained long-standing relationships with their relatives
in Isle Jean-Charles from 1940 to the present. But there is
no evidence that they maintained any sort of social
relationship with other members of the petitioning group
living in nearby UHN settlements, such as Dulac or Bayou
DuLarge. There is also no evidence, for example, that
emigrants from Isle Jean-Charles to New Orleans maintain any
social relations with other UHN members in New Orleans who
emigrated from other settlements in the lower bayous. More
evidence is needed to show that the UHN has constituted a
single community from 1880 to the present before the
petitioner could be acknowledged as a single entity.

In summary, the UHN petitioner has not maintained a distinct
community from historical times until the present. The UHN
does not meet the requirements of the regulations for
criterion 83.7(b) before 1830, because there is no evidence
that their progenitors existed as a separate, distinct
community, Indian or non-Indian. Because they have not
evolved as a continuously existing social community from a
historic Indian tribe, the do not meet the requirement for
continuous existence as a community since first contact with
Europeans.

From 1830 to 1880, however, the existence of a distinct,
exclusive, geographical settlement provides sufficient

evidence that a UHN predecessor community existed. Between
1840 and 1880, many UHN ancestors emigrated from the
original community to satellite settlements on nearby
bayous. There is no evidence which allows a precise
determination as to when these satellite settlements became
politically and socially independent from the single
founding community. There is also no information on the
process vhich led to their social and political independence
from the founding community.

Nevertheless, the evidence clearly indicates that by 1880,
these satellite settlements had evolved into at least six
independent communities. From 1880 to 1940, the evidence
indicates: that only UHN members inhabited these settlements.
This provides prima facie evidence that the petitioner
continuec. to meet criterion 83.7(b) (2) (i) for that period as
separate communities, but not as a whole. For the purposes
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of these regulations, therefore, it is determined that from
1880 to 1940, at least six component settlements (Isle Jean-
Charles, Pointe Barre, Montegut, Golden Meadow, Dulac, and
Bayou du Large) individually met the requirement of
criterion 83.7(b) (2)(1i).

For the Jeriod from 1940 to the present, no evidence was
presented by the petitioner or found during the evaluation
process which indicates the separate communities that
constitute the UHN meet criterion 83.7(b) as a single
entity. The petitioner has not submitted sufficient
evidence that UHN members who have emigrated from the lower
bayou region, to the New Orleans area and beyond, continue
to maintain social relations with the bayou settlements with
which they are historically identified. There is also no
evidence that the petitioner’s members who emigrated to New
Orleans from the various bayous are maintaining social
relations in New Orleans. There is only limited evidence
that the component UHN communities on the lower bayous
continued to maintain their social relations within their
communities either. For these reasons, the petitioner does
not meet this criterion from 1940 to the present.

If the UHIN petitioner were to find conclusive evidence that
established their descent from an American Indian tribe from
historical contact to 1830, the issue of acknowledging the
petitioner as a whole or as separate entities would have to
be inves:tigated. Further evidence would also have to be
submitted to determine if each of the component settlements
of the UHN petitioner is actually distinct from all other
settlements, or if two or more of these settlements may

actually be connected socially to each other. For example,
it is not: clear at this point in time whether the two
settlements on lower Bayou Terrebonne may constitute a
single community that could be acknowledged as a single
entity o1 as two distinct communities. This issue would be
investigated further if the petitioner should find
conclusive evidence that they descend from a historical
Indian tribe.

We conclude, therefore, that the petitioner has not met

criterion 83.7(b).

83.7(c) The petitioner has maintained political
influence or authority over its members as an
autonomous entity from historical times until
the present.
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There is no evidence of an ancestral UHN community, Indian
or non-Indian, prior to 1830. There is no evidence that the
petitioner is genealogically, socially, or politically
connected to the historical Houma Indian tribe, or any other
tribe of Indians. It is, therefore, impossible for the
petitioner to demonstrate that it has exercised political
influence over its members from from historical times to the
present. Without a community, there is no entity in which
political influence may be exercised. For this reason, the
petitioner cannot meet criterion 83.7(c).

As under the discussion of criterion 83.7(b) above, there is
an important distinction to be made concerning the existence
of a single UHN ancestral community, from 1830 to 1880, and
the several independent, satellite UHN communities, from
1880 to 1940. Evidence indicates that the earliest
documented UHN progenitors were creating a settlement on
Bayou Terrebonne between 1810 and 1830. They moved there
with other settlers from a variety of non-Indian origins.
During the period from 1810 to 1830, they constituted a
minority of the total number of settlers. From 1810 to
1830, th2 UHN ancestors interacted socially with each other
and with neighbors who would not become UHN ancestors with
the same frequency and intensity. Thus, even though the UHN
ancestors were evolving into a distinct community from 1810
to 1830, there is no evidence that political authority was
exercised during this formative period.

By 1830, however, a distinctive community comprised of UHN
ancestor:s had been established on Bayou Terrebonne. Between
1830 and 1880, the petitioner meets the regulations for
community because they have presented a high level of
evidence for social community: at least half of the UHN
ancestors lived in close proximity to one another along
Bayou Te:rrebonne, in exclusive settlements. The revised
regulations for Federal acknowledgment provide that when the
petitioner meets criterion 83.7(b) for a specific period of
time by presenting sufficient evidence, they also meet the
requirements for political authority for the same period
(see 83.7(c)(3)). Thus, on this basis, the petitioner meets
criterion 83.7(c) between 1830 and 1880 as a single entity.

The petif:ion states that Rosalie Courteau was a leader for
the UHN ancestors from 1840 to 1880. The evidence presented
by the petitioner in the form of oral histories indicates
that Rosalie Courteau is remembered by her descendants as a
prominent: ancestor. It has been found that she is a
documented Indian ancestor of the UHN, and was widely
respected in the ancestral community along Bayou Terrebonne.
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But the oetitioner has not presented any evidence that she
exercised political influence over the UHN ancestors, as a

whole. There is no evidence that she was involved in issues
that wers of importance to the petitioner’s ancestors, as a
whole. The consistent assertions by the petitioner that she

was influential in the founding community on Bayou
Terrebonne have not been supported by specific evidence,
though the possibility remains that she may have been a
leader within that particular sphere. There is no evidence
that her influence extended to the satellite settlements
that wers formed during the period the petitioner claims she
was a leader (1840 to 1880). There is not any evidence that
she had influence over her own daughters once they married
and emigrated from the original founding community on Bayou
Terrebonne to Isle Jean-Charles and Bayou Grand Caillou.

The available evidence (presented by the petitioner and
found during the evaluation of the petitioner) does not
substantiate the petitioner’s contention that she was a
political leader for the entire community.

The petitioner’s founding community established satellite
settlements throughout the lower bayous between 1840 and
1880. There is no evidence of a bilateral political
relationship between the original, founding UHN community on
Bayou Terrebonne and the satellite communities. There are
no descriptions of political influence being exercised by
the UHN ancestors at Bayou Terrebonne over UHN ancestors in
the satellite communities or vice versa. There is no
indication that there were any political issues of concern
to the UHN ancestors, as a whole, between 1840 and 1880. No
evidence was presented establishing the shift in political
authority from the founding community on Bayou Terrebonne to
the separate settlements on other nearby bayous, though
later evidence seems to suggest that such a process must
have occurred, since Swanton described each of six satellite
communities as having their own leaders in 1907 (see below).

The fact that there is no evidence that Rosalie Courteau or
anyone else exercised political authority within the
community from 1830 to 1880 is not considered critical for
this petitioner, since the petitioner meets the requirements
for political leadership based on the high level of evidence
presented to establish the existence of social community
from 1830 to 1880 (see discussion under criterion 83.7(b),
above) .

It has bz2en determined that the individual settlements meet
criterion 83.7(b) between 1880 and 1940 based on a high
level of evidence. This conclusion was based on the fact
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that, during this period, 50 percent or more of the UHN
ancestors exclusively inhabited villages in the lower
bayous. Under the revised regulations for Federal
acknowledgment, this means that at least six of the UHN
individual settlements, though not the petitioner as a
whole, reet the regulations for community (83.7(b)) at a
high level from 1880 to 1940. Based on the evidence

- submitted, it is not possible to determine at this time if
some of the settlements have actually functioned as a single
community, or if they are all in fact socially and
politically distinct. This would be investigated further if
the petitioner should find conclusive evidence that they
descend from a historical Indian tribe.

For the period from 1880 to 1930, the UHN, based on
information submitted in its petition, does not meet the
evidence for criterion 83.7(c)(l1). There are no
descriptions of political influence being exercised over the
petitioner’s ancestral communities as a whole. During the
same period, there are no detailed descriptions of political
authority within the separate communities, though Swanton
made a general reference to the fact that each of the six
satellite communities he identified had its own leaders in
1907. There is no evidence concerning how or why the
leaders referred to by Swanton became leaders. There is
also neither evidence that indicates what political issues
were important for the UHN ancestors nor that there were
differences of opinion on such issues. There is no specific
evidence that can be used to understand the political
process that may have been operating.

From 1930 to 1940, there is some evidence for the exercise
of leadership within the satellite settlements on a limited
number of issues, such as refusing to attend segregated
schools established for black children, as required by
Louisiana laws, and lobbying the Federal and state
governments to establish separate Indian schools for UHN
children. This is some evidence for the existence of ad hoc
leaders between 1930 and 1940. Studies performed by the
Federal 0Office of Indian Affairs in the 1930’s indicated
that at that time, such leadership as existed was exerted by
heads of extended families, but no examples were provided.

From 1940 to the present, the petitioner did not meet the
criterion for social community with a high level of
evidence. Therefore, the petitioner is required to meet the
regular standards of evidence for political authority from
1940 to the present. For this period, there is limited
evidence for the existence of an informal, kinship-based
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system of leadership within the separate communities.
Informal, kin-based leadership, when in evidence, can be
used to demonstrate the existence of political leadership.
But the UHN has not presented insufficient evidence to prove
conclusively that such leadership existed for the petitioner
as a whole, or within the individual communities, from 1940
to the present. There is also limited, anecdotal evidence
that, within some of the satellite communities, there have
been ad ho¢ UHN leaders.

During the 1940’s there was a reference to elders within the
lower bayou communities who played a special role in
maintaining order and organizing work crews. The Cajun
French words "Tante" (Aunt) and "Nonc" (Uncle) are used to
refer to these older men and women who exert authority in
the communities. The oral histories submitted with the
petition contain many examples of elders organizing task
forces during the 1920’s to 1930’s. A recent example, from
1992, indicated that this political authority is still being
exercised. The story involved a young UHN member who stole
a boat. The man whose boat had been stolen did not reprove
the youny man directly. Rather, he approached the teenage
thief’s "Noncs," accompanied by his own male relatives, or
"Noncs." They requested that the teenager’s "Noncs" devise
a plan to punish him. In response, the teenager’s "Noncs"
made him work to pay for the damage.

During the 1970’s civil rights movement, there is evidence
that leadership was exercised primarily within the satellite
communities. The only example submitted by the petitioner
indicates that Tom Dion was a leader during the fight to

integratz the schools in Dulac and along Bayou Grand
Caillou. No evidence indicated that his authority extended

to other bayous. There is no evidence which indicates how
or why Dion became involved in this issue; that is, whether
he was s2lf-appointed or representing UHN members
officially. There is also no evidence that he provided
leadership on any other issues of importance to the UHN.

The formal UHN organization was founded in 1972. From 1972
to the present, there is little or no evidence that there is
a significant, broad-based bilateral relationship between
the leaders of the formal organization and the UHN’s
members. A handful of people, many of them close relatives,
claim to lead the organization. Meetings have not been well
attended and only few people have voted in elections.
Decision-making was performed by only a few people and did
not appear to incorporate the opinions of the organization’s
membersh:p widely. No evidence was presented or found that
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the urban portion of the membership that lives around New
Orleans (approximately two-thirds of the total UHN members)
is involved in the political process. For example, there is
no evidence that they are kept informed of the leaders’
activitis=s, or that they communicate their opinions to the
leaders.

The UHN has encountered difficulties maintaining a cohesive
front. Major rifts have developed on two occasions since
the UHN was founded. Only in the last two years has public
opinion been openly expressed in well attended public
meetings. This interest appears to have been generated by
the activity of the Documented Houma (a new organization
which is considering withdrawing from the UHN in order to
set up i:ts own council) and others who are questioning the
actions of the current council. Based on the limited
information submitted by the petitioner, it is not possible
to determine if the major divisions which have surfaced in
the UHN organization are due to factionalism; that is, if
they are based on strong and long-lasting political
opinions. If they are, this might be used as evidence of
political process.

In summary, there is no evidence that a UHN ancestral
community, Indian or non-Indian, existed prior to 1830.
This means that there was no entity over which political
influence or authority could have been exercised, as
required by the regulations at 83.7(c). Because the
evidence presented for social community from 1830 to 1880
was at a high level, (see discussion above under criterion
83.7(b)), the petitioner, as a single entity, meets
criterion 83.7(c) for the same period. From 1880 to 1940,
the separate communities meet criterion 83.7(c) as _separate
communities, because of the high level of evidence presented
on community within the separate communities. But the
petitioner, as a whole, does not. Since 1940, there is some
evidence for kin-based leadership structures and processes
within the separate lower bayou communities. But the
evidence presented is not sufficient to meet the regqulations
for criterion 83.7(c) because it is sparse (no mention of
examples of leadership for certain communities and/or
several major time periods). The examples that are
mentionec. are vague and/or anecdotal. There is no evidence
“for a bilateral political relationship between the UHN
council and the petitioner’s members from the time of their
formal organization in 1972 to the present. There is also
no eviderce for the existence of a political relationship
between the UHN members in New Orleans and the council.
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Because the petitioner has not demonstrated a genealogical,
social, or political connection to a historical tribe, there
was no need for further study of the issue of a single
versus multiple communities in the preparation of this
Proposed Finding. If the petitioner can prove that it
connects to a historical tribe, then the issue of whether or
not there is one community or several could be reopened. An
investigeation of this issue would require the presentation
of more evidence concerning the political and social
connection between the separate communities or, on the other
hand, the independence of the communities from each other
between 1940 and the present.

We conclude, therefore, that the petitioner does not meet
criterior 83.7(c).

83.7(4) A copy of the group’s present governing
document, including its membership criteria.
In the absence of a written document, the
petitioner must provide a statement -
describing in full its membership criteria
and current governing procedures.

The membership was updated several times after the start of
the active consideration phase of the petitioning process,

on May 20, 1991. The UHN membership list was last updated

with the Secretary in 1992. The membership list submitted

that year includes 17,616 individuals.

Three UHN constitutions were submitted by the petitioner.
The first and earliest one, dated July 18, 1979, was
submitted with the original petition. The second version,
which was undated, was very similar to the first. It
increased the number of council members from 9 to 14, and
changed the election date. The third and current version of
the constitution is dated August 20, 1983, and it contained
substantial changes in the membership criteria.

The 1983 constitution requires an individual to be able to
trace descent from a list of "known Houma Indian ancestors"
who have been identified as such by the group’s tribal
council. Also, they must reside in Louisiana or be known to
the council and have identified with the group in the past.
The list >f "known Houma Indian ancestors" was developed in
1991 by tae council from individuals enumerated as "Indian"
in the 1850-1880 and 1900 Federal population census
schedules of Terrebonne and Lafourche Parishes. This list
of "known Houma Indian ancestors," because it is based on
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the census schedules, is not completely accurate. It
excludes some individuals who actually have Indian ancestry
but were classified as non-Indian by the census takers. It
also inc.udes some who were classified as Indian, but have
no verif:able Indian ancestry. Indian identity of the UHN
ancestors is based solely upon external identification by
Federal census takers not upon genealogical evidence. It is
also important to note that the list of ancestors developed
in 1991 could not have been used to evaluate membership
applications for individuals appearing on the membership
lists compiled before that date.

The earliest governing documents from the 1970’s specified a
blood quantum for members; the Houma Alliance constitution
of 1974 specified one-fourth "Houma Indian blood," the 1979
constitution of the UHN specified one-eighth. The basis for
calculating this blood quantum was not discussed in the
petition. In fact, there is no evidence it was really used,
and it is no longer a requirement under the current
constitution. Both the 1974 Houma Alliance and 1979 UHN
governinc documents required Louisiana residency for
membership, but this requirement has also been modified, as
noted abcove.

Two versions (1979 and 1983) of UHN by-laws were submitted
by the petitioner. They were very different from each other
in terms of the membership criteria, mirroring differences
in the 1579 and 1983 constitutions. There is an additional
ratified document, dated August 20, 1983, which reasserts a
minimum c¢f one-eighth Houma Indian blood quantum. This
ratified document contradicts the UHN constitution. There
is no evidence that the UHN uses the blood quantum in
determining membership eligibility, or how they purport to
do so.

The current constitution says that the UHN council will
decide the issue of membership eligibility. This procedure
seems to have been followed in the late 1970’s and early
1980’s. Registration cards were checked by council members;
if they knew the applicant, they were approved and sent back
to the staff. The staff stamped the membership card,
acknowledging acceptance as a member of the UHN, and sent it
to the new member. There is no evidence that the tribal
council is currently involved in the enrollment process and
it is unclear what the current process is for determining
eligibility.

The petitioner has provided a copy of its present governing
document (the August 20, 1983 constitution) and the criteria
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it uses for determining membership. We conclude that the
petitioner meets criterion 83.7(d).

83.7(e) The petitioner’s membership consists of
individuals who descend from a historical
Indian tribe or from historical Indian tribes
which combined and functioned as a single
autonomous political entity.

The situation of the UHN under criterion 83.7(e) is unique
as compared to that of previous acknowledgment cases decided
by the Assistant Secretary. Although it is clear that a
significant portion of the members of the UHN have some
Indian ancestry (about 84% of them), this ancestry could not
be reliably identified as descending from a specific
historical tribe, nor from historical tribes which combined
and have ccntinued to function as a tribal entity.

Indian ancestry can be verified for the petitioner without
doubt or question. However, the documentary record
indicates that there were only three Indian progenitors for
the UHN. These three unrelated Indians settled along the
southern portion of Bayou Terrebonne, Lafourche Parish (now
Terrebonne Parish), Louisiana, prior to 1810 (the Houma
Courteau family (including the descendants of Rosalie
Courteau who married Jacques Billiot and those of Marguerite
Courteau who married Jean Billiot), the Verdin children of
Marie Gregoire, and the descendants of "Jeanet an Indian
woman" who married Joseph Billiot). Aside from these three
family lines, all members of the founding generation,

including the parents of the Billiot family, appear as non-
Indian in contemporary early nineteenth-century documents,

even when the petitioner’s oral tradition ascribed Indian
ancestry to thenm.

No addit:.onal Indian ancestors can be documented as having
joined the community in the two succeeding generations.

Most spouses from non-founding families who married into the
group during the first half of the nineteenth century can be
documented from Louisiana civil and church records as non-
Indian, even though the petitioner’s oral tradition ascribed
Indian ancestry to them.

In addition to the documented Indians named above, UHN oral
tradition of the petitioner ascribes Indian ancestry to five
other persons whose descendants married into the group
during the first half of the nineteenth century. The
available documentation neither demonstrated nor disproved
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such Indian ancestry for these five persons (Francois Fitch
and his wife Marguerite Houma/Bellome, Auguste Jaco and his
sister Constance Jaco, and Constance Jaco’s husband
Joseph/Jean Baptiste Gregoire). The oral tradition did not
include a clear ascription of tribal origin for any of these
five individuals. No tribal identification was given for
Jaco or Gregoire. Francois Fitch was said to be "from
Oklahoma" and Marguerite Houma/Bellome was said to be
Choctaw/Comanche.

Since th= coalescence of the UHN predecessor community along
Bayou Terrebonne in the early nineteenth century, the
original three Indian family lines have maintained
themselvas persistently: analysis indicates that about 84%
of the p2titioner’s members have verifiable Indian ancestry
tracing to the founding generation. Because of the
extensiva courthouse and Catholic church records in southern
Louisiana, verification of lines of descent for individuals
who lived in Terrebonne and Lafourche Parishes in the
nineteenth and twentieth century did not present a problem
in the case of this petitioner.

The Indian ancestry present in the founding generation has
been conserved to a considerable extent. Because of
extensive intermarriage among UHN ancestral families during
the nineteenth and early twentieth centuries--intermarriage
which led to a high degree of ancestral implosion--these few
Indian individuals of the founding generation appear several
times over among the 32 great-great grandparents or 64
great-great-great grandparents of many UHN members.

However, with the exception of one individual, none of the
founding Indian ancestors can be traced to any particular
tribal orrigin. Courteau (aka Joseph Abbe/Tacalobe/Tough-la-
Bay) was not from the historical Houma tribe, but Biloxi, as
confirmed both by contemporary nineteenth-century
documentation and the petltloner s own oral tradition as
presented to anthropologists in the early twentieth century.
His wife Marianne was probably of Indian descent. Swanton’s
1907 field notes recorded oral tradition that she was either
Acolapissa or an Attakapa from Texas, but another of the
petitioner’s oral traditions relayed to Swanton--that she
was born in or near Mobile, Alabama--would indicate that she
was a menber of one of the Alabama tribes that moved into )
Louisiana after 1763 rather than a member of the historical
Houma tr:be in Louisiana. Marianne’s proven brother, Louis
Sauvage aka Louis Le Sauvage, a Terrebonne Parish landholder
in the founding generation, is documented as having left no
descendants.
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Aside from that one Biloxi man and his probably Indian wife,
the petitioner’s founding ancestry includes two women, Marie
Gregoire and Jeanet, who are identified only as "Indian" in
the contemporary, early nineteenth century, documentary
records. Circumstantial evidence indicates that Marie
Gregoire may have had ties to the Attakapa, while nothing at
all is krniown of the tribal origin of the other woman.

The linguistic evidence which still existed at the time of
early anthropological study of the group is not sufficiently
definitive to permit ascription of tribal origins on that
ground. The words collected by Swanton, which he labelled
"pure Choctaw," are in fact Mobilian trade jargon, a
language that would have been spoken by Indians of most
tribes along the gulf coast of the United States, from
Florida to Louisiana.

In spite of the "Houma" name ascribed to the community by
anthropologists since the first study by ethnologist John
Reed Swarton in 1907, there is no evidence that any of the
Indian irdividuals in the UHN ancestral community originated
in the historical Houma Indian tribe of Louisiana. There
are no documents indicating why Swanton referred to them as
"Houma." His own field notes indicate that he believed the
UHN ancestors descended from a variety of tribes. The oral
history of the group did not claim Houma origin, but
referred to Biloxi and Attakapas. Neither did the ancestral
community represent descent from "historical Indian tribes
which combined and functioned as a single autonomous
political entity." Rather, the ancestral community
represented Indian individuals separated from their tribes
of origir. who intermarried with non-Indians in the founding
generaticn. The descendants of these founders represented a
group of people who have interacted with and intermarried
with neichbors of non-Indian origin, but who have also
maintained a certain level of distinction from neighbors
without Indian ancestry, from about 1830 until the present
day.

Thus the UHN presents a unique situation. They are a
distinct settlement with verifiable Indian ancestry, which
has existed continuously since 1830. Some elders still
remembered a few Indian words into the early twentieth
century. But there is no documentation that allows an
identification of the UHN members with the Houma or any
other historical tribe. We conclude the petitioner does not
meet criterion 83.7(e).
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83.7(f) The membership of the petitioning group is
composed principally of persons who are not
members of any acknowledged North American
Indian tribe. However, under certain
conditions a petitioning group may be
acknowledged even if its membership is
composed principally of persons whose names
have appeared on rolls of, or who have been
otherwise associated with, an acknowledged
Indian tribe. The conditions are that the
group must establish that it has functioned
throughout history until the present as a
separate and autonomous Indian tribal entity,
that its members do not maintain a bilateral
political relationship with the acknowledged
tribe, and that its members have provided
written confirmation of their membership in
the petitioning group.

The petitioner’s membership does not include individuals who
are members of any Federally recognized tribe.

We conclude, therefore, that the petitioner meets criterion
83.7(f).

83.7(q9) Neither the petitioner nor its members are
the subject of congressional legislation that
has expressly terminated or forbidden the
Federal relationship.

There is no evidence that the United Houma Nation, Inc., or
its members, have ever been the subject of any Congressional

legislation which has expressly forbidden or terminated the
Federal relationship.

We conclade, therefore, that the petitioner meets criterion
83.7(9g) .
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Fig. 3. The Lower Mississippi River and Bayou Lafourche areas. Louisiana.

extended from the pine forests in central Louisiana south-
ward to the coastal marshes (fig. 4).%" Interrupted oc-
casionally only by forest-lin:d bayous, the praines
formed extensive pasture well suited for livestock, and
by the mid-eighteenth century herds of cattle and horses
denived from Spanish livestock in neighboring Texas
were found in various parts of the area.®* A retired army
officer of New Orleans, one Captain Antoine-Bernard
Dautrive, had obtained a large grant of land in the At-

takapas, and in the 1760s claimed the possession of sev-
eral thousand head of semi-wild cattle and horses. ™ In
1765 Dautrive offered to aid some of the newly amved
Acadian refugees in developing a livestock industry in
the Attakapas, mainly for the purpose of insuring a re-
liable supply of animals for the New Orleans market
Members of the group of refugees led by Joseph Brous-
sard dir Beausoleil of Halifax were chosen for this en-
terprise. A contract was drawn whereby Dautrive would
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GENEALOGICAL REPORT ON
THE UNITED HOUMA NATION, INC.

SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE

The petitioning organization is the present-day successor to
an organization which formed in the early 1960’s under the
name Houma Indians of Louisiana, Inc. This name was later
changed to The Houma Tribes, Inc. 1In 1974, residents of the
Dulac area who felt unrepresented split off to form The
Houma Alliance, [Inc.]. The Houma Tribes, Inc. and The
Houma Alliance, [Inc.] subsequently merged in 1979 to form
what. is now known as the United Houma Nation, Inc. (UHN).

Membership criteria in effect today were put in place in
1983. They require an individual to be able to trace
descent from a list of "known Houma Indian ancestors" who
have been identified as such by the group’s tribal council.
Add:tionally, they must reside in Louisiana or be known to
the council and have identified with the group in the past.
The list of "known Houma Indian ancestors" (aka the "Tribal
Linecage Base Lists") was developed in 1991 by the council
fron individuals enumerated as "Indian" in the 1860-1880 and
1900 Federal population census schedules of Terrebonne and
Lafourche parishes. As constructed, the Tribal Lineage Base
Lisi:s include only persons who were identified as "Indian"
and do not include others who are clearly ancestors of the
curlrent petitioner’s members.

Governing documents (of the Houma Alliance in 1974 and the
United Houma Nation in 1979) indicate that for a time
eligibility was supposedly based on a blood quantum
requirement of one-fourth and later one-eighth "Houma Indian
blond." No evidence was provided to show how this blood
quantum requirement could have been determined, if in fact
it was actually used. There is currently no blood quantum
requirement. <

The UHN presented a membership list containing 17,616
memders. According to the membership list, last updated by
the petitioner in January, 1992, 93% of the group’s total
current membership resides in Louisiana: 74% in Terrebonne,
Lafourche, or adjoining parishes of Jefferson and St. Mary.
Another 19% live elsewhere in the state of Louisiana. Less
than 7% reside outside Louisiana.

Analysis of available data concerning the ancestry of
members’ parents shows that slightly more than half of the

1
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"parent" couples married other "Houmas."' The tendency to
marry non-UHN members has increased since the 1950’s. For
the petitioner as a whole, the tendency today is toward
exogamy, although endogamy may still be practiced at a
significant level within some of the lower bayou
communities. The data was not available to conduct an
analysis of this situation.

Using documentary material found in official records
(Fedz2ral, state, and local), Federal population census of
the area, and other published and manuscript materials, it
is possible to document "Indian" ancestry for only three of
the =arliest ancestors/progenitors of the current
organization. These three "Indian progenitors® appear to
reprassent three separate family lines. One is that of Houma
Courteau/Abbe/Iacalobe, a Biloxi Indian (possibly also
Chitimacha or Choctaw), and his children, including his
daughter, Rosalie, who is central to "Houma" genealogy and
history. There are also two apparently unrelated "Indian"
women whose specific tribal heritage could not be
documerited. Nothing is known about the ancestors of these
progenitors. Although other ancestors are reported to have
been of "Indian" heritage, none of their heritage could be
documented satisfactorily. A large number of the UHN’s
progenitors were Frenchmen who came to this country in the
1700’s and were reputed to have married Indian women. Based
on available documentation, all of the UHN’s "Indian
progenitors" were married to non-Indians, with the possible
exception of Houma Courteau/Abbe/Iacalobe.

To deal with the analysis of the group’s large, 17,616~
memker enrollment, statistical sampling techniques were
utilized. Based on sampling data done by BAR, using the
gencalogical charts supplied by the petitioner, at least 84%
of the total membership are projected to be able to trace to
"Incian" heritage founded on one or more of the group’s
three progenitors who can be documented to be "Indian." 1In
the systematic random sample of 176 UHN members, BAR was
able to identify unreported ancestry for six members which
could be traced to one or more of the three Indian
pro¢enitors. Charts provided by the petitioner had not made
the connection to these progenitors.

'The use of the word "Houmas" in this report does not imply a
connection to the historical Houma Indian Tribe, since the BAR has not
been able to establish such a link. Rather, it is used as a term of
reference for the contemporary petitioner.

2
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It is clear that a significant portion of the members of the
UHN have some "Indian" ancestry. But there is no evidence
1inking these ancestors to a particular historical tribe, or
to Fristorical tribes which combined and have continued to
function as a tribal entity.

The petitioner’s membership does not include individuals who
are members of any Federally recognized tribe. None of the
presient-day members of the UHN petitioner were found to be
enrolled in the recognized Mississippi Choctaw or Louisiana
chitimacha Tribes. Further, no evidence was provided or
found to suggest any of the present-day members are enrolled
elsewhere.

I. PRESENTATION AND UTILIZATION OF GENEALOGICAL DATA

The UHN is the largest membership yet reviewed under the
Acknowledgment regulations (25 CFR 83). Therefore it seems
appropriate to provide a brief discussion regarding how
genealogical information was presented in the petition and
how this information was utilized by BAR genealogists.

Genealogical data submitted with the petition included a
series of 56 handdrawn charts tracing several generations of
descendants from the group’s earliest ancestors or
"progenitors." These charts, reproduced on blue paper,
became known as the petitioner’s "blue charts" (they shall
con:inue to be referred to as such herein also). Citations
to specific blue charts appear as UHN BC and a number (e.g.,
"UHN BC1") in this report.

One or more of these blue charts were then used as cover
sheets for a series of Ancestry Charts (optional form BIA-
8305) and supporting Individual History Charts (optional
form BIA-8304). The ancestry and individual history charts
were used to show all known descendants of the group’s
earliest ancestors and covered seven, eight, and sometimes
nine generations before reaching living, enrolled UHN
members. The total volume of the genealogical charts (blue
charts, ancestry charts, and individual history charts) when
placed one on top of the other would make a stack .
approximately 18 feet tall. Although working with this many
charts was cumbersome, it was, nonetheless, the most
effective way for the petitioner to develop the genealogical
record needed to describe the ancestry of the group’s
current membership stretching back to the 1700’s. No
consistent genealogical record is known to have existed
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prior to the group’s preparation of the petition materials
during the 1980’s and early 1990’s.

The greatest mechanical problem encountered in dealing with
this many charts comes in trying to find the charts which
relate to a specific living member. The early ancestors of
the group as well as their descendants had large families (8
to 12 children), who in turn had large families. Families
intermarried extensively, especially in the first few (i.e.,
earlier) generations. Persons with the same surname but
different lineal ancestors, frequently married one another.
Thus, people who share the same surname do not necessarily
share the same ancestry.

Two database programs were utilized to analyze and evaluate
the petitioner’s membership and their claimed ancestry. A
computerized database for the petitioner’s current
membership list, containing 17,616 members, was established
on c¢iBaseIII+ (UHN 1988b and UHN 1992). A powerful
gencalogical software program called "Roots III" was also
utilized by BAR genealogists to create a separate
genealogical database containing information on selected UHN
families that could reasonably represent the ancestry of the
group as a whole. For additional discussion on the Roots
III database, refer to Section IX of this report, "Roots III
Datzbase and Sampling Techniques."

II. GOVERNING DOCUMENTS

A. Houma Indians of Louiﬁiana, Inc., aka The Houma Tribes,
Inc.

Foulr members of the UHN antecedent community attended the
American Indian Conference which was held in Chicago in the
ear.y 1960’s, and on their return began a formal
organization (Field Data, Colliflower and McMillion, (HG)
1992a). First, they held meetings in each area. Then they
begian constructing a list of members (Field Data,
Col.iflower and McMillion, (HG) 1992a). The original
organization was known as the Houma Indians of Louisiana,
Inc. Articles of Incorporation were adopted on October 14,
1972 (UHN 1979). Membership in the organization was defined
as "all members of the Houma Indian Tribes residing in
Louisiana."

A split in the organization known as the Houma Indians of
Louisiana, Inc. occurred in 1974 because the residents of

4
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the Dulac area reportedly felt unrepresented. The second
group (the Dulac faction) formally organized on May 13,
1974, as the Houma Alliance (see further discussion below).

FOl]OWLng the split, the shareholders of the Houma Indians
of Louisiana, Inc. held a special meeting on August 5, 1974,
at which time they voted to change the group’s name to The
Houma Tribes, Inc. (UHN 1979). This name (The Houma Tribes,
Inc.) was subsequently recorded with the State of Louisiana
as an amendment to the 1972 Artlcles of Incorporation.

No ¢overning documents other than the 1972 Articles of
Incorporation were provided for The Houma Tribes, Inc./Houma
Indians of Louisiana, Inc. The petitioner states that if
there were any, they were probably destroyed in one of the
many hurricanes (UHN 198S, NARF 1ltr).

B. Houma Alliance, Inc.

When the Houma Alliance broke away from the Houma Indians of
Louisiana, Inc., they adopted Articles of Incorporation
which separated membership into two classes: honorary
members, who were defined as persons contributing services
and property, who were elected by a majority vote of the
Boai-d of Directors, and "all persons of one-quarter (1/4) or
more Houma Indian blood, residing in the State of Louisiana"
(UHN 1974b). No information was provided to indicate that
the group actually accepted any honorary members.

Additionally, the Articles of Incorporation for the Houma
Alliance also included the following language:

In the event the Secretary of the Interior
approves a constitution and set of By-Laws for the
Houma Indian Tribe of Louisiana, then the members
of that tribe as defined in such constitution and
By-Laws shall thereafter constitute the membership
of the corporation (UHN 1974b).

It is not clear from the document if the "Houma Indian Tribe
of Louisiana" is the same as Houma Tribes, Inc., Houma
Indians of Louisiana, Inc., or some other entity.

C. United Houma Nation, Inc.

The current organization is a merger of the two earlier
groups, the Houma Tribes of Louisiana, Inc. formerly, Houma
Indians of Louisiana, Inc. and the Houma Alliance, Inc. On

5
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February 10, 1979, the two groups met and resolved to
consnslidate. An Agreement of Consolidation was signed by
reprasentatives of both groups on May 12, 1979 (UHN 1979),
consolidating as the United Houma Nation, Inc. (UHN). The
consolidation agreement was filed and recorded with the
State of Louisiana on July 18, 1979 (UHN 1979). The State’s
certification identifies The Houma Tribes, Inc. as
"domiciled at Golden Meadow" with The Houma Alliance as
"domiciled at Houma" and goes on to state "that the separate
corporate existence of the consolidating corporations has
ceased" (UHN 1979).

D. UHN Constitutions and Membership Requirements

Three constitutions were submitted for the UHN organization.
The first and earliest one, dated July 18, 1979, was
attached to the Agreement of Consolidation and submitted
with the original petition. A second, similar but undated,
version of the 1979 constitution was also provided with the
original petition. The only differences noted between these
two versions were an increase in the number of council
memkers from 9 (1979 document) to 14 (undated document), and
a crange in the date for the election from May 2, 1979 (1979
doctment) to June 27, 1981 (undated document).

The third and current version of the constitution is dated
August 20, 1983, and was received by the BAR on May 22, 1991
(UHM 1991b). The third version (hereinafter, 1983
consititution) contains substantial changes in the membership
criteria compared to earlier versions. For a comparison of
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the 1979 and 1983 constitutional membership criteria, refer

to Table 1.

TABLE 1
COMPARISON OF CONSTITUTIONAL MEMBERSHIP REQUIREMENTS

1979 CONSTITUTION

1983 CONSTITUTION

Article III - Membership

Section 1 - The membership of
THE UNITED HOUMA NATION, INC.
shall consist of:

(a) All Houma Indians who are
living in the territorial
linits defined by Article II,
anc¢t who at the time of the
ratification of this document
posisess one-eight (1/8) degree
or more of Houma Indian blood
shall be admitted to
menbership in the United Houma
Nat.ion, Inc. of Louisiana.

(b) All persons officially
re¢istered as Houma Indian at
the time of the ratification
shall be recognized as members
of the United Houma Nations,
Inc. [(gic] (UHN 1985a Const.).

Article III - Membership

Section 1 (A) Criteria

All persons:

(1) who can trace descendency
from a list of known Houma
Indian ancestors as identified
by tribal resolution duly
approved by the United Houma
Nation Tribal Council, and

(2) who reside in the state of
Louisiana, or

(3) who are known to the
members of the United Houma
Nation Tribal Council or its
delagatees [sic]), and who
identify with the Houma Tribe,
shall be eligible for
membership (UHN 1991a).

1. 1979 Constitution

The 1979 constitution limits eligibility to successful
applicants for membership residing in the state of Louisiana
(UHN 1979 version attached to the Agreement of

Consiolidation).

Following a discussion about the residency

requirement at a UHN tribal council meeting held November
30, 1979, the council members decided that no person should
be clenied membership based on residency (UHN 1979 Tribal

Minutes) .
this decision.

There was no resolution or amendment to support
r

Article II defines the territorial limits as "any parish

where any Houma Indian may reside ...."

Based on a

membership list dated April 10, 1985, entitled "Name [gic])
and addresses of People that live in other Parish [gic] &
States" which was included in the petition, this criteria
doesi not appear to have been followed (UHN 1979 Const.).
‘The defined territory also includes "any lands hereafter

7 .
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acquired by or for the Houma Indians as tribal assets (UHN
1979 Const.)." It is unclear why this clause was included
or if it pertains to membership.

a. Article III, Section 1

The second criteria in Article III, Section 1 (a) includes a
one-eighth Houma Indian blood quantum. The basis on which
the blood quantum was determined and if the gquantum was ever
calculated for any of the members is unknown. Section 1 (b)
of the membership criteria accepts any person who had
already been officially registered as a Houma Indian,
presumably those registered in either of the predecessor
organizations, at the time of ratification of the
constitution.

b. 2rticle III, Section 2 ‘

Section 2 of Article III gives the tribal council the power
to pzss ordinances governing future membership, loss of
membership, and the adoption of new members. No ordinances
of this nature were ever submitted.

c. hrticle III, Section 3

Sect:on 3 of Article III places the burden of proof on the
appl.cant in establishing eligibility for membership. There
are no ordinances or resolutions to describe what documents
are acceptable as evidence in establishing Indian ancestry
or enrollment in the United Houma Nation, Inc.

2. 'Jndated Constitution

Although there were no changes in the membership criteria in
the undated version of the constitution, the number of
members on the council (Article VI) changed from nine (9) to
fourteen (14). The only other substantive change noted was
the 2lection date. Under the first constitution the
election date was May 12, 1979; the undated version required
the first election to be held June 27, 1981. No evidence
was provided to indicate whether the undated version of the
constitution was ever executed or adopted (UHN 1985a,
Undated Const.).

3. 1983 Constitution

This constitution is dated August 20, 1983, and was received
May 22, 1991 by BAR (UHN 1991a). The 1983 constitution is
the current governing document of the UHN. The membership
requirements of the 1983 constitution show a substantive
change from those found in the UHN’s 1979 constitution.
Section 1 (A) (1) dropped the one-eighth degree blood
guantum requirement. The language of the constitution
indicates that descent is to be traced from a "list of known

8
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Houma Indian ancestors." No such list was provided with the
1983 constitution (see further discussion under F,
Additional Governing Documents).

a. Sections 1-3

Section 1 (B) appears to reaffirm Section 1 (A) and adds
that any one seeking membership "must apply to and be
approved by the UHN Tribal Council or its delagatees [sic]
(UHN 1991a Const.)." 8ection 2 empowers the Tribal Council
to establish rules regarding enrollment and loss of
membership (UHN 1991a Const.). Obvious deficiency (OD)
letters requested (dated December 1, 1986 and May 27, 1987)
copies of any rules established under this section; none
were provided. 8Section 3 amends the UHN Constitution and
revokes anything which may be inconsistent with this
particular constitution (UHN 1991a Const.).

The last major change noted in the 1983 constitution is the
addition of Article XV which provides ratification of the
document (UHN 1991a Const.). The ratification reads "The
by-laws shall be declared adopted ... (and) are approved by
the UHNTC ... August 20, 1983 (UHN 1991a Const.)." The
article reads "by-laws" rather than "constitution". For a
comparison between the membership requirements found in the
1983 constitution and those found in 1983 by-laws, refer to
Table 2.

E. By-Laws

Two undated sets of by-laws were submitted with
sigrificantly different membership requirements: one set
closely followed the 1979 constitutional membership
requirements, the other followed the 1983 constitutional
membership requirements. Some confusion exists, however,
beczuse the by-laws which are similar in content to the 1979
constitution include a separate, one-page ratification
statement, dated August 20, 1983. The ratified version
contains a blood quantum requirement of "1/8 degree of more
Houma Indian blood" which is not consistent with the current
UHN constitution. The unratified version includes two
additional requirements (namely, "all persons who reside in
the state of Louisiana" and "all persons who are known to
the members of the United Houma Nation Tribal Council or its
delegates, and who identify with the Houma Tribe"), but does
not contain a blood quantum requirement.

The section 1A of Article III of both versions of the bylaws
includes as eligible for membership, "All persons.officially

9
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registered as Houma Indian at the time of the Ratification
of the Constitution of the United Houma Nation, Inc."
Acccrding to field data, this section was added to
grardfather-in those individuals already registered (Field
Data, Colliflower and McMillion, (HG) 1992a). Based on
available evidence, it appears that the ratification page
was intended to cover the set of bylaws which matches the
current constitution, but was inadvertently attached to the
earlier version when the petition was assembled.

Section 4 of both sets of by-laws deal with the termination
of nembership, but are not specific as to who initiates the
action to remove a member from the membership. Willful
falsification of information on the application for
membership is grounds for termination. Section 5, again for
both sets of by-laws, provides for resignation from the UHN.
The two versions of the by-laws are fairly consistent except
for the membership requirements.

10
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TABLE 2
COMPARISON OF MEMBERSHIP REQUIREMENTS
in 1983 governing documents

CONSTITUTION REQUIREMENTS BY-LAWS REQUIREMENTS
Article III - Membership Article III Membership
: Section 1. Composition of Or-
ganization

A. ... shall consist of:

A-1. All persons officially
registered as Houma Indian at
the time of the Ratification
Section 1 (A) Criteria | of the constitution of the
United Houma Nation, Inc.

(1) who can trace descendency

from a list of known Houma A-2. All persons who can
Indian ancestors as identified | trace descendency from a list
by tribal resolution duly of know Houma Indian ancestors
approved by the United Houma as identified by tribal
Nat:ion Tribal Council, and resolution duly approved by

the United Houma Nation Tribal
(2) who reside in the state of | Council.

Louisiana, or
A-3. All persons who reside

(3) who are known to the in the state of Louisiana.
menbers of the United Houma

Nazion Tribal Council or its A-4. All persons who are
delagatees([sic], and who known to the members of the
identify with the Houma Tribe, | United Houma Nation Tribal
shall be eligible for Council or its delegates, and

menbership (UHN 1991a Const.). | who identify with the Houma
Tribe, shall be eligible for
membership (UHN 1991a By-
Laws) .

F. Additional Governing Documents
Botlhh the 1983 constitution and its matching, undated and

unratified by-laws require the individual to be able to
trace their descent "from a list of known Houma Indian

ancaestors as identified by tribal rescolution duly approved"

11
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(UHN 1991b). No resolution or list of "known Houma Indian
ancestors" (which could be identified by BAR researchers)
was provided with either of the 1983 governing documents.

Later, Resolution 1, enacted May 28, 1991, was adopted
designating the United States censuses for the years 1860,
1870, 1880, and 1900 as the "Tribal Lineage Base Lists."
Resolution 1 and the "Tribal Lineage Base Lists" were
received by BAR July 16, 1991, after the Houma petition went
on active consideration. The base lists will be discussed
later in this report.

Resolution 1 states that:

in lawful consideration of establishing a sound
and fair basis from which to determine, as
acceptable, the genealogical lineage of Houma
Indian descendence, accept without questions, or
reservations, the United States Censuses for the
years 1860, 1870, 1880, and 1900 as the lawfully
established "Tribal Lineage Base Lists" (UHN
1991b).

Since these "base lists" were established after the UHN
membership list was compiled and submitted, they could not
have been utilized in determining eligibility at the time
the list was was being prepared.

III. ENROLLMENT PROCEDURES

A. Background

The formal procedures for enrollment or registration in the
former organizations are unknown and cannot be determined
frcm the membership lists in existence. A house-to-house
survey was taken sometime between 1973 and 1979 by
volunteers in an effort to develop a "census" for the group.
It was reported that registration cards were filled out
during the house-to-house survey for each household by the
hezd of the household. This registration form was developed
in 1973 or 1974 (Field Data, Colliflower and McMillion,
19¢l1a). "Census cards" were developed from the information
on the registration form submitted by the applicant. 1In the
field interview, UHN staff explained how the process began.

In 1979 they registered anyone who came
in and (they) did not trace ancestry,
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but then . . . they had to do ancestry
on each person. They . . . would go
through the ancestry (to verify the
ancestry). They then took existing
membership and traced all people with
cards, then they started giving numbers.
Prior to the numbers they removed those
who couldn’t trace back (Field Data,
Colliflower and McMillion, (DD) 1992a).

Essentially, the documentary evidence for ancestry and
genealogies appear to have been collected and/or constructed
by researchers Greg Bowman and Jonathan Beachy, who were
working for the Mennonite Central Committee. Volunteers
were recruited from the UAN membership to assist in
gathering genealogical data. Eventually the UHN employed
individuals who were members of the UHN to take over the
membership duties (Field Data, Colliflower and McMillion,
(DD) 19%92a).

As mentioned earlier the group is said to have registered
anyone who came in without tracing their ancestry.
Recognizing the need to trace the ancestry of each person,
Bowman would personally go through the cards and verify the
ancestry. Cards of people who could not trace were removed
before [UHN membership]) numbers were assigned. The
registration cards of seven members who had registered, been
accepted for membership, but were later denied membership,
were copied from two large file folders in the tribal office
in Golden Meadow. In each case form letters had been sent
by Dolores Dardar (tribal genealogist) to the members or
families in question stating, "we are unable to trace your
ancestry to Houma decent (sic] with the information you have

furnished us. Your tribal roll # is no longer valid
by the tribe" (Field Data Colliflower and McMillion, (DD)
1992a).

In each of the eight cases, the member’s "official
registration" card had been rubber stamped originally as
accepted as a "Houma Tribal Member." Four of the eight
appear to have been issued a UHN membership number; the
other four were noted "not Houma" in the upper right corner
of the card. The earliest card in the sample was dated
September 30, 1975, the latest May 18, 1983. Based on these
dates and the name of the respective chairperson stamped on
the cards, this practice appears to have been in use for at
least eight years and under the leadership of Helen Gindrat,
Kirky Verret, Steve Cheramie, and John A. Billiot. (Field
Data, Colliflower and McMillion, 1992a)
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Helea Gindrat states that every card was reviewed and
chected (Field Data, Colliflower and McMillion, (HG) 1992a).
A list was then prepared and brought to the Tribal Council
by Dolores Dardar for approval. Council representatives
usually knew persons from their community (Field Data,
Colliflower and McMillion, (HG) 1992a). The cards
themselves provide no evidence to confirm or deny this
process.

B. UHN "“Base Lists"

There has been some confusion concerning the terms "base
list" and "base roll." The current membership list of a
petitioning group does not become a "base roll" until that
group becomes federally recognized. The current membership
list becomes the tribe’s base list/roll when or if
acknowledged.

The UHN has a current membership list and, in their (UHN)
terrs, one or more "base lists." The UHN "base lists" are
lists composed of individuals (ancestors) found on the "blue
charts" from whom the current members trace their ancestry.
The UHN’s "base list" is also known as the "Tribal Number
Master List". The ancestors listed on the Tribal Number
Master List consisted of all of the individuals that appear
on the "blue charts." The third and final "base list"
submitted by the petitioner is referrred to as the "Tribal
Lincage Base List." This list is believed to have resulted
from the BAR’s two obvious deficiency letters requesting
"any former lists" of tribal members (Field Data,
Colliflower and McMillion, (MLT, DD) 1992; Bureau of Indian
Affairs 1986, BAR OD ltr #1; 1987, BAR OD ltr #2). As noted
previously, it appears that the "Tribal Lineage Base List"
was not a functional document since it was constructed after
the current membership list was submitted.

The petitioning group appears to have had no "membership
list:" per se prior to the list that was typed and submitted
as part of the petition. For a discussion of the current
membership list, refer to Section V of this report.

The UHN base list(s) are referred to in Article III, Section
1 (A) (1) of the Constitution. They appear to have evolved
ovelr time from several similar but different sources.

1. The First Base List
The first base list was a series of handdrawn ancestry
charts which identified several generations of the group’s
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early ancestors. Because these charts had been reproduced
on yellow paper, they will be referred to herein as the
"yellow charts." These charts, received with the initial
documented petition on July 18, 1985, were used as cover
sheets for approximately three linear feet of detailed
genealogical charts (BIA optional forms 8304 and 8305).

2. The Second Basa List

In 1988 the UHN submitted a second base list consisting of a
second, larger series of the handdrawn ancestry charts.

This second series of charts was reproduced on blue paper
and is referred to herein as the "blue charts".
Approximately 18 linear feet of supporting genealogical
charts and a typewritten list entitled "Tribal Number Master
List" were also submitted at this time. UHN genealogists
advised BAR genealogists that the blue charts replaced the
yellow charts and that the yellow charts and their three
linear feet of supporting genealogical charts should not be
used. Time has not permitted an examination of the yellow
charts to determine how they compare with the blue charts
and what was added or deleted.

The Tribal Number Master List is primarily a list of
ancestors of the petitioning group. The list is said to
have been compiled from Bowman’s research on the families
(UHN 1988b). It includes the ancestor’s name, the unique
(i.e., one-of-a-kind) number assigned by the UHN, and the
numker of the "blue chart" on which the name appears. The
list includes several ancestors who are identified elsewhere
by the UHN as non-Indians. Examples of such individuals are
August Creppel (Tribal Number Master List number 01103),
Mictel Dardar (0100A), Jean Charles Naquin (0171A), Thomas
Molinere (0300A), Francois Galley (0086A), and Marie Manette
Renaud (0134A, 0151A, 0163A), to mention but a few. An
alternative name for the Tribal Number Master List might
better be "Master Ancestor List."

3. The Third and Current Base List ("Tribal Lineage Base
List")

At & special meeting of the UHN tribal council held May 28,
1991, a new and entirely different base list was adopted.
This list could more aptly be called a census list because
it is an abstract of individuals and households identified
as "Indian" in one of several Federal population censuses.
This list, as well as a list of 144 deceased members, and a
list. of 11 individuals who had been accepted into membership
without establishing a "link" to any ancestor on the tribal
lineage base list were received on July 16, 1991 (UHN 1991Db,
Resolution 1). UHN genealogists indicated that these lists
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had been part of a larger shipment of genealogical charts
covering 6,434 additional, new members sent to their
attorney in June 1991. Only the resolutions and "Tribal
Lineage Base Lists" had been forwarded on to the BAR; the
balance of the shipment was not received until January of
1992 (UHN 1992), eight months into the active consideration
period.

The council’s resolution adopting this census listing as the
tribal lineage base list reads:

in lawful consideration of establishing a sound
and fair basis from which to determine, as
acceptable, the genealogical lineage of Houma
Indian descendence, accept without questions, or
reservations, the United States Censuses for the
years 1860, 1870, 1880, and 1900 as the lawfully
established "Tribal Lineage Base Lists" (UHN
1991b, Resolution 1).

In an interview, UHN genealogical staff explained that
anthropologist Jack Campisi sent them photocopies of
selected pages reproduced from the Federal population census
(Field Data, Colliflower and McMillion, 1992a). UHN
genealogist Mary Lou Townsley then abstracted persons
identified by the census enumerator simply as "Indian"?
(Field Data, Colliflower and McMillion, 1992a).

When asked why some families enumerated as "Indian" had been
omitted from the typewritten list provided with the
resolution, Townsley stated that her handwritten lists had
been retyped several times before they were submitted to the
BAR (Field Data, Colliflower and McMillion, 1992a; UHN
1991a, Resolution 1). Earlier Field Data (1991a) indicates
that only families enumerated as "Indian"” were extracted,
and then only once [even though in succeeding years
additional children not previously enumerated may have been
present]. A partial analysis of these lists and the census
itself shows that the base lists approved by the tribal
council in 1991 do not include all "Indians" present in all
years, nor do they include families/individuals who were
known ancestors of the group when they were identified as
anything other than "Indian.” Some individuals then
identified as "Indian" who were extracted have no apparent
descendants in the current membership.

2 In no instance did the enumerator record the tribal heritage of

perscns enumerated as “"Indian.”
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The group’s use of the Federal census as a base list is
believed to have resulted from their misinterpretation of
the BAR’s obvious deficiency letter requesting copies of
vany former rolls" which might exist (Field Data,
Colliflower and McMillion, 1992a; Bureau of Indian Affairs
1986 and 1987).

It is unclear whether any of the lists provided were ever
actually used by the UHN as "base lists". The "blue" and
"yellow" charts (which are base lists one and two) were
created from the ancestry and individual history charts
prepared for the petitioner. The "Tribal Number Master
List" includes persons identified elsewhere by the
petitioner as non-Indians. The "Tribal Lineage Base List"
(the third and current base list) was abstracted from the
186C, 1870, 1880, and 1900 Federal population censuses of
Terrebonne and Lafourche parishes and was not itself
complete until 1991.

C. Current Enrollment Procedures

Currently, the registration process is initiated by the
individual. The person contacts the UHN headquarters and
fills out a "registration form" for each member of the
family. Next, the applicant is asked to fill out an
ancestry chart listing their ancestors as far back as
possiible. They also fill out an individual history chart.
The enrollment staff then verifies the information provided
by the applicant against the UHN ancestor index card file
prepared by UHN researchers from documents collected. If
the applicant can trace back to a UHN ancestor, they will be
assigned an enrollment number. No supporting documents
ver:ifying the identity of the applicant are necessary.

currently there is no apparent tribal council involvement in
the enrollment process; in earlier years there was.
Reg..stration cards were checked by council members; if they
knev the applicant, they were approved and sent back to the
staf. The staff stamped the chairperson’s name on the back
as approved. For additional discussion, refer to Section
IIIA. It is unclear if this practice is still being used.

According to the staff, the only time an applicant has to
provide documentation (birth record, etc.) is if there is "a
missing link" (i.e., if they don’t know who one of their
ancestors is) (Field Data, Colliflower and McMillion,
1992a). No resolution appears to have been passed citing
documents which are acceptable evidence. An individual may
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be removed from the membership roll if he/she does not
"trace back" to a Houma ancestor: a tribal resolution is
not needed (Field Data, Colliflower and McMillion, 1992a).

IV. FORMER MEMBERSHIP LISTS

The UHN petition, as initially submitted, contained no
former membership lists. Two former lists of members were
later provided with the petitioner’s response to BAR'’s
obvious deficiency (OD) letter: one list for the Houma
Tribes, Inc.; the other, for The Houma Alliance, [Inc.]. A
second Houma Alliance list was collected at the UHN office
in Golden Meadow, during field research in June 1992. The
Houmi Tribes, Inc. and The Houma Alliance, [Inc.) were
precursors of the United Houma Nation, Inc. (UHN) petitioner
(UHN 1985b, 145-147; Field Data, Colliflower and McMillion,
(HG) 1992a).

A. 'The Houma Tribes, Inc.

The carliest membership list provided was for The Houma
Tribes, Inc. This list, estimated to have been prepared in
1973, includes 2,579 individuals, grouped by parish with the
largest representations being from the parishes of
Terrzbonne (1,074), Lafourche (935), and Jefferson (423).
Considerably smaller numbers appear in other nearby
parishes. The list includes sixty-three individuals who
resiied out of state. The balance (111 individuals, 4%) are
spread over 13 Louisiana parishes. Within each parish,
individuals appear to be grouped into family households,
thoujgh familial relationships are not stated. Full name,
date of birth, and mailing address are provided for most
individuals listed.

B. The Houma Alliance, [Inc.]

The second former list provided in the UHN response to the
OD letter was a list of the members of The Houma Alliance,
[Inc.] (UHN 1976). This list, which contains the names of
approximately 1,795 individuals, is believed to have been
prepared in 1976--three years after The Houma Tribes’ list.
Individuals listed appear to be grouped by families and/or
households. Familial relationships are not stated. Full
name, age in years, and sex are provided. Household
addresses are generally expressed only by street name or
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post office box but without the town, making it vigtually
impossible to conduct any analyses or compare it with other
available lists.

Another Houma Alliance list (1976) was obtained from UHN
headquarters during field research. This list, like the
list presumably prepared in 1976, also appears to be
arranged in families and/or households. No addresses of any
sort. are provided, only full names and dates of birth.
Maiden names are used for women.

V. CURRENT MEMBERSHIP LIST

The UHN’s documented petition, as initially submitted June
18, 1985, included a list of names and addresses for only
2,718 adult members (UHN 1985c). This list, prepared in the
spring of 1985, contained full mailing address for each
member, but no other identifying information. No children
were apparent and there was no obvious grouping which might
sugciest familial relationships.

The size of the list (2,718) was significantly smaller than
the BAR had been led to expect. For this reason, and
because the genealogical charts of some members indicated
UHN membership numbers in the 6000’s, the BAR questioned the
completeness of the list in the obvious deficiency letter
(UHN 1985a; Bureau of Indian Affairs 1986). In response to
BAR's OD letter, the UHN petitioner submitted a new list
containing 11,223 members (UHN 1988). The list of 11,223
was computerized by the BAR and hereinafter will be referred
to as part of the "UHN membership database."

In June 1991, shortly after the petition had been placed
under active consideration, the petitioner submitted a
supplemental list to their attorney along with supporting
gencalogical charts (UHN 1992). This new material covered
approximately 6,400 new members who had been enrolled since
the 11,223 were submitted. These additions represented new
birt:hs and members omitted from the membership list
subnitted in 1988. Unfortunately, however, the supplemental
lisi: and the accompanying genealogical charts were not
forvarded to the BAR until eight months later--after BAR
gencalogists had questioned the presence of UHN membership
numbers in the 17,000’s! The missing charts were received
by -he BAR in January 1992. Delay in transmitting this
additional material (a 57 percent increase in the size of
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the group) caused the Assistant Secretary to extend the
perind for active consideration.

For the purpose of this report, the group’s "current list"
of mambers consists of the 11,223 members submitted in June
1988 and the supplemental list of approximately 6,400
members received in January 1992. The current list includes
17,616 members. Information on an additional 156 members
was submitted to the group’s attorney two to three weeks
prior to the field research in June 1992 (Field Data,
Colliflower and McMillion, 1992); this material has not been
forwarded to the BAR and is not included in this report.

The current list provides the following information for most
members: mailing address, full name, sex, date of birth
(month, day, and year), social security number (where
applicable), UHN membership number, mother’s full maiden
name, father’s name, and for each parent whether they are
®"H" ("Houma")® or "NH" ("non-Houma") (UHN 1988b, Field Data,
Colliflower and McMillion, (DD) 1992a). Women are listed by
full maiden name. Identification of the member’s parents as
"Houma" or "non-Houma" has been determined by tribal members
who staff the tribal headquarters in Golden Meadow (Field
Data, Colliflower and McMillion, 1992a).

For most families, the current membership list includes at
least two generations--sometimes three where younger
families are involved. The presence of four generations is
estimated to be very rare.

A. General Statistics on Membership

1. Age

The median age of current members for whom dates of birth
are known appears to be around 22+ years. This figure and
thosie in Table 3 below are based on a total membership of

’The petitioner’s classification of a parent as "H" (meaning
"Houma") does not reflect the BAR’s finding as to whether or not
the parent has Indian heritage. For a more detailed discussion of
BAR’s findings regarding the petitioner’s claims to descend from
the historic Houma Tribe, see Section X, Establishing Tribal

“Heritage (Which Tribe?), of this technical report.
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17,554 members which excludes the 62 members for whom no
birth year data is known.

TABLE 3
AGE RANGE OF CURRENT MEMBERSHIP
22 and under 8,537 49%
23 thru 52 7,237 41%
53 thru 72 1,319 7%
73 and over 461 3%
Total 17,554+* 100%

* Does not include 62 for whom no birth year is known

2. Geographic Distribution
Statistics on the geographic distribution of the current
membership are estimated, due to lack to time for BAR to
follow up on addresses that were obviously incomplete or
incorrect. At least 93 percent of the group’s members
appear to live within the state of Louisiana (74% live in
the adjoining parishes of Terrebonne, Jefferson, Lafourche,
and St. Mary; 19% live elsewhere in the state); less than 7
percent live outside the state.
of residence was not provided and was, therefore, estimated
using a road map. When the parish could not easily be
determined from the map, persons were placed in the "Other

Louisiana" category.

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgement
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TABLE 4
ESTIMATED DISTRIBUTION OF UHN

MEMBERSHIP BY PARISH
Terrebonne 6,771
Jefferson 2,529
Lafourche 2,415
St. Mary 1,283

Subtotal 12,998 (74%)
Plaguemines 376
St. Bernard 489
Orleans 335
Other LA parish 2,192

Subtotal 16,390 (93%)
Other than LA 1,187
Total known 17,577
State unknown 39
Total Current 17,616

The petition provides a chart showing the distribution of
8,715 members of the "Houma Indian Population, by Parish"
for the year 1985 based on UHN tribal records (UHN 1985b).
Effcrts were made to compare the 1985 information provided
in the petition with the Table 4 above. However, meaningful
comparisons could not be drawn because of the "Other
Louisiana" category.

3. Marriage Patterns

Statistics generated from the membership database provide
some insight into marriage patterns prevalent among the
current membership. The analysis of the data that follows,
however, must be seen as a provisional estimate, because the
data that the petitioner submitted is limited. It is
helpful only as an indicator that endogamy may have been
practiced for from 1880 to around 1940 at the level of 50%
or greater. Better data would need to be collected, and a
more detailed analysis would have to be performed before
this could be asserted with certainty.

The data shown in Table 5 below has been calculated from the
memkership database of 17,618 (the total number before a few

corrections were made). The figures do not add to 17,618.
Infcrmation in the database concerning the ancestry of
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individual members was obtained from the UHN membership list
itself. Determinations regarding the ancestry of members
parents (i.e., "H" for "Houma" and "NH" for "non-Houma") are
believed to have been made by the UHN genealogical staff.

TABLE S
UHN MARRIAGE PATTERNS
BASED ON THE PARTIAL DATA SUPPLIED BY THE PETITIONER
Birth date
Range, Percent with Percent with
Born Between Current UHN two Houma one Houma

Members parents parent only
1885 - 1899 21 76 % 23 %
1900 - 1909 126 80 20
1910 - 1919 299 75 25
1920 - 1929 513 69 31
193¢ - 1939 805 63 37
1940 - 1949 1,511 57 43
1950 - 1959 2,293 42 58
1960 - 1969 3,434 36 64
1970 - 1979 4,021 26 74
1980 - 1989 4,109 : 17 83
1990 - 1992 405 15 85

* Birth year for at least 62 members is missing from database.

The petition states that:

Since 1960 there has been a greater tendency for
Houmas to marry whites, but this has not been a
significant [plértion of the population. The
majority of Houma continue to marry other members
of the tribe" (UHN 1985b, 130).

Stal:istics gathered from the petitioner’s membership list
coni:radict this statement. Based on the membership
database, the tendency for "Houmas" to marry whites appears
to have been prevalent since at least the 1950’s and to have
been on a steady increase since the early 1900’s (1910-
1919). The table above illustrates that it was more common
for members born in decades prior to 1950 to have two
"Houma" parents (57%). In decades beginning with the
1950’s, the tendency to marry other "Houmas" dropped
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significantly to 42%. Thus the tendency beginning in the
1950’s was to marry non-Indians. This tendency has
continued, and by the 1980’s had almost doubled (83%) what
it was in the 1940’'s (43%).

Table 3 also reflects the fact, contrary to what the
petition states (UHN 1985b, 130), that the portion of the
membe:rship which is marrylnq out may be significant and,
furthwr, that the majority of the members may not have been
marrying other members of the group since the 1940's.

VI. LIST COMPARISONS

Meaningful comparisons between the Houma Tribes list and the
two Houma Alliance lists are virtually impossible because
information provided differs. One list provides complete
mailing addresses, another gives only street or post office
box, while the third gives no address at all. One list
expresses age in years, while the others prov1de birth
information as month, day, and year. Two give the full
maiden name for women, the other lists women by married name
without reference to maiden name. Because of problems like
this, it was very hard to confirm that individuals on one
1ist were the same as people on another list.

NotWLthstandlng the above 1ncon31stenc1es, a very limited
compdrlson was attempted, using 25 of the more visible
members® of the current tribal council and five other
members as the sample (obviously, this is not a random
sample and cannot be used to extrapolate to the petitioning
group as a whole). The analysis showed that 29 of the 30
individuals checked appeared on the current UHN membership
list. oOne council member could not be identified on any
list. Of the 30, two persons could be identified on the
lists of all three organizations; five appeared on both the
UHN list (the current membership list) and the Houma Tribes
list; and five others showed up on the UHN list and one of
the two Houma Alliance lists. No individual appeared on
both Houma Alliance lists. Seventeen appeared only on the
current. membership list.

‘4 Includes 14 council members, 9 alternate council members, and 2

ex-officio members (former chairpersons).
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Our conclusion was that very little overlap was found
betwz2en the available lists, even for the more prominent
membears.

VII. RECORD8 UTILIZED

To verify information presented in the petition, research
was conducted in a variety of different repositories and
records. Staff genealogists made two separate field trips
to repositories in Louisiana. The first trip, in December
1991, was based on data for the 11,223 members available at
that time; a second trip was made in June, 1992, after the
data covering the approximately 6,400 new members had been
reviewed and computerized. Extensive research was also
conducted in Washington, D.C. area repositories, in
particular the National Archives and the library of the
National Society, Daughters of the American Revolution
(NSDAR) . Wherever possible, however, research focused on
original records. Where published information was relied
upon, some effort was made to verify the information at the
original source. The following paragraphs will briefly
discuss some of the major collections and the extent to
which they were utilized.

A. Original Records

1. Courthouse Records

Records in four parish courthouses (primarily Terrebonne
Parish and Lafourche Parish, but also Ascension and
Assumption parishes) were researched in an effort to verify
information provided and/or cited in the petition. The
largest quantity of relevant material was found in
Terrebonne Parish where several of the group’s earliest
ancestors had acquired and disposed of land and other
possessions beginning in the early 1800‘s. Where documents
collected were written in French, translators were employed
to prepare English transcripts. All documents were reviewed
for genealogical content. Relevant information was then
extracted and posted to BAR’s "pink charts"® for further
analysis. Many of the documents which have been utilized in

s The "pink charts" were early printouts from the Roots III
datakiase. They were early in the sense that the database had not yet been
exparided to include current members of the UHN tribal council and their
ancesitors (see discussion at section IX).
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analyses and evaluations for this report are discussed at
some length in section VIII, entitled "Establishing Ancestry
as Indian."

2. World War I Draft Records

World war I draft registration cards were consulted to see
how ancestors of the petitioning group had identified
themselves or been identified by Selective Service
registrars when they registered for the draft in 1917 and
1918 (U.S. Selective Service 1917-18).

The draft registration cards for 15 surnames® which are
significant or common to UHN genealogy were pulled and
reproduced from the total cards filed from the parishes of
Terrebonne and Lafourche. Approximately 365 individual
cards were reproduced from the total cards filed: 203 from
Terrebonne Parish; 162 from Lafourche Parish. The names of
these 365 persons were then compared with the BAR’s pink
charts to see if any could be identified as ancestors of the
UHN. Forty-four men were identified with reasonable
certainty. Another nine were "perhaps" ancestors, but could
not be positively identified based on available information.

Three separate registrations had been held for the draft.’

A slightly different registration card had been used for
each of the registrations. In each case, the front of the
card was physically completed by a registrar based on
infcrmation provided by the individual being registered.

The person registering was then asked to read what the
registrar had written on the front of the card and to attest
to the accuracy of the information recorded by signature or
mark.

The question regarding race was handled differently on each
of the three registrations. The first registration card
simply asked the registrant to specify which race but
sugciested no terminoclogy. The second form asked the

6 Bergeron, Billiot, Chaisson, Courteaux, Creppel, Dardar, Fitch,
Frederick, Gregoire, Molinere, Naguin, Sauvage, Solet, Verdin, Verret and
all variant spellings.

7 fThe first registration was for men ages 21~31 as of June 5, 1917.
The necond registration, a year later (June 5, 1918), was for men who had
become 21 in the intervening year. The third and final registration was
for all men between the ages of 18-21 and 31-45 on September 12, 1918, who
had 10t previously registered.
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individual to specify the race by striking out the
inappropriate lines or words and offered five possible
alternatives of which the fifth was "I am a noncitizen or
citizen Indian."® The forms used for the first and second
registrations provided for a corner of the form to be torn
off if the person was of African descent. While some
registrars did tear corners, others placed a "C" in the
lower corner of the form. The third form provided boxes to
check race as "White," "Negro," "Oriental," or "Indian,"
with "Indian" further classified as to "citizen" or
"noncitizen." The back of the card included space for the
registrar to describe the physical appearance (height,
build, color of eyes and hair, disqualifying disabilities)
and to record a personal comment not seen by the registrant.
The registrar then certified:

that my answers are true; that the
person registered has read or has had
read to him his own answers; that I have
witnessed his signature or mark, and
that all of his answers of which I have
knowledge are true, except as follows
(emphasis added) . . . (U.S. Selective
Service 1917-19).

Comnents extracted from the backs of the 365 draft cards
reproduced by BAR’s researchers reflect confusion on the
part. of registrars over the meaning of such terms as "mixed
breed," "mixed blood," "mixed," and "mix Indian," and
whether these terms included persons of some "Indian"
heritage. Examples of this confusion follow.

on cards of persons who identified themselves as "Indian" on

the front of the card, the registrar commented later (on the
reverse):

! n“Non-citizen Indians" were Indians living on a reservation under

the care of a Government agent or roaming individually, or in bands over
unsettled tracts of country. They were believed to be maintaining
relations with a tribe, were not taxed, and were not to be counted for the
purpose of the apportionment of Representatives among the States. Non-
citizen Indians were not required to register for the Selective Service
draft. 1In contrast, "Citizen Indians” were living mingled with the white
("ordinary") population, cut of tribal relations, were taxed, were to be
counted for apportionment purposes, and were required to register for the
draft. (Twenty Censuses 1979, 19,22; Provost Marshall General Second
Provost Marshal Gener to_the Secretary of War o

Report
Operatjo. the Selective Service System to December 20, 1918
Washington: GPO 1919, 197).
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"Registered as Indian but is mixed
breed."
"Born of white & Indian parents."

On the card of a person who identified himself as "Mix
Indian" on the front, the registrar commented:

"Father is of Indian, mother is of
Indian and Caucasian."

On the card of a person self-identified as "Caucasian," the
registrar commented:

"Mix Blood."

Only one of the four cards noted above could be reliably
matched by BAR to an ancestor of the UHN; the other three
were "perhaps" UHN ancestors, but could not be found on the
UHN lists.

On one typewritten card (third registration, 1918) where the
individual had registered as "white," the registrar drew a
line through the block and checked "Negro." ©On the back of
the card, the registrar wrote, "My opinion is that he is a
mixed breed such as one at Golden Meadow" (U.S. Selective
Service 1918, Louisiana, Lafourche Parish, Augustin Verdin,
Serial Number 2432, Order Number A459, Sep 12). The
registrar’s comment raises an unanswered question as to his-
~and other registrars’--interpretation of the term "mixed
breed." This registrar’s comment also suggests his
awvareness of a community of "mixed breeds" at Golden Meadow.

An analysis of answers to questions relating to race for the
45 men who could be identified by BAR with any reliability

as ancestors of the UHN shows them distributed by race as
follows:
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TABLE 6
RACIAL DISTRIBUTION
by self-identification#

Indian 20%%
Indian Mixed 6
Mixed/Mixed Blood 4
White 13
Caucasian : 2% k%
Total 45
* Positive identification on BAR’s pink charts
* Three of the twenty were identified by

registrars as being of "Mixed Blood."
* %% One was identified by a registrar as descending
from "Indian/Negro."

Another nine persons were determined to be "perhaps"”
descended from a UHN ancestor. Five of the nine identified
thenselves as "Indian" (1), "Mixed Indian" (1), "Mixed" (2),
or "white" (1). The card of the individual who identified
himself as "Indian" had been annotated by the registrar as
"mix" [sic].

If the classifications in Table 6 are regrouped to
consiolidate terms which could reasonably include persons of
some "Indian" heritage, the heading "Some Indian Blood"
might then look like this:’®

° Analysis is limited to persons appearing on BAR’s pink charts at
a time when the Roots III database included only the BAR's first selection
(i.¢., 1089 names). If the analysis had been conducted using the complete
Root.s III database (1408 names), researchers would undoubtedly have been
able to match more draft registration cards with UHN ancestors.
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TABLE 7
RACIAL DISTRIBUTION
by self-identification*
(revised)

How Identified # Men
Some Indian Blood 30
White/Caucasian 15

Total 45

* pPositive Identification on BAR’s pink charts

3. census Records

For the purpose of this report, genealogists used the
Federal population census schedules to try. to locate
prorinent UHN ancestors in order to verify information
provided by the petitioner. The census was also used to
determine whether .individuals who could be identified with
the group had been identified as "Indian" and, if so, of
what tribal origin. For discussions of residential patterns
in the census, see the accompanying Historical and
Anthropological reports.

Genealogical research initially focused on Federal
population schedules of Lafourche and Terrebonne Parishes
fourd in National Archives Record Group 29, Records of the
Bureau of the Census. The majority of the petitioning
group’s ancestors lived in these two parishes. Some
schedules for other parishes were also researched; refer to
the bibliography for a complete list of censuses searched
(U.$. Bureau of the Census).

It was often impossible to positively identify families in
the census with families sampled on BAR’s pink charts, thus
making it difficult to draw conclusions from available
information. These difficulties may have resulted because
the individual/family was residing outside Terrebonne and
Lafourche parishes when the census was taken and was
enumerated elsewhere, or was simply not enumerated at all.
Where they could be identified, it was sometimes with
unrecognizable family members who had widely different
namas. In some instances they were enumerated 20 years
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apar:, making family composition almost impossible to pin
down.

Where specific individuals/families could be found, racial
identification was often inconsistent. The following
examble (albeit a non-Indian) is fairly typical of the
problem found. Manette Renaud appears in the 1850 census as
"M" (Mulatto), as "Ind" (Indian) in 1860, and as "W" (White)
in 1880. She could not be found in the 1870 census.

Manette Renaud classified herself as white when applying for
the War of 1812 pension of her last husband, Etienne Billiot
(U.S Veterans Administration 1878b), and it can be verified
that her parents were of French ancestry (Catholic Church,
Diocese of Baton Rouge, 1982, ASC-5, 276; ASM-2, 99; ASC-2,
49; ASM-1, 14).

The separate "Indian schedules" used with the 1900 and 1910
Federal population censuses to enumerate households composed
predominantly of persons identified as "Indian" were not
found for Terrebonne and Lafourche Parishes (Twenty Censuses
1979, 39; U.S. Bureau of the Census 1900a, 1900c; 1910b,
1910c). When available, these schedules can often provide
valuable information about individuals and sometimes the
group as a whole.

No Indian census rolls are known to have been prepared by
agents of the Bureau of Indian Affairs of persons living in
Terrebonne or Lafourche Parishes (Indian Census Rolls, 1885-

1940, 1973).

Of the "Indian progenitors" identified by BAR researchers
(Houma Courteau, Marie Gregoire, and Jeanet) (for more
infcrmation refer to discussion at Section VIII), only
Rosalie, the daughter of Houma Courteau, and possibly Houma
Courteau himself, could be identified in the census. In
186C, Rosalie is listed as Mrs. J. Billiot age 75, living
witk her grandchildren, Marguerite Verdin, age 17, and Eliza
Vercin, age 25; all three are identified as "Indian" (U. S.
Bureau of the Census 1860c, 6th Ward, p.66, household
475)." 1In 1880 "Rosalie Billiot," identified as "Indian,"
is listed as mother-in-law in the household of James Fitch,
husband of her granddaughter, Clodine (1880 U. S. Bureau of
the Census 1880c, p. 323, household 290).

10 Rosalie‘s grandchildren, Marguerite and Eliza Verdin, were the

chiliren of Ursain Verdin (son of Alexander Verdin and Marie Gregoire) and
Arthamise Billiot (daughter of Rosalie Courteau and Jacques Billiot); as
such, they descended from Indian ancestors on both sides.
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Rosalie’s father is believed to be "Courto, a Savage" listed
on tae 1810 census (U. S. Bureau of the Census 1810, page
161, line 25). The census was recorded in English,
therzfore "a savage" clearly meant Courto was an "Indian."
Mari= Gregoire (m. Alexander Verdin) and Jeanet (m. Joseph
Billiot) could not be found.

In gesneral, census information concerning UHN families
sampled by the BAR genealogists was found to be quite
inconsistent and not always reliable with respect to family
composition or racial identification.

This finding is not inconsistent with findings of other
scholars regarding use of the census for ethnic
identification purposes:

Any assumption of ethnicity on the basis of
census data from a single year (or any other
single document) may err. Determining the
ethnic identity of any family labeled free
people of color (or f.p.c.) on any record
invariably requires exhaustive research in
the widest-possible variety of resources
(Mills 1990, 264).

B. Published Sources

1. Hebert’s South Louisiana Records

In addition to research in original records in four
Louisiana courthouses, Reverend Donald J. Hebert’s 12-volume -
series entitled South Loujsiana Records was utilized
extensively. The series contains abstracts of births,
baptisms, marriages, and deaths recorded in Catholic and
non-Catholic churches of the parishes of Lafourche and
Terrebonne. The series also includes abstracts of
marriages, successions, and some Original Acts recorded in
the courthouses at Thibodaux (Lafourche Parish) and Houma
(Terrebonne Parish). A volume of South Louisiana Additions
and corrections was published in 1993 (Terrebonne
Genealogical Society 1993).

2. Published Church Records

Church records for St. Louis Cathedral in New Orleans dating
from the early to mid-1700’s were reviewed in their
published format, Sacramental Records of the Roman Catholic
Church of the Archdiocese of New Orleans, and were used to

verify relationships. These records in their published
format reportedly do "not include information about race or
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legitimacy, although race can often be deduced when the
country of origin, e.g., Senegal or Ireland, is listed"
(Woods and Nelson 1987, 1l:ix).

The Diocese of Baton Rouge was separated from the
Archdiocese of New Orleans in 1961. This diocese includes
the 12 civil parishes located directly north of Lafourche
and Terrebonne, including the civil parishes of Ascension
and Assumption. Records created prior to 1870 have been
brought to the archives of the newly-created diocese and the
diocese is now reported to have the "largest collection of
Catholic colonial registers in Louisiana outside of St.
Louis Cathedral (New Orleans)" (Catholic Church, Diocese of
Baton Rouge 1978, i). Published records from this diocese
were examined in the series entitled Diocese of Baton Rouge
Catholic Church Records (refer to bibliography for citations
to individual volumes).

3. International Genealogical Index (IGI)

A microfiche index published by the Church of Jesus Christ
of latter-day Saints (aka LDS, an accepted acronym, oOr
Mormons) was also relied upon where more official sources
were not available. A research outline distributed by the
Family History Library of the Church describes the
International Genealogical Index, commonly referred to as
the IGI, as

a worldwide index of about 187 million names of
deceased persons. It lists birth, christening,
marriage, and Latter-day Saint temple ordinance
information. It does not contain records of
living persons. Most of the names in the index
come from vital records from the early 1500s to
1875. Other names were submitted by members of
The Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints
for temple ordinance work. Individuals listed in
the index are not joined in family groups or
pedigrees . . . [although] the index is published
by The Church . . . names are not limited to
Church members or their ancestors (LDS 1992, 1).

The microfiche is arranged by state and thereunder by
surname. Citations to the IGI appearing in this report
(e.qy., LDS-IGI, LA 1173) are to the state abbreviation (LA)
and the fiche card number (1173). Entries on pages
rep:;roduced on the fiche card are arranged alphabetically by
surname.
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VIII. ESTABLISHING ANCESTRY AS "INDIAN"

The purpose of genealogical research for acknowledgment
purposes is to verify the petitioner’s claims that members
are of Indian descent and further that they descend from an
historical tribe, or tribes which combined and functioned as
a single autonomous entity. While other racial admixtures
may also be present within a group, the focus of the
genealogist’s research is on whether the members of the
group descend from Indian ancestors and, if so, from which
tribe or tribes. The BAR genealogist of necessity begins
with the information provided by the petitioner and sets out
to verify this information using materials contained in the
petition and, when necessary, expands upon the petitioner’s
information using standard genealogical research methodology
and available records.

The petition states that many "Houma" Indian women married
Frenchmen from 1800 to 1840 giving the tribe French family
names such as Billiot, Dardar, Dion (Dean), Dupre, Gallet,
Nagquin, Parfait, Verdin, Gregoire, and Verret, which then
became essentially "Indian" names (UHN 1985b, 35). Other
researchers have also commented on social distinctions
attributed to certain names which are commonly found within
the petitioner’s membership.

Swanton identified three families "known by the French names
‘Couteaux,’ ’Billiout,’ and ’‘Verdine,’" who were, he said,
all that was left after other Houma families "went back
north" in the late 1700’s [ca. 1786). He further stated
that the remaining "Houma" of Terrebonne and Lafourche
descended from these three "families or possibly bands"
(Swanton 1911, 292).

Speck said that, "family patronyms indicate that the
collective Houma band stems from a limited group of
progenitors" - Billiot, Verdin, Diane (or Dean), Parfait,
Greqoire, and Verret (Speck 1943, 212-213). Writing more
recently, Stanton concurs: "Surnames are often indicators of
an Indian background. Some of the more common names which
are either exclusively Indian or tend to be Indian are:
Billiot, Deon (Dion), Gregoire, Naquin, Parfait, and Verdin"
{(Stanton 1971a, 86). Stanton writes that "by 1795 at least
three whites, all bearing French surnames, had settled in
the southern portion of Terrebonne Parish, all three married
to Indians" (Stanton 1979, 97). BAR could not verify the
settlement date or determine which three whites Stanton was
referring to in this passage.
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All of the above surnames are present in the membership
today. Some names like Billiot (2,314 members) and Verdin
(1,029) are more common, followed then by Dardar (752},
Naquin (631), Parfait (556), Verret (460), Creppell (279),
Fitch (267), Dion (247), Chaisson (192), Foret (186), Solet
(171), and Gregoire (162). Forty-one percent of the current
UHN rembership use one of the above surnames.

BAR cenealogical research initially focused on verifying the
Indien ancestry of the "three original families of Houma"
ident.ified by Swanton--Couteaux [sic), Billiout [sic), and
Verdine [sic] (Courteau, Billiot, and Verdin) (Swanton 1911,
292). Research was then expanded to include other families,
such as Dardar, Naquin, Solet, Verret, Dion, Creppell,
Gallet, Foret, and Fitch, which petition materials had also
ident:ified as ancestors of the UHN. The starting point for
BAR’s work was always the petitioner’s blue charts and
supporting genealogical charts. :

Three of the progenitors of the UHN could be identified as
nIndian" with reasonable accuracy in official (Federal,
stat2, and local) records: Houma Courteau, a Biloxi Indian
(and his children, including his daughter Rosalie Courteau,
wife of Jacques Billiot), and Indian women whose tribal
affiliation is not known: Marie Gregoire ("femme sauvage"),
wife of Alexander Verdin; and Jeanet ("an Indian woman"),
wife of Joseph Billiot (brother of Rosalie’s husband
Jacques). It is from these three "Indian progenitors," who
were married to non-Indians!' and appear to have founded
three independent family lines, that most UHN members
descend. Virtually nothing is known about the ancestors of
these early families. Appendix A is a diagram which shows
how. these three "Indian progenitors" relate to one another.

The following sections will discuss the evidence to identify
thesie UHN progenitors as "Indian." A discussion of what is
knovn about the specific tribal affiliation of these "Indian
pro¢enitors” will be found in section X entitled,
“"Est:ablishing Tribal Heritage/Which Tribe?"

A. UHN'’s "Indian Progenitors"

The UHN often discuss their ancestors in terms of their
relationship to Rosalie Courteau, an important historical

1

belcw.

For a more extensive discussion of Houma Courteau‘s wife, see
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.

lead2r. This section of the report will begin with Rosalie
Courteau and her relations before proceeding to Marie
Gregoire and Jeanet. Other UHN progenitors whom the
petitioner did not claim to be Indian, or for whom Indian
ancestry could not be established, are handled under the
subheading "Other UHN Ancestors."

1. Rosalie Houma Courteau

Documertation of Rosalie’s ancestry as Indian is based
primarily on the Indian ancestry of her father, Houma
Courteau/Abbe/Iacalobe, who is clearly identified as
"Indian" in official records (see section VIII.A.l.a).
Rosalie also appears as "Indian" in the 1860 and 1880
Federal population censuses (U. S. Bureau of the Census
1860c, p.66, household 475; U. S. Bureau of the Census
1880c, p. 323, household 290). "Indian" ancestry for
Rosalie’s mother has not been documented, although BAR
genealogists believe it is likely (see VIII.A.l.Db).

Infcrmation concerning Rosalie Courteau’s date and place of
birth is somewhat conflicting. The petitioner’s blue charts
place her date of birth as simply 1787 (UHN BCl). An
abstract of Rosalie’s baptism which appears in Hebert’s
South lLouisiana Records (Hebert 1978a, 161) indicates that
Roszlie was baptized on January 27, 1867, at the age of 80;
this agrees with the petitioner’s information. The
International Genealogical Index (IGI) lists her date of
birth as June 24, 1787, in Houma, Terrebonne Parish (LDS-
IGI, LA 1173). The IGI entry shows the information to have
beeri submitted by an LDS church member, but does not
indicate the source of the member’s information. Oral
hist.ory reports her place of birth as Biloxi, Mississippi
(Billiot, Charles and Emay 1978; Billiot, Charles 1979).

Cconf'licting information regarding Rosalie’s date of birth
appears in several places. In her application for a widow’s
pensiion based on her husband’s (Jacques Billiot) service in
the War of 1812 (U.S. Veterans Administration 1878a),"
Rosialie gives her age as 83 (i.e., born about 1795). 1In the
188() Federal population census of Terrebonne Parish,
"Rosalie Billot" is enumerated as "Indian;" her age is
recorded as 102 years (i.e., born about 1778) (U.S. Census

12 Rosalie’s pension application was rejected because Jacques’

military service could not be verified by Federal officials. Widows
Brief, War of 1812 Svc. Pension, "Rejected July 14, 1879, on the grounds
that there is no evidence of the alleged service. Claimant so notified”
(U.S. Veterans Administration 1878a).
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1880z, 6th Ward, p.. 323, household 290). Published Montegut
Church records give her age at death in 1883 as 130 years,
placing her year of birth at about 1753 (Hebert 198l1c, 242).
The original of the Montegut Church record was not available
for review.

Rosalie’s oldest child (Alexander) was born in 1813 (LDS-
IGI, LA 463); her youngest child, Jacques Constant, was born
in 1835 (Hebert 1978a, 68). When this 22-year span is used
in conjunction with the 1787 birth date, we find her
marrying at age 21 and bearing children from age 26 to 48.
Using the 1795 date of birth calculated from Rosalie’s
pension application places her marriage at age 13. Her
children would have been born when she was between 18 and 40
years of age. The 1787 kirth date seems more likely than
the 1795 or 1753 dates, given Rosalie’s 1808 marriage date,
since it would place her marrying at age 21, rather than 13
(1795) or 55 (1753).

The 1778 birth date calculated from the 1880 census seenms
quite unlikely since it would mean that she gave birth to
her last child, Jacques, when she was 57 years old. The
1753 birth date calculated from the age at death reported in
Hebert'’s work (Hebert 1981c, 242) is undoubtedly in error.
Using this date (1753) would place Rosalie marrying at age
55 in 1808 and bearing children when she is between the ages
of €0 and 82--well beyond the years when a woman is
physically able to bear children. The normal child bearing
years for a woman in this area and time period were probably
between 18 and 45 years--the maximum possible range is
considered to be betweer 12 and 50 years.

From Rosalie’s pension application we learn that she married
Jaccues Billiot on April 15, 1808, at Bayou Terrebonne (U.S.
Veterans Administration 1878a). She describes herself as a
"majd" [unmarried] at the time; Jacques was the widower of
Charlotte Louis. This is the first and only indication of a
pricor marriage for Jacques. The petitioner’s blue charts
(UHN BC2; UHN BC3) make no reference to Jacques’ marriage to
anycne other than Rosalie Courteau. Rosalie’s marriage date
is confirmed in the IGI, but as was the case with the
information regarding her date of birth, this information
was also submitted by an LDS church member and the source of
the information is not reported in the published IGI entry
(LDS-IGI, LA 1173). Hebert, when reporting her death in
1883, notes that she was married to Jacques Billiot, but
gives no date for the marriage (Hebert 1981c, 242).
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Sacred Heart Church records that report "Rosalie Houma"
[sxc] died January 24, 1883, and was buried the following
day in the cemetery of St. John the Baptist, at Bayou
Terrebonne (Sacred Heart Church 1964; see document under
Field Data, Colliflower and McMillion, 1992b (Certificate of
Death abstracted April 17, 1964, from Sacred Heart Church
records). However, other field data and oral history,
provide confllctlng information, suggesting her burial may
have been in Dugas Cemetery just below Montegut (Field Data,
Colliflower and McMillion, 1991b; Courteau, Jimmy and
Albertine 1978). Oral history states that Rosalie was
buried in a brick cave at the back of the Dugas Cemetery.
Emile Billiot (Rosalie’s nephew) is said to have taken the
marker and buried it (Field Data, Colliflower and McMillion,
1991k; Dion 1981). A stone marker was placed at the front
of the Dugas Cemetery in recent years (Field Data,
Colliflower and McMillion, 1991b). The inscription reads:

Rosalie Courteau
(Houmas)

June 4, 1787
Jan. 24, 1883
Wife of
Jacques Billiot

In the 1968 intestate succession of "Rosalie Houma
Court.eau, widow of/and Jacques Billiot"--entered some 85
yearss after her death--her date of death is reported as
having occurred one day later (January 25, 1883) (Terrebonne
Parish 1968).

In summary, although Rosalie’s reported date of birth ranges
from as early as 1753 to as late as 1795 (both dates
calculated), BAR believes the 1787 date to be most likely.
Information concerning Rosalie’s marriage to Jacques Billiot
in 1808, and her death in 1883, is generally consistent.

a. Ros ie’s ather, Houma Courteau/Abbe/Iacalobe.
Rosalie’s father appears in official records under several
different names, but most consistently as "Courteau." These

’ SUCCESSION refers to the process by which the property or right of

a decadent is taken through descent or by will. It is a word that clearly
excluies those who take by deed, grant, gift, or any form of purchase or

contract .. .. (Black’s Law Dictionary). In this instance, it means taken
by descent since Rosalie and Jacques died intestate (without leaving a
will). It is very unusual for such a long period to ensue between the

death and the filing of the succession.
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names, when viewed collectively, clearly identify "Courteau"
as Indian and as Rosalie’s father.

Identification of Courteau as an Indian is found in two
deeds from the 1820’s. 1In the earliest of these deeds a
"Touh/Tough-la-bay alias Courteau of the Beloxy Nation"
purchases land from a Jean Billiot (Terrebonne Parish
1822e). Several years later, identified now as "Loup La Bay
called Courteau Indian of the Beloxy Nation," he conveys the
same land to Alexander Verdin [husband of Marie Gregoire)
(Terrebonne Parish 1829g). Both names, Touh/Tough-la-bay
and Loup La Bay, are obviously Indian and are undoubtedly
one-and-the-same person. Neither deed makes any reference
to Fosalie.

Direct identification of Rosalie as the daughter of
"Loup/Toup la [Blay alias Courteau" comes from Rosalie
herself and is found in a land transfer from Rosalie to
Clenent Carlos (Terrebonne Parish 1856).

Further evidence that Courteau is the father of Rosalie and
the husband of Rosalie’s mother, Marianne, is also found in
official parish records. 1Identification of Rosalie as the
dauchter of Marianne is found in an 1841 transfer of land
from Marianne, identified as the wife of Courtau (sic] and
the sister of Louis le Sauvage, to her "daughter" Rosalie
(Terrebonne Parish 1841a). Three years earlier, in 1838,
"Houma dit'* Courteau" and wife Mari Ann/Marie Anne sold

lanél to a Louis Verret (Terrebonne Parish 1838). In the
183¢ document, the grantor’s name is written as "Houma
Courteau" in the text of the document and is reversed to
reacl "Courteau + Houma" in the signature block. (The "+" in
the signature block indicates the individual signed the
document with his mark rather than a written signature.)

Use of both names (Houma Courteau and Courteau Houma) within
the document has been interpreted to mean that the names
were: used interchangeably.

Additional evidence of family relationships can also be
gathered from the records concerning the probate of the
estate of Francois Iacalobe (Terrebonne Parish 1844), which
identifies Iacalobe as the deceased husband of Marianne and
the father of four children:

" "Dit"” is French for "called"” and when used in this manner means

that the individual named Houma also went by the name of Courteau.
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Francois Courteau/Abe/Iacalobe (deceased);
(Marie Mingoloi is identified as Francois’ widow;
their children are Julien and Josephine Iacalobe)
Rosalie Iacalobe/Benbe(?);
Antoine Iacalobe;
Marguerit Iacalobe
(Marguerit is identified as the mother of
Filarum/Philarum).

Thes: relationships are consistent with other materials,
both provided by the petitioner and gathered by BAR
researchers.

The following list attempts to display visually the
information concerning Courteau which was collected from the
official documents discussed above:

1322 Touh/Tough-la-bay alias Courteau of the Beloxy
Nation

1329 Loup La Bay called Courteau Indian of the Baloxy
Nation

1338 Houma dit Courteau and Courteau Houma [as husband
of Marianne Courtau]

1841 Marianne Courtau {as wife of Courtau and mother of
Rosalie]

1844 Tacalobe [as husband of Marianne and father of
four Iacalobe children: Francois Courteau/Abe,
Rosalie Benby(?); Antoine, and Marguerit Iacalobe])

1856* Loup/Toup la [Bjay alias Courteau [father of

Rosalie]

* Rosalie identifies herself as daughter of Loup/Toup la [B]ay
alias Courteau

Based on the foregoing, there seems little question but that
Courteau (aka Houma, Loup la Bay, Toup/Touh/Tough-la-

bay/Iacalobe) was Rosalie’s father and was an Indian.

In addition to the names mentioned in the paragraph above,
some writers have identified Rosalie’s father, variably, as
Joseph Abbe, Shulushumon, and Louis de la Hussaye alias le
Sauvage ("the Indian"). Anthropologist John R. Swanton
identified Rosalie’s father as "Joseph Abbe, a Biloxi medal
chief (also called Shulushumon)" (Swanton 1911, 292). This
information is reported to have come from Rosalie’s
daughter, Felicité Billiot, who was age 78 when Swanton
interviewed her in 1907. Felicité is reported to have said
that "her grandfather, Shulu-shumon or, in French, Joseph
Abbe, and more often called ’Courteaux’ was a Biloxi medal
chief (emphasis added) . . . " (Swanton 1911, 292).
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Swanton’s field notes, however, show this quote to have come
from Bartholemy Billiot, Felicité’s brother, and not
Feli:-ité& herself (Swanton 1906; UHN 1985b, 44). Elsewhere
in Swanton’s field notes, Rosalie’s father is also
identified as a Chitimacha chief (Swanton n.d.c).

Other references to Rosalie’s father as Joseph Abbe (aka
Shuluashumon) appear in works by Janel Curry (1979%a, 17) and
Max Stanton (1979, 97). Such references appear to rely on
the field notes and writings of Swanton (Swanton 1911, 292;
Swanton n.d.b) who obtained his information from Bartholemy
Billiot.

Bureau of Indian Affairs (BIA) educator Ruth Underhill
stated that Rosalie was "pure Indian" and the "daughter of
the Indian chief Louis de la Hussaye, alias le Sauvage" but
did not give the source of her information (Underhill 1938a,
14). No evidence was found to substantiate a parent-child
relationship between Rosalie and any one by the name of
Louis de la Hussaye/le Sauvage. Official records do
establish a sibling relationship between Rosalie’s mother,
Marianne, wife of Houma Courteau, and Louis Le Sauvage who
died without issue (Terrebonne Parish 1841a; Terrebonne
Parish 1854).

In 1943, Anthropologist Frank Speck stated:

The last chief, apparently a hereditary officer,
is remembered to have been one Delahoussay
(Dalahousie) Couteau (Courteau). He is an
historical figure mentioned by Swanton, and
pointed to by the Houma as the last social unifier
whose death (about 1800) left the people minus
leadership (Speck 1943, 213).

No source is cited for this information. Whether Speck
believed a relationship to exist between Rosalie and this
"Delahoussay Couteau" cannot be determined from his
writings.

The 1810 Federal Population Census of Lafourche Interior
Parish, the precursor to present-day Terrebonne Parish,
enumerates one "Courto, a Savage" (U.S. Bureau of the Census
1810, page 161, line 25). Courto is listed as male, "of 45
(years] and up," with six children. The census was recorded
in English leaving no question that the words "a Savage"
after his name meant he was an Indian. Based on available
information we can only speculate that this Courto could
have been Rosalie’s father. His age would fit with a birth
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year of 1787 for Rosalie; his name is a phonetic spelling
for cCourteau; he was Indian, as was Rosalie’s father. The
only information which casts some doubt on such a.
relationship is found in Speck’s writings wherein he states
(witaout citing any backup documentation) that the last
hereiitary chief, Delahoussay Couteau, died about 1800--10
years prior to the census (Speck 1943, 213).

The petition narrative at page 32 speculates that a "Louis
de la Houssaye Courteaux, alias le Sauvage" was most likely
the second Houmas chief present at the meeting between Chac-
Chouma and Governor Claiborne in 1806. Volume 5, page 275
of Rowland (1917) is cited as the basis for this information
(UHN Pet., Narr., p. 32). An examination of the cited page,
however, shows no reference--direct or indirect--to anyone
by the name of "Louis de la Houssaye Courteaux, alias le
Sauvage." The petitioner should recheck the source of this
information and provide the BAR with an accurate citation.

Janel Curry appears to enlarge on the statements of Swanton
and Speck, identifying Rosalie’s mother as the sister of
"chief Louis de la Houssaye" (Curry 1979a). She goes on to
claim that "leadership went matrilineally from Louis de la
Houssaye [sic] to his sister’s daughter" (Curry 1979b).
Terrebonne Parish conveyance records (Book I, page 157) are
cited as the basis for this statement. A search of the
cited conveyance records shows the documents on page 157 of
Book I to record two land transfers, neither of which refers
to @ Louis de la Houssaye or to the passage of leadership of
any kind. One document records the transfer of land from
Marianne, wife of Courtau [sic] and sister of "Louis le
Sauvage," to her daughter, Rosalie Courteau (Terrebonne
Par:sh 1841a); the other records Rosalie’s transfer of land
acquired from Louis le Sauvage to a Mister Paroy(?)
(Terrebonne Parish 1841b). Nowhere in any of the official
documents reviewed for this report was any evidence found to
coriroborate claims that Louis de la Houssaye and Louis le
Sauvage were one-and-the-same individual.

The petitioner’s blue charts identify Rosalie’s father as
Joseph Houma Courteau (UHN BCl). Published church records,
probably extracted from the original church record, identify
him simply as Joseph Courteau (Hebert 1978a, 161). The
entry published in the IGI also describes him as Joseph
Courteau; this entry may have been copied from a published
source such as Hebert or may have been entered from family
information provided by a church member (LDS-IGI, LA 1173).
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b. Rosalie’s siblings.

The petitioner’s blue chart (UHN BCl1l) lists Rosalie,
Francois, Antoine, Philomene, and Josephine (Fine) as the
children of "Joseph Houma Courteaux" and "Anne Marie Pierre
(aka Marie Sauvage)." Rosalie, Francois, Antoine, and
Marguerite can be documented to be the children of Iacalobe
(Houma Courteau/Abbe) and Marianne using the succession of
Francois Iacalobe (see discussion at VIII.A.l.a). Based on
this same succession, Philerom Courteau/Billiot, Josephine
(Fire), and Julien Courteau are the grandchildren of
Iacalobe (Houma Courteau/Abbe) and Marianne.

Philerom was born February 10, 1812, and baptized December
17, 1818 (Catholic Church. Diocese of Baton Rouge, ASM
4:238). Josephine was born about 1833 according to the 1860
census where she appears as "Fine" with her mother Marie
[(Migolois) Courteau, now Billiot] (U.S. Bureau of the
Census 1860e, Terrebonne Parish, p. 67, household 480 ).
Julien appears as Julius, age 21, with his mother Marie

[ (Migolois) Courteau, now Billiot] in 1850; in 1860, he is
listed as Julien Billiot, age 33, as the head of a household
containing his sister Fine’s children (U.S. Bureau of the
Censius 1860c Terrebonne Parish, p. 67, household 48).

The Federal population census schedules also show "Julien
Houma," an Indian, age 38 in 1870 (born about 1832) (U. S.
Bureau of the Census 1870b, page 25, household 202) and
"Philerome Billiot," an Indian (male), age 66 in 1860 (born
about 1794) (U.S. Bureau of the Census 1860c, p. 418,
housiehold 646).

Although a 1854 land transfer identifies Marianne Courteau
as the "deceased mother" of Antoine, Julien and Fine
{Josephine) Courteau, and Philerom Billiot/Courteau (Terr
Par 1854), this parent/child relationship is not supported
by papers in the succession of Francois Iacalobe. The
succession identifies Julien, Josephine, and Philerom as
grandchildren of Marianne and Antoine as a son.

Add.itional documentation to support the Indian ancestry of
Rosilie’s sister, Marguerite Courteau, appears in a series
of birth and death records found in the basement of the
Teri-ebonne Parish Courthouse and later published in
Terr-ebonne Life Lines. A "Declaration of Death" given by
"Jean Billiou" [Jean Billiot, the son of Jean Baptiste
[Jean-Pierre] Billiot and Marie Enerisse] regarding the
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death?' of Marguerite Courteau, identifies her as an "idian
(sic) woman." She is reported to have died on August 6,
1822. No tribal heritage was recorded for Marguerite. This
declaration of death and the series of declarations of birth
which follow, all given September 7, 1822 by Jean Billiot,
identify five children born to him and Marguerite Courteau
between 1812 and 1819' (Shannon 1985, 65-67). Descendants
of these children who were born to Jean Billiot and
Marguerite Courteau, his "Indian" wife, would be counted as
"ITndian" in the same manner that descendants of "Jeanet an
Indian woman" and Marie Gregoire are being counted except
for the fact that it has not been possible to identify them
on the current UHN membership list and none of them appear
in either of the samples (systematic random or non-random) .

Based on the above evidence, Rosalie, Francois, Antoine, and
Marguerite are believed to be the children of Houma
Courteau/Abbe/Iacalobe and of "Indian" ancestry. Evidence
to establish Marianne as "Indian" or as "Anne Marie Pierre"
was neither provided by the petitioner nor found by BAR
researchers.

c. Rosalje’s mother, Marianne Courteau, and Marianne'’s
brother, louis Sauvage/le Sauvage.

Although numerous documents refer to Marianne, they provide
little personal information about her other than that she
was the wife of Houma Courteau (also written Courteau
Houna); the sister of Louis le Sauvage "who died without
isste;" the mother of Rosalie, the "wife of Jacques Billiot"
(Texrrebonne Parish 1841a; Terrebonne Parish 1838; Terrebonne
Parish 1854), and as the widow of Iacalobe and mother of
Roszlie, Antoine, Francois Courteau/Abe, and Marguerit
Iaczlobe (Terrebonne Parish 1844). Swanton’s informants,
who were children of Rosalie, stated that their grandmother,
named "Nuyu’n", was later baptized Marion (Swanton 1911,
292; Swanton 1906, 197).

The petitioner’s blue charts identify Rosalie’s mother as
"Anrne Marie Pierre (aka Marie Sauvage)" (UHN BCl). However,
only the surname "Pierre" appears in Hebert’s extract of

5 published transcript of Marguerite‘’s "Declaration of Death”

indicates that document was incomplete in the original ("page torn").
Some of detail regarding Marguerite is incomplete and inconclusivae.

6 phylorosine (male) b. 2/2/1812, Joseph b. 2/4/1813, Etienne b.
4/10/1815, Heloise b. 5/9/1817, and Jean Baptiste b. 4/12/1819.
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Rosalie’s baptismal record (Hebert 1978a, 161). No official
abstract (i.e., prepared by the church based on its own
records) was provided to verify this information.
Documentary evidence to substantiate the name "Marie
Sauvage" as an alias could not be found. The petitioner’s
reference to Marie Sauvage is believed to derive from the
fact that Rosalie’s mother was the sister of Louis
Sauvage/le Sauvage.

The only other record provided by the petitioner to
substantiate "Anne Marie Pierre" as the name of Rosalie
Courteau’s mother was a marriage entry form used by the LDS
Church to enter data into the IGI (International
Genealogical Index) (Field Data, Colliflower and McMillion,
(MLT) 1992a; LDS-IGI, LA 1173). The marriage entry form
notes the information provided came from an unspecified War
of 1812 pension record. Lacking any information to the
contrary, BAR researchers believe this citation refers to
Rosalie Courteau Billiot’s application for a widow’s pension
(U.S. Veterans Administration 1878a). An examination of
Rosalie’s pension application, however, shows it to contain
no information about Rosalie’s parents.

Based on documents recorded in Terrebonne Parish records,
Marianne’s date of death can be approximated to have
occurred between April 1, 1845 (Terrebonne Parish 1844) and
June 30, 1854 (Terrebonne Parish 1854). Rosalie is
idertified as Marianne’s daughter in an 1841 land transfer
fron. Marianne to Rosalie (Terrebonne Parish 1841a).

Marianne is also described as the "deceased mother" of
Julien, Antoine, and Fine ([Josephine] Courteau, and Phileram
Billiot/Courteau in an 1854 deed.!” No mention is made of
Rosalie. The deed transfers land originally confirmed and
registered to Louis Sauvage, but which had been acquired by
the Courteaux as an inheritance from the death of their
"deceased mother Marianne sister of Louis Sauvage [who] died
witkout children" (Terrebonne Parish 1854). This land
appears to be the same land that was confirmed to Louis
Sauvage in 1813 (ASP 1834a, 388).

BAR genealogists speculate that Marianne may have been of
Indian descent. However, no direct evidence was provided
or found to confirm this. It seems unlikely that an Indian
man would have married a non-Indian woman in the late 17C0’s
due to the marriage patterns of that time period. 1In

" Por an analysis of these relationships, see the discussion above

unde:rr section b., Rosalie’s Siblings.
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addition, Swanton’s informants report that Marianne had an
Indian name, "Nuyu’n," when she was baptized, which, along
with her sibling relationship to Louis Sauvage/le Sauvage
(whose name could be translated as Louis, "the Indian")
would suggest that she may have been of Indian heritage.
However, even when taken collectively, this circumstantial
evidence is not sufficient to credit Marianne with Indian
ancestry at this time.

Discussions found in the petition narrative (UHN Pet.,
Narr., p. 32) and in the report by Underhill (Underhill
1938a, 14) which link Marianne’s brother, Louis Sauvage/le
Sauvage, to Louis de la Houssaye/Hussaye could not be
confirmed.

In addition to the Louis Sauvage/le Sauvage who is mentioned
in land records previously discussed in conjunction with
Rosalie and Marianne, there was also an Indian named Louis
Sauvage living in Point Coupee Parish in 1806. A fair
amount of research was expended by BAR researchers in an
effort to establish whether or not the Louis in Point Coupee
(ASP 1834a, 388), and Louis, the brother of Marianne who is
noted in Terrebonne Parish land transactions (Terrebonne
Parish 1841a; Terrebonne Parish 1854), were one-and-the-same
man. Given the presence of other persons of the same
surname in the general area who were not identified as
Indian, it seems questionable that they were the same
person, given the distance between the two parishes both by
land and by water. Additional research in Louisiana land
records could possibly establish this link.

d. Rosalie’s Husband, Jacgques Billiot.

Rosalie is known to have been married only once and then to
Jacques Billiot, the son of Jean Billiot and Marianne
Enerisse [Iris] (U.S. Veterans Administration 1878a).

Jacques’ date of birth is unknown. He is reported to have
"died intestate [without a will] in the Parish of Terrebonne
on May 16, 1867," according to a 1968 petition to appoint a
provisional administrator to handle the settlement of
Rosalie’s and Jacques’ combined estate (Terrebonne Parish
1968). The 1968 petition for an administrator states that
Jacques’ death was recorded in Terrebonne Parish on May 29,
1868, as entry No. 9648. The May 16, 1867, death date for
Jacques conflicts with Rosalie’s own testimony wherein she
states that Jacques died September 28, 1858 (U.S. Veterans
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Administration 1878a). Jacques’ supposed death record,*
noted as entry 9648, was not submitted by the petitioner or
viewed by BAR researchers. Therefore no explanation for the
discrepancy can be put forth. However, lacking any obvious
explanation for the almost nine year difference in the two
dates, it is reasonable to place more weight on the 1858
date provided by Rosalie, because she was in a position to
have: had firsthand knowledge and she was providing the
infcrmation closer to the time the event occurred. The 1868
date reported in the 1968 petition for the appointment of a
provisional administrator was entered almost 100 years
later.

Rosezlie’s application for a widow’s pension (U.S. Veterans
Administration 1878a) states that Jacques was a widower at
the time he and Rosalie were married in 1808. His previous
wife is reported to have been Charlotte Louis; no
information other than Rosalie’s testimony was found to
corroborate this information (U.S. Veterans Administration
187¢a). Hebert’s twelve volumes of South Ilouisjana Records
were searched for further information on Jacques’ marriage
to Charlotte, but nothing was found.

Avaijlable evidence shows Jacques Billiot to be a non-Indian
(see: also discussion of Jacques’ parents, Jean Baptiste
Billiot and Marie Enerisse under "Other UHN Ancestors,"
VII1.B.2).

2. Marie Gregoire

No reliable information was found or collected concerning
Marie Gregoire’s parents or her date of birth, nor has any
record of her date of death been found (Westerman 1984, 19;
Field Data, Colliflower and McMillion, 1991a). Based on
"Fire Brands" (cattle brands) and deeds recorded in
Terrebonne Parish, her death is estimated to have occurred
after April 30, 1828, but before April 22, 1829 (Terrebonne
Parish 1828; Terrebonne Parish 1829b, 1829c, 1829d, 1829e).

According to information supplied by the UHN petitioner,
Marie Gregoire reportedly married Alexander Verdin on
February 1, 1800 (UHN Pet., ancestry charts of Narciss
Naquin, Rose Lovel, and Joseph A. Verdin; UHN resource card
for Marie Gregoire). Circumstantial evidence that this
union occurred appears in the 1860 application for a
marriage license of their son Jean Baptiste Verdin and

s By 1868, there were several men named Jacques Billiot in
Terr:zbonne Parish.
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Arcene Gregoire (Terrebonne Parish 1860). The license
identifies Jean Baptiste Verdin as the "legitimate issue of
the marriage" between Marie Gregoire and Alexander Verdin;
Arcene Gregoire is recorded as the "legitimate issue of the
marriage" between Joseph Gregoire and Constance Jaceau. All
parties in this document are identified as free people of
color.

The 1829 will of Alexander Verdun identifies Marie Gregoire
as a femme sauvage ‘Indian woman’ (Terrebonne Parish 1829f;
Miller 1992; Westerman 1984). Westerman states that Marie
Gregoire was a "Houmas Indian of the Biloxi nation" but
cites no evidence to prove this point (Westerman 1984, 20).
No information was provided by the petitioner or found by
BAR researchers to identify the name of the tribe from which
Marie Gregoire descended.

a. Marie Gregoire’s Husband, Alexander Verdin.
The baptism of Alexander Verdun ([Verdin] was recorded on

November 1, 1771, in St. Louis Cathedral, New Orleans, along
with the births and baptisms of three of his siblings
(Cathedrai St. Louis 1771, Alexander Verdun; Cathedral St.
Louis 1758, Marie Verdun; Cathedral St. Louis 1767, Jean
Baptiste Verdun; Cathedral St. Louis 1769, Jean Pierre
Verdun). All are identified as children of the legitimate
marriage of Jean Adam Verdun and Anne Dauphine who, in 1767
and 1769, were noted as residents of New Orleans (Cathedral
St. Louis 1767, Jean Baptiste Verdun; Cathedral St. Louis
1769, Jean Pierre Verdun).

oral histories state that the Verdins originally came from
"overseas" (Verdin 1978), or from Germany, and that "some
married Indians like Gregoire" (Dion 1981). Alexander
Verc.in’s will identifies him as a "native of" (i.e., born
in) what was then Jefferson Parish (Terrebonne Parish
182¢f). Two translations prepared by parish officials from
the early French Acts describe transfers of lana from
Billiots, identified as men of color, to Alexander Verdin, a
white man (Terrebonne Parish 1822b; 1822c). The marriage
record of Alexander’s son, Jean Baptiste Verdin (Terrebonne
Parish 1860), and the petitioner’s blue charts (UHN BC24;
UHN BC25) identify Alexander Verdin as a free man of color.
No clocumentation was provided or found to identify Alexander
Verclom as "Indian."

b. Marie Gregoire’s Children.

The petitioner’s blue charts (UHN BC25) list eight children
born to the union of Alexander Verdin and Marie Gregoire--
Paul.ine, Melanie, Ursain, Felicite Marguerite, Jean
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Baptiste, Victor, Eulalie, and Joseph. Only seven of these
children are mentioned in Alexander’s will [Joseph is not
mentioned] (Terrebonne Parish 1829f). Alexander’s estate is
divided into seven equal shares which are left to the
children of Marie Gregoire, deceased. The children are
described in the will by given name only (Eulalie, Pauline,
Melanie, Ursin, Felicite Marguerite, Jean Baptiste, and
Victore); each of the children is identified as a free
person of color, which would be appropriate for children of
an Indian-white union in Louisiana at this time. Although
the children’s surnames were not included in the document,
all children were, nonetheless, individually indexed in the
conveyance book under their mother’s surname, Gregoire
(Terrebonne Parish 1822f). A parent-child relationship
between Marie and five of her seven children (Melanie,
Felicite Marguerite, Victore, Jean Baptiste, and Ursin) can
also be verified using land records (Terrebonne Parish
182¢a, 1829b, 1829c, 1829d, 1829e).

Westerman speculates that "the marriage of Alexandre Verdun
and Marie Gregoire will probably never be found" and that
the reason Alexandre wrote his will the way he did,

not calling the heirs his children (but most of
them are proven children from church records), was
the fact there was a law that offspring of mixed
races could not legally inherit property. Their
parents’ marriage was probably according to Indian
customs, both parties appear to have been faithful
to the marriage commitment, but it was not
recognized bywhite (sic) law (Westerman 1984, 20).

"Interracial marriages were prohibited in Louisiana between

1807 and 1972," except for the period from 1870 to 1894,
when laws prohibiting miscegenation (marriage or
cohabitation between different races) were temporarily
repcaled (Dominguez 1968, 57). From 1810 to 1920, Louisiana
legally classed Indians as "people of color." This stemmed
fron a ruling by the Louisiana Supreme Court in 1810 which
defined “"people of color" to include persons who "may be
descended from Indians on both sides, from a white parent,
or Mulatto parents in possession of their freedom"
(Louisiana District Court 1810, Adele v. Beauregard, 1
Mar=.; Dominguez 1968, 34; Stahl 1934, 303; Mills 1978, 14).
It was not until 1920 that Indians were legally identified
as "non-colored" by the state of Louisiana (Dominguez 1968,
34) .
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An examination of the relationship between Alexander Verdin
and Marie Gregoire within the framework of the above laws
helps to bring their relationship into perspective. Based
on available records, a long-term relationship appears to
have existed between Alexander Verdin, a white man, and
Marie Gregoire, an Indian (who by Louisiana law was then
classified as a person of color, or "poc").!"” cChildren born
to that relationship were identified as persons of color by
virtue of their mother being a "POC."™ Because marriage
pbetween different races was prohibited, Alexander and
Marie’s marriage was not legal under Louisiana law after
1807. Thus, the children born to their relationship were
consiidered illegitimate.

Although laws against miscegenation were repealed for the
24-year period from 1870-1894, this was not within the
lifetimes of Alexander and Marie. Alexander did not survive
lon¢g enough to "legitimate" his children born to Marie in
the eyes of Louisiana law. Consequently, donations of land
made by Alexander in 1829 to his "illegitimate" children of
color by Marie Gregoire were later successfully challenged
by other Verdin heirs in Robinett, et al. v. Verdun’s
Vendees (Louisiana Supreme Court 1840, 914 La. 542;
Terirebonne Parish 1829a, 1829b, 1829c, 1829d, 1829e). At
thai: time, Louisiana law was especially stringent on
inheritance issues dealing with the illegitimate issue of
color of a white man. The court ruled in favor of the
plaintiffs, giving the following reasons:

Children of color (from a white person) are not
allowed to prove their paternal descent when they
have not been legally acknowledged; but this may
be shown by proof against them, by the adverse
party, in order to annul a sale made to then as a
disguised and simulated donation to incapable
persons (Louisiana Supreme Court 1840, 914 La.
542).

So, children of color (from a white person)
unacknowledged, cannot inherit or receive by

¥ 1n this report the terms "husband,” "wife," and "married" are used
for unions which lasted and/or produced children even though the BAR
researchers are fully aware that these unions were not recognized as legal
within the State of Louisiana.
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donation inter vivos or mortis causa”, even one
fourth of the ancestor’s estate; and, if by
disquised sale or donation, an attempt is made to
give them a greater amount of property than can be
legally disposed of, it is not reducible to the
disposable portion, but absolutely null (Louisiana
Supreme Court 1840, 914 La. 542).

Louisiana law regarding "persons of color," interracial
marriages and inheritance is very complex. Much has been
written on the subject.? One author summarizes the problem
by stating, "More about the people of color in Louisiana
might be written. It is a theme too large to be treated
save by a master hand" (Stahl 1934, 376).

"Inclian" ancestry has been established for Marie Gregoire
based on her identification as a femme sauvage ’Indian
woman’ in the will of Alexander Verdin (Terrebonne Parish
1829f). The tribe of Marie’s Indian heritage is as yet
unknown. Because Indian ancestry has not been documented
for Alexander Verdin, the seven children who descend from
that. union (i.e., all but Joseph) establish their Indian
heritage from their mother, Marie, and not from Alexander.

c. Joseph Greqoire, Marie’s Brother?
The ancestor card of Joseph Gregoire at the UHN headquarters

and three of the petitioner’s ancestry charts (Joseph A.
Verclin, Arcene Gregoire, Jackson Gregoire) suggest a
possiible sibling relationship between Marie Gregoire (wife
of Alexander Verdin, mother of Jean Baptiste Verdin) and
Joseph Gregoire, aka Jean-Baptiste Gregoire,? (father of
Arcene Gregoire). Such a relationship could not be
confiirmed.

®  ponation inter vivos means a gift in or during life; donation

mortis causa means gift in expectation of the donor’s death.

4 see especially, Virginia R. Dominguez, White By Definition (New
Brunswick, NJ: Rutgers Univ. Press, 1986) and "Social Classification in
Creole Louisiana™ In American Ethnologist (1977, 4:589-602).

Z 1850 U.S. Census, Terrebonne Parish, LA, Bayou Petit Caillou,
#338, shows: Jean-Baptiste Gregoir, 56, male, mulatto, laborer, born
Louisiana; wife Constance, and children Arcene, Helen, Pierre, Jackson,
Pelajie, and Constance. The household also contained seven Billiot
children (U.S. Bureau of the Census. Terrebonne Parish 1850c, p. 333,
hous:zhold 338).

51

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgement UHN-V001-D005 Page 98 of 448



Genealogical Report -- United Houma Nation, Inc.

Circumstantial evidence to suggest a possible sibling
reldthnShlp between Marie and Joseph/Jean-Baptiste can be
found in the marrlage license of Jean Baptiste Verdin and
Arcene Gregoire, in which Marie Gregoire and Joseph Gregoire
each appear as a parent and p0551b1y contemporaries
(Terrebonne Parish 1860). A series of cattle brands (called
"fire brands") recorded in Terrebonne Parish offer
add:tional information to suggest a sibling relationship
(Terrebonne Parish 1828). Table 8 abstracts fire brand
records to show the placement of Alexander and Marie and six
of their known children (all identified as children of
Mar:ie) in a block, followed immediately by Joseph Gregoire
with no stated relationship. Joseph is followed by Pierre
Cha.isson, who frequently served as a witness for Alexander
Verdin. The fact that the fire brands were recorded
consecutively on the same day suggests that the registrants
may have traveled to the courthouse together. The placement
of Joseph with respect to the family of Alexandre and Marie
and the fact that he and Marie have the same surname
suggests a possible relationship, although none is specified
(Teirrebonne Parish 1828; Hebert 1978b, 16-17).

TABLE 8
FIRE BRANDS RECORDED 4-30-1828, TERREBONNE PARISH
Name Brand Regis# Comment

Alexandre Verdun {gic) D/Vv 63

Marguerite VN 64 "dau of Marie Gregoire”
Marie Gregoire MG 65

Melanie MV 66 "dau of Marie Gregoire"”
Ursin HV 67 "son of Marie Gregoire"
Eulalie "EV 68 "dau of Marie Gregoire”
Jeanbapt:.ste {sic) B 69 "gon of Marie Gregoire"
Victore \'a'4 70 "gon of Marie Gregoire"
Joseph Giregoire J 71 {relationship not stated}
Pierre Chiasson PC 72

The names of several other "Gregoires" appear in UHN
gencalogy and in early Louisiana records. Familial
relationships between Marie Gregoire (the wife of Alexander
Verdin) and these other Gregoires could not be documented.
None of the other Gregoires noted were identified as Indian
by outsiders.

3. Jeanet, an Indian woman

Evidence to establish the Indian ancestry of Jeanet comes
fron the January 12, 1811, record of her marriage to a
"Joseph Billaux" [Billiot], which identifies her simply as
“Jeanet, an Indian woman" (Lafourche Parish 1811; Hebert
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1978a, 68). The record provides no information as to
Jeanet’s surname or tribal heritage.

UHN materials identify "Jeanet" as "Janet Houma", wife of
Joseph Billiot, with a daughter named Modeste, born July 2,
1812 (UHN BCl8a). Evidence was not provided by the
pet:.tioner, nor was evidence found by BAR, establishing her
surname. Nor was her tribal affiliation established.

Modeste Billiot’s December 1818 christening record at
Assumption Church in Plattenville, Louisiana, identifies her
parents as "Joseph Billiau" and "Jeanne" (no surname)
(Cat:holic Church. Diocese of Baton Rouge 1982, 100; Hebert
1978a, 68; LDS-IGI, LA 461).

That: "Jeanet, an Indian woman" from the Lafourche Parish
mari-iage record, "Jeanne" from the Plattenville church
christening records, and "Janet" from the petitioner’s blue
charts are one-and-the-same person is highly likely. No
conlicting evidence was provided by UHN or found by BAR
rescearchers.

One of the petitioner’s ancestry charts also identifies a
"Joseph Biliau," married the same day (January 12, 1811) to
a ".Jeanette Courteau" (UHN Pet., Ancestry chart of Lucien
Fitch, p. 2), with a daughter named Marguerite Bellome (born
1824, died at age 105 {c. 1929]). The surname "Bellome" is
significant because the "Modeste Billiot" who is the
daughter of Joseph and Jeanet also appears in official
records as "Modeste Bellhomme" of Terrebonne Parish who
married Joseph Prevost (Hebert 1974b, 41 (April 13,

1855]3). The published abstract of the record of their
marriage in Houma Church on April 13, 1856, lists Modeste as
the daughter of "Jeanette Courteand"; the father is recorded
as "name not given" (Hebert 1974b, 41 (April 13, 1856)).

The actual church record was not seen by BAR.

B Hebert (1974b) contains two citations to the "marriage” of Modeste
Belhomme and Joseph Prevost. The first, dated April 7, 1856, is a civil
reccrd in Terrebonne Parish, Louisiana (Houma Courthouse Marriage Vol. 4,
p. #17). This record is a marriage bond which references a marriage
license. It is not, however, a marriage return, as the citation in Hebert
suggests. Therefore, it can not be used to prove that the marriage
occurred; only that a marriage was intended. The second citation, dated
April 13, 1856, is to a marriage abstracted from the records of Houma
Church. A third citation comes from the LDS-IGI (LDS-IGI, LA 3615) which
repcrts this marriage as having occurred on April 30, 1856; the source of
this information is unknown. ‘

53

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgement UHN-V001-D005 Page 100 of 448



Genealogical Report -- United Houma Nation, Inc.

The petitioner’s materials connect this same Modeste Billiot
with an early UHN ancestor named Antoine Courteau. Based on
ava.lable information, however, BAR researchers conclude
thal: there were probably two Modestes in the area at the
same time and that the Modeste who married Antoine Courteau
was not the daughter of Joseph Billiot and "Jeanet, an
Indian woman." This conclusion was based on the fact that
the women appeared to be giving birth to two independent
families at the same time and because available records show
the relationship between Modeste Billiot and Joseph Prevost
to have been one of long standing (Terrebonne Parish 1842).

Available evidence shows Jeanet’s husband, Joseph Billiot,
to be a non-Indian (see also discussion of Joseph’s parents,
Jean Baptiste Billiot and Marie Enerisse under "Oother UHN
Ancsasstors," VIII.B.2).

B. Other UHN Ancestors

A large number of the UHN’s male progenitors were Frenchmen
who came to Louisiana in the 1700’s and are reputed to have
married. Indian women. That a large number of the UHN’s male
progenitors were Frenchmen can be substantiated by the
genealogical record; that they married Indian women has yet
to be established. For a listing of most of the UHN
progenitors and their ethnic origins, refer to Appendix B.
origins cited are based on information provided by the
petitioner or from official documents collected during field
research. The key to abbreviations used in the chart
appears at the end of the chart.

1. Jean Baptiste Billiot & Marie Enerisse, Parents of
Jacques and Joseph Billiot

A large portion of the UHN membership trace their ancestry
to Jean Baptiste Billiot (referred to in one document as as
Jean Pierre Billiot) and Marie Enerisse who were, according
to the petitioner, "with the tribe in 1787" and are
identified as the parents of Jacques and Joseph Billiot, the
respective husbands of Rosalie Houma Courteau and "Jeanet,
an Indian woman" (UHN 1985b, 35; UHN BC2; UHN BC3).

Marie’s surname has been spelled many different ways in the
records utilized for this report; virtually all variations

car be shown to refer to the Marie who was the wife of Jean
Baptiste Billiot and the mother of Jacques and Joseph
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Billiot. Some of the more common spelling variations®
include Marie Enerisse, Mariane Erice, Mary Eric, Marian(m)e
Eris, Marianne Iris, Marie Iris, and Marie Neriss/e.

That. Jacques and Joseph are children of Jean Baptiste
Billiot and Marie Enerisse can be documented in a variety of
sources. The following are just a few examples from
official parish records:

o A deed dated August 27, 1822, from Jacques Billot, a
man of colour, to Alexander Verdin for land to be sold
to his (Jacques’) mother, Marianne Eris (Terrebonne
Parish 1822a). Similar deeds exist for his brothers
Charles "Billeau" (Terrebonne Parish 1822c) and Jean
Billot, Jr. (Terrebonne Parish 1822d).

o A quitclaim deed dated October 31, 1823, from the
Billiot brothers (Joseph, Jacques, Charles, Jean,
Etienne, and Pierre) to their brother Michel who cared
for their deceased mother, Marianne Iris, during her
last sickness (Terrebonne Parish 1823).

o The marriage record of Joseph Biliot to Magdelaine
Gregoire, in which Joseph is identified as the son of
Jean Biliot and Mariane Eris (Terrebonne Parish 1826).

o Donations in 1855 from Miss Adelaide Billiot
(Terrebonne Parish 1855a) and Pierre Billiot
(Terrebonne Parish 1855b) to their brother, Jacques
Billiot, of claims they had to the succession (estate)
of their mother and father, Jean Billiot and Mary
Eric(e).

According to the petition narrative, proof that "Jean
Billiot and Marie Nerisse" were "of at least partial Indian
parentage" is found in a document recorded on page 485 of
Teriebonne Parish Conveyance Book 1 (UHN 1985b, 35). A copy
of he document in question was not provided. Inquiries to
Parish authorities produced a copy of the document cited in
the petition as Book 1:485; it had no apparent connection
with UHN ancestors. Subsequent inquiries produced a
phot:ocopy of a deed from Terrebonne Parish Conveyance Book
T, page 485, which is believed to be the document intended
(Terrrebonne Parish 1813). This document is a handwritten
transcript of a deed which was initially recorded in

% wWhere specific records are discussed below, names are spelled as
they occur in the record.
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Lafourche Interior Parish in 1813, prior to the formation of -
Terrebonne Parish (Lafourche Parish 1813). Terrebonne was
formed from “"Lafourche Interior" in 1822; the remaining
portion of the original parish then became known simply as
Lafsurche Parish (Everton 1982, 122-123).

The deed recorded as Conveyance Book (COB) T:485 transfers
land from Marianne Iris to Jean Baptiste Verdin. It is not
clear from the document whether the Jean Baptiste Verdin
nam2d in this deed is the son of Marie Gregoire and
Alexander Verdin or the brother of Alexander.® Marianne
Iris is identified as a free woman of color (Terrebonne
Parish 1813). The only information in the document which
could be interpreted as evidence of "partial Indian
parentage" is 'a reference to Marianne Iris as a "FWOC" (free
woman of color). If this were the only information
describing Marianne’s heritage, one could speculate that she
might have some Indian heritage because the definition of
peopple of color at that time legally included Indians
(Louisiana District Court 1810, Adele V. Beauregard, 1
Mart.; Dominguez 1968, 34). However, it is not the only
evidence. :

Other available evidence of the ancestry of Jean Baptiste
Billiot and Marianne Iris comes primarily from sources
discussed below:

o Documents in the 1809 probate files of Lafourche Parish
concerning the estate of Jean Baptiste Billau [Billiot]
strongly suggest that many of the items in his estate
were sold to his chrildren (Lafourche Parish 1809).
Family relationships must be established using other
available documentary evidence (Terrebonne Parish 1823;

Terrebonne Parish 1827). 1Items sold to children of
Jean Baptiste and Marie are typically followed by

Marie’s name and the word "Caution"®* suggesting that
Marie would make good on the sale if the individual
(her child] did not. The relationship between Marie
and the child is not stated. The children are not
identified as to race in the probate file.

® The 1813 date, at which Alexander and Marie‘'s son would have been
a minor, makes it more probable that the deed was to Alexander’s brother.

% The word "caution” which appears in this document is believed to
be the French word meaning surety or security. Except for the word
"caution”, the rest of this and other documents in the probate file are
written in English.
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Marie/Marianne is described in these probate documents
both as a free woman of color and a free negress
(Lafourche Parish 1809). Others purchasing from the
estate of Jean Baptiste Billau include
Courteau/Pourteau, "an Indian." Marianne Iris is
identified three times as a free negress on the sane
page with "Pourteau an Indian" indicating that, at the
least, the person recording the sale was distinguishing
between Indians and Negroes even though both might have
been classified as Free People of Color in other
contexts (Lafourche Parish 1809; Dardar 1992).

o One year later, a "Marian Billa/o__ " appears in
the 1810 census of Lafourche identified as a "Free
negress 60 year old" [who] "has land pays tax has
10 children" (U.S. Bureau of the Census 1810, 161,
line 24). "Courto a Savage" is enumerated on the
next line (1810, 161, line 25). The census is in
English, strongly suggesting that "Courto a
Savage" means that "Courto" was an Indian. As was
the case in the 1809 inventory of sale discussed
above, it appears that the census enumerator was
making a clear racial distinction between Marian
Billiot and Courto.

o Court testimony in 1917 in H.L. Billiot v. Terrebonne
Board of Education describes Marianne as a native of
Santo Domingo, which is described as an "Early name of
Dominican Republic and name of earliest settlement on
Hispaniola" (Webster’s New Geographical Dictionary
1972, 1060). Hispaniola is the island in the West
Indies, on which the countries of Haiti and the
Dominican Republic are now located.

o Fischer (1968, 137) reports that "Marie is said to have
been Spanish, and a one-time recipient of a Spanish
land grant." The public land claim (No. 370) of Marie
Nerisse was confirmed in 1812 based on a regular
warrant of survey from Governor Miro in 1788. The
claim notes that the "land was "inhabited and
cultivated by her on the 1st day of October, 1800" (ASP
1834b, 433).

o Oral history also credits Marianne with Spanish
ancestry (Billiot, Charles/Emay 1978; Lovell 1979;

Molinere 1978) and as "Pure Indian" (Billiot,
Alex. 1979).
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o] oral history regarding the ancestry of Jean
Baptiste [Jean Pierre] Billiot quite consistently
identifies him as French (Billiot, Alex. 1979;
Billiot, Ludovic 1979; Field Data, Colliflower and
McMillion, 1992b). Information about Jean
Baptiste Billiot obtained from ancestor cards at
UHN tribal headquarters in Golden Meadow and
confirmed by field research (Field Data,
Colliflower and McMillion, 1991a) describes him as
born in 1766 in France, married to Marie Enerise,
died 1798 at sea (Field Data, Colliflower and
McMillion).

Available evidence shows Jean Baptiste Billiot and Marie
Enerisse (Marianne Iris), the parents of Jacques, Adelaide,
Mictel, Joseph, Pierre, Charles, Etienne, and Jean Billiot,
to be non-Indians, therefore their children must also be
non-Indians. UHN blue chart #2, which diagrams the family
of Cean Baptiste/Jean Pierre Billiot and Marie Enerise,
erroneously includes two children (Alexander and Francois)
who descend from a later generation and fails to include
Jean/John who can be clearly identified in other documents
(Terrebonne Parish 1823 and 1822d). It also includes Agnese
(Agnes), a daughter of John Baptiste Billiot and Marie
Enerisse who is not mentioned in the documents discussed
above (UHN Pet., BC#2).

2. Louis de la Houssaye Courteaux, alias le Sauvage.
Information concerning the origins of the name "Louis de la
Houssaye Courteaux, alias le Sauvage" comes primarily from
four separate interviews with one couple and an "Indian
Identification Form" completed by the husband.

Through each of the interviews, the couple consistently
identified Rosalie’s father as "Louis de La Houssaye" (three
timas) or "De la housaye Courteau" (one time) (Billiot,
Charles and Emy/Amy Billiot 1978a and 1978b; Billjot,
Charles 1979). They stated that Rosalie’s father had
changed his name and that papers on de la Houssaye had been
found in New Iberia (Billiot, Charles 1979). No documentary
evidence was found or provided to corroborate the name
change.

The "Indian Identification Form" completed by Charle ([sic)
Billiot in 1940 refers to a "Houmas Reservation" in St. Mary
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Parish, Louisiana,?” and mentions an allotment (number 19)

to "Luice Dellahouse Corto" (U.S. Department of the Interior
1940] In answer to the question regardlng where allotted,
Char.es Billiot answered "Terrebonne Parish." How the form
shoulld be interpreted is unclear. The allotted land
referred to appears to have been located in Terrebonne
Parish and not on a Houmas Reservation in St. Mary Parish
(see below). What 51gn1f1cance should be attached to the
name "Luice Dellahouse Corto" is not obvious on the face of
the “orm, since elsewhere on the form "Charle" states that
his (lalm is for an oil field in Terrebonne Parish that
belonged to his grandmother, but had been taken away (U.S.
Depalr-tment of the Interior 1940).

Another interviewee identified Rosalie as the "daughter of
the chief, De Ba LaHoussaye Courteaux" but did not know more
abou: him (Billiot, Alex 1979). Rosalie’s father was also
iden:ified as "Louis de Sauvage" in another interview.
However, the name "de Sauvage" was suggested by the
interviewer and confirmed by the interviewee (Billiot,
Sylvest 1978).

The petition asserts that "Louis de la Houssaye Courteaux,
alias le Sauvage" was a chief, that "he acquired land for
the tribe from the Spanish government in 1787" (emphasis
added), and that these statements are "supported by federal
and parish documents" which are cited as "American State
Papers 2:432-433" and "Terrebonne Parish conveyance Records
I:157-158" (UHN 1985b, 32). The citation to the American
Stats Papers appears to refer to public lands settled by
Louis Sauvage prior to 1803 and subsequently confirmed to
him in 1812 by certificate No. 339 (ASP 1834b, 432).

The citation to Terrebonne Parish conveyance records at
pages 157-158 in Book I refers to land originally confirmed
to Louis Sauvage (ASP 1834b, 432; No. 339). The first of
the two documents found in Terrebonne Parish Conveyance
Records on pages 157 and 158 is a deed transferring the land
originally confirmed to Louis Sauvage from Rosalie Courteau
to a Mister Paroy (Terrebonne Parish 1841b). The second
document is Marianne Courteau’s acknowledgment that she had
given this parcel of land to Rosalie Courteau, her daughter
(Terrebonne Parish 1841a). Marianne is identified in the
document as the sister of Louis le Sauvage.

7 No other record of a Houma/Houmas Reservation in St. Mary Parish,

Louisiana, was provided or found.
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None of the documents cited above includes an alternate name
for Louis Sauvage (such as de la Houssaye or Courteau); none
describes Louis as a chief. There is no language in any of
these documents to suggest that the land is being held for
the tribe. The deeds do not specify how or why Rosalie
obtained the land other than that it came from Louis le
Sauvage via Marianne, Rosalie’s mother.

No evidence could be found to establish any connection
between a Louis de la Houssaye Courteau and Louis
Sauvage/Louis le Sauvage. Nor was evidence provided or
found to substantiate a father-daughter relationship between
Louis Sauvage/Louis le Sauvage or Louis de la Houssaye
Courteau and Rosalie Houma Courteau. Based on available
documentary evidence, Rosalie’s father was Houma
Courteau/Abbe/Iacalobe (aka Tough la Bay and various other
spellings) (see earlier discussion at VIII.A.l.a). Louis
Sauvage was Rosalie’s uncle (her mother’s brother) (see
previous discussion at VIII.A.1.b). Thus, the assertion
that Louis de la Houssaye Courteaux (aka, le Sauvage) was
Indian has not been substantiated. Nor is the assertion
that he was the father of Rosalie supported by available
evicence.

3. Margaret/Marguerite Houma/Bellome.

Information concerning the ancestors of "Margaret Houma"
comes from the oral history interviews of three individuals
who identify themselves as Margaret’s great-great-
grandchildren (Billiot, Cyril n.d.; Billiot, Cyril 1978;
Lovell 1979; Molinere, Lindsay 1978). Margaret Houma is
described by one informant as the daughter of a "Choctaw
chief" (Molinere, Lindsay 1978) and by another as the
daughter of the "chief of the Houmas" (Billiot, Cyril n.d.;
Billiot, cyril 1978). She is said to have died at the age
of 111; no year of death or birth is given (Billiot, Cyril
n.d.). A third informant (Lovell 1979) is reported to have
said of Margaret’s parents that one was Choctaw, the other
Comanche. Based solely on the placement of this information
on the ancestry chart which accompanies the oral history
interview, we can only speculate that Margaret’s father was
the Choctaw and her mother the Comanche.

One oral history interview infers that Rosalie Houma
Courteau and "Marguerite Houma" were sisters. When the
interviewer pursued the relationship further, however, the
informant stated that they were not sisters because they had
different fathers (Billiot, Cyril n.d.). It is not clear
from the interview whether they did or did not have the same
mother.
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A sibling relationship between Rosalie Courteau and
Margaret/Marguerite Houma/Bellome could not be verified in
official records. The Marguerite Courteau/Iacalobe who was
the sister of Rosalie died in 1822 (see discussion under
VIII.A.b, Rosalie’s Siblings).

Margaret Houma is reported to have married Francois Fitch,
Sr., "a Frenchman," during the "Confederate period"
(Billiot, Cyril 1978). However, the petitioner’s blue
charts for the Fitch family show "Francois Fitch I" as
married to "Rosalie Marguerite Bellome"™ (UHN BC38). Rosalie
Margaierite Bellome is reportedly identified as "Indian" on
her death certificate, but no certificate was provided.
Francois is also identified as being "from Oklahoma" (UHN
Pet., Individual History Chart of Francois "Sambo" Fitch I).
Francois’s granddaughter also states that he was from
Oklanoma (Verdin, Azelie Clodellia Fitch 1979). When
gueried as to which Indian nation he was from she said
simply "Just Oklahoma.” As to whether he was Indian, she
replied "Oh ya, he said he was Indian." Francois is
reported to have died in 1939 at age 115 years [i.e., born
about 1824]. His son, also known as Francois (Frank) Fitch,
is reported to have been identified as Indian on his death
certificate. The certificate was not seen by BAR
researchers.

A Frank Fitch, age 50 [i.e., born about 1810)], appears in
the 11th ward of the 1860 Federal Population Census of
Terrebonne Parish (Houma post office) with wife Marguerite,
also 50, and six children ranging in age from 10 to 21 (U.S.
Bureau of the Census 1860c, p.48, household 341). None of
the children are documentable descendants of the Frank Fitch
family listed on the UHN blue chart for the Fitch family
(UHN BC38) or the Individual History Chart provided for
"Francois ’/Sambo’ Fitch I (from Okla.)." On the 1860
Federal census, all members of the family, including Frank
and Marguerite, are enumerated as born in Louisiana. Aall
are recorded as "M" (Mulatto) as opposed to other choices
(white or black). Three households immediately following
the Frank Fitch household are recorded as "Ind" (Indian),
indicating that the enumerator was making some distinction
as to race. At the bottom of the page, the enumerator has
written "Indians and Negroes."?

B  pdditional research in the census would need to be done to
determine what the enumerator meant by the annotation "Indians and
Negrces.” Photocopies gathered by researchers do not include a complete
consecutive run of all pages for the ward.
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Information concerning the Indian ancestry of Margaret
Houma, Francois Fitch, and Rosalie Marguerite Bellome could
not be verified. A relationship between Rosalie Marguerite
Bellome and Modeste Bellhomme/Billiot could not be
established, given available information.

4. Marie Migolois.

Marie Migolois [Migoulois, Mingoloi, Margoulois] was married
first to Francois Courteau/Abe/Iacalobe who died about 1844
according to succession records in Terrebonne Parish
(Terrebonne Parish 1844). She married second to Jean/John
Billiot, who was by then the widower of Marguerite
Courteau/Iacalobe. No documentary evidence was provided or
found to establish "Indian" ancestry for Marie Migolois.
Descendants of her marriage with Francois
Courteau/Abe/Iacalobe can be counted among those who are
believed to have some Indian ancestry based on Francois’
established ancestry (see discussion under VII.A.l.Db).
However, descendants of Marie Migolois’ marriage with
Jean/John Billiot (son of Jean Baptiste Billiot and Marie
Enerisse) cannot, at present, be counted among those who are
believed to have some Indian ancestry because such ancestry
has not been established for either Marie Migolois or
Jean/John Billiot. For additional discussion of Jean/John
Billiot, refer to VII.B.1l, Jean Baptiste Billiot & Marie
Enerisse.

IX. THE GENEALOGICAL ROOTS III DATABASE
AND SAMPLING TECHNIQUES

Beczuse time constraints and staffing limitations did not
permit computerization of all of the genealogical data
provided, sampling technigues were used. All names found on
the UHN’s "blue charts" were entered into the genealogical
datzbase first because they accounted for a large portion of
the earliest three or four generations of the group’s
ancestors.

A. Preliminary Non-Random Sample

A preliminary non-random sample consisting of 25 living
persions was manually selected from the 18 feet of ancestry
and individual history charts of the UHN’s 17,616 current
members. In selecting this group of 25, BAR genealogists
made an effort to include representatives of all important
families, age groups, and residential communities. Families
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classed as "important" included those that were historically
as well as presently involved in politics, large families,
and/or surnames that were or are still common to the UHN’s
history and genealogy. Collectively, the ancestry of these
25 individuals included almost all of the UHN progenitors
identified on the group’s blue charts.

To expand the scope and size of this genealogical database
further, current tribal council members, their alternates,
and two ex-officio members of the council (i.e., former UHN
chairpersons) and their ancestors were added. A few others
from the general membership were also added. Four council
memkers and/or their alternates could not be included in the
database for lack of sufficient information to identify them
in the 18 feet of genealogical charts. Table 9 shows the
distribution of the non-random sample by age and residence.

TABLE 9
DISTRIBUTION OF NON-RANDOM SAMPLE
OF UHN MEMBERSHIP BY AGE AND PARISH
Distribution ‘Distribution by
by Age Parish (residence)
Age: Range - #persons Parish - #persons
10-19 - 1 Terrebonne - 10
20-29 - 3 Jefferson - 5
30-39 - 3 Lafourche - 3
40-49 - 4 St. Mary’s - 3
5(-59 - 2 Plaquemines - 2
60(~-69 - 4 out-of-state - 1
70~-79 - 3 no address - 1
80~-89 - 1
90~100 - 2
a¢je unkn - 2

Worksheets were then printed from the genealogical
database created for the non-random sample to show how the
individuals descended from the group’s earliest
ancestors/progenitors. Because these worksheets are printed
on pink paper, they are referred to as BAR’s "pink charts."

The pink charts were then annotated and footnoted with
genealogical data obtained from other sources, such as

copies of original and published courthouse and church
records, information from oral histories and other materials
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provided with the petition or collected during field
research. Thus the pink charts were used to consolidate
information about individuals from a variety of sources into
one location where it could be analyzed and evaluated more
easily.

B. Bystematic Random Sample

In addition to the non-random sample, a systematic random
sample was independently drawn from the total membership of
17,616. In order to compute the size of the systematic
random sample it was necessary to rely on the percentage of
those who descended from Indian ancestry from the
preliminary non-random sample (refer to Table 10). It was
estimated that a 1% sample would give a 4.1% plus or minus
margin of error.

A systematic random sample of 176 individuals was then
drawn. The petitioning group had assigned a registration
(merbership) number to each individual registered. There
was no discernable pattern to the numbering system. A skip
interval of 100 was established based on the size of the
sample. - The beginning number was drawn randomly from the
first 100-member registration numbers and was "81";
therefore, subsequent numbers in the sample, using an
interval of 100, were 181, 281, 381, etc.

Next,, the lineage for each individual in the systematic
rancom sample was traced back to the original ancestors
usirg the genealogical information provided by the
petitioner. All informetion in the Roots III database
regerding an individual’s ancestry was taken from
infcrmation provided by the petitioner on their blue charts,
individual history charts, and/or ancestry charts.

After the lineage of those included in the systematic random
sample was entered into the database, the sampling results
showed that 84% of the individuals sampled could be expected
to clocument some Indian ancestry (refer to Table 10). A 95%
level of confidence was used, with a 5.4% plus or margin
rate of error. The percent of the individuals sampled who
can be expected to have some "Indian" ancestry is between
78.6% and 89.4%. Based on these results, we estimate that
14,797 of the 17,616 individuals who are registered as
members of the group would be able to trace descent from one
or nore of the UHN’s three documented "Indian progenitors."
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TABLE 10

Roots III Database Composition
Percent

Sample* traced

Category Sample Size to

Indian

Random 176 84%

Non~Random 25 85%

* Current living members

The 1random and non-random samples differed by only one
percentage point.

X. ESTABLISHING TRIBAL HERITAGE (WHICH TRIBE?)

This section will examine what is or is not known about the
tribal heritage of the three progenltors of three
independent family lines present in the UHN membership for
which "Indian" ancestry could be documented.

A. llouma Courteau (Tough~la-Bay, alias Courteau of the
Beloxxy Nation)

Evidence of Houma Courteau’s tribal heritage is conflicting.
Terri:bonne Parish land records from the 1820’s identify him
as being of the "Beloxy Nation" [Biloxi]) (Terrebonne Parish
18222; Terrebonne Parish 1829qg). In the early 1900’s,
Swan:on’s informants described him as a Biloxi medal chief
(Swanton 1911, 292). Elsewhere in Swanton’s field notes, he
is identified as a Chitimacha chief (Swanton n.d.b). With
rega:rd to language, Swanton recorded "about 78 words and
expressions in the Houma language" noting that it was
"nearly pure Choctaw" (Swanton, n.d.b), but more recent
scholarship considers these words to have originated in
Mobilian Trade Jargon, which was the pidgin linqua franca
amony Indians of various language groups along the Gulf
Coast, from Louisiana to Florida (Drechsel to DeMarce,
1993). Oral history collected in the 1970’s says that his
daugater Rosalie was the last of the "Houma"” (Billiot,
Charles 1979).
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The most consistent contemporary documentary evidence
appears to describe Houma Courteau as Biloxi. Late sources
indicate he was possibly chitimacha or Choctaw.

B. Marie Gregoire (wife of Alexander Verdin)

No information was provided or found concerning the tribal
heritage of Marie Gregoire. Her parents are unknown.
Marie’s Indian ancestry was derived from her identification
as a femme sauvage ‘Indian woman’ in the will of her husband
Alexander Verdin (Terrebonne Parish 1829f).

C. Jeanet (wife of Joseph Billiot)

No information was provided or found concerning the tribal
heritage of Jeanet. Her parents are unknown. Jeanet is
described in her marriage record simply as "an Indian woman"
(Lafourche Parish 1811).

D. Other "Indian'" Claims

1. Marianne, wife of Houma Courteau

Oral history concerning the possible tribal heritage of
Rosalie’s mother, Marianne Courteau, comes from Swanton'’s
informants, who in one place described their grandmother
Marianne/Marion as an "Atakapa" from Texas, but elsewhere
said that she came from Mobile (Swanton 1911, 292; Swanton
n.d.a; Swanton n.d.b). One of these informants also
indicated that she was an Acolapissa (Swanton n.d.). No
other evidence of Marianne’s Indian ancestry was provided or
found. If Marianne Courtau [sic] (aka Marion) could be
documented to be of Indian descent, then Rosalie Courteau
(daughter of Houma Courteau and Marianne), could possibly
have been of Biloxi and some other tribal heritage.

Oral history also includes a number of references to the
possible tribal heritage of other UHN ancestors:

2. Moscow Indian Wife of Jean Naquin

Aleyander Billjot in 1979 stated that Jean Naquin married a
Moscow Indian girl (Billiot, Alex. 1979). When Alexander
was questioned further as to whether Moscow was a tribe or
just. a family, he speculated that Moscow was "just a family"
(Billiot, Alex. 1979). BAR research showed that, in fact,
Jean-Marie Naquin married Marie Gregoire’s daughter, Pauline
Verdin.
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3. Chitimacha Wife of Dion

The "Dion [name] came from [a] Frenchman who married a
Chitimacha and came to (?) Dulac area" according to Tom Dion
(Dion 1981). BAR research showed that Jean-Charles Dion
activally married Marie Zeloni Frederick, the non-Indian
dauchter of Bastian Frederick and Francoise Billiot.

4. Francois Fitch

Fraricois Fitch is reported to have come from Oklahoma
according to his children (Fitch, Wickliffe 1979; Verdin,
Clocellia Fitch 1979). When the interviewer asked which
Indian nation, the answer was "Just Oklahoma . . . he said
he was Indian" (Fitch, Wickliffe 1979). BAR researchers
were: unable to confirm Indian ancestry for Francois Fitch.

5. Margaret/Marguerite Houma, wife of Francois Fitch
Margaret/Marguerite Houma, the wife of Francois Fitch, sr.,
is said to have been "the daughter of the chief of Houma"
(Billiot, Cyril 1978). Cyril did not know the chief’s first
name, but reported, "his last name was Houma. He was chief
of the reservation." Later in the interview, Cyril
described the Indians of the area saying the "right way to
call them is the Choctaw." When the interviewer questioned,
"It wasn’t the Houma Indians?," Cyril answered "It was the
Houra Indians too in Terrebonne Parish, LaFource [sic]
Parish, Assumption Parish, where they was thrown . . .
together . . . old people used to tell me that" (Billiot,
Cyril 1978).

The ancestry chart of Maria Billiot Lovell identifies the
parents of Margaret, wife of Francis Fitch, to have been a
Choctaw and a Comanche (Lovell 1979). BAR has not been able
to confirm these tribal identifications for her.

E. Claims in Published and Manuscript Materials

A sampling of published literature and some manuscript
materials provides additional, equally generic references.

Hodge’s Handbook of American Indians North of Mexico
published in 1907, identifies the "Huma" (’‘red’) as "A
Choctaw tribe living during the earlier period of the French

colonization of Louisiana." The entry concludes with the
statement, "They are now supposed to be extinct" (Hodge
1907, 577).

Swanton reported that:
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Although they call themselves ‘Houmas,’ or, rather
‘Hémas,’ it has been intimated . . . that remains
of several other tribes, such as the Bayogoula and
Acolapissa, have been incorporated with them. To
these must be added Biloxi and Chitimacha . . .
and probably the remnants of the Washa (Swanton
1911, 392).

In 1317 Bushnell reported:

several families living in Terrebonne and
Lafourche parishes, near Bayou La Fource [sic],
claim to be of Chitimacha descent, although they
know some of their ancestors to have been Houma
(Bushnell 1917, 302).

Bushnell’s informant was an Abel Billiot, age 65, "’who is
known as a Chitimacha’ from Point-au-chien." However, this
man, whose full name was Abel Rene Billiot, was born August
9, 1853 (Hebert 1976b, Houma Church: V. 2, p. 75), and had
no documentable Chitimacha ancestry. His parents were
Joseph Rene Billiot and Henrietta Solet; his grandparents
were Pierre Billiot and Marie Jeanne, and Jean Baptiste
Prarialle Solet and Marie Genevieve Verdin. The eight
great-grandparents were Jean Baptiste Billiot and Marie
Enerisse; Joseph Jeanne, a native of Campeche, Mexico, and
Francoise (ethnicity unknown); Valentin Solet and Babet
Marie. The parentage of Marie Genevieve Verdin is not
documented, but she was not a descendant of Marie Gregoire.

Abel Rene Billiot was married to Pauline Creppel, one of
Rosalie Courteau’s great-granddaughters.

In 1938, Underhill stated that, in her opinion, "Houma has
become a generic name for a number of Muskogian remnants
which mixed and concentrated as the French and Spaniards
usurped the land" (Underhill 1938, 3). She went on to note
on the same page that "some 300 people of Indian descent
calling themselves Houma," were present in the parishes of
Lafourche and Terrebonne "in more or less concentrated
settlements ... though [they are] not organized as a tribe."

Speck, in 1941, when writing about plant curatives obtained
from Houma Indians, noted in a footnote that the present
population classified as "Houma Indians of Louisiana," then
estimated at 2,000, was comprised of:

elements of other Indian descent (early historic
Choctaw, Biloxi, Chitimacha), early Spanish,
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French and unspecified American, besides several
recent accessions of Filipinos by marriage (Speck
1941, 49).

In 1943, when writing about the "Creole Houma Indian
Trappers," Speck noted, without citation, that:

Swanton added a comment to his enumeration, saying
'The so-called Houma of today include remnants of
most of the Louisiana cocast tribes, in all degrees
of mixture, Indian, white and neqgro’ (Speck 1943,
137).

In 1979 Stanton repeated this same quote crediting it to
Speck rather than Swanton (Stanton 1979, 93).

Edision Roy, relying on Swanton’s work, reported that "some
Indians presumably the Houmas inhabited Terrebonne as early
as the end of the eighteenth century" (Roy 1959, 7). Roy
concluded that of some 200 "Indian" families living in the
Dulac community (Terrebonne Parish) in the 1950’s, most
"have some white intermixture and some with traces of Negro
heritage" (Roy 1959, 9). He breaks this down further
stat.ing that,

The native inhabitants are approximately 45 per
cent white ("Cajuns"); the remainder, a racial
hybrid people, are primarily of Indian and French
ancestry. About 10 per cent are tri-racial
(Indian, white and Negro) (Roy 1959, 10).

In 1.968, Fischer referred to the "Houma" as "so-called
Ind:ans" which is believed to denote "individuals who have
som¢ claim to Indian ancestry" (Fischer 1968, 133-4). She
noted that, "Approximately 2000 people identify themselves
prinarily with the Houma" (Fischer 1968, 135).

In :971, Stanton noted that they "identify themselves as
Ind.ian . . . they prefer to be called Indian . . . In the
histiorical and descriptive literature, they are often
referred to as Houma Indians" (Stanton 1971, 82). He stated
that: he "was not able to find any Indian who used this

des: gnation" (Stanton 1971, 82). Later, Stanton pointed out
that. literature referred to them as Houma Indians, but the
tern did not appear to be used locally by the Indians or
the.r non-Indian neighbors. He went on to state that the
group did not use the term Houma and resented, "even among
thenselves, those who use the word Sabine" (Stanton 1979,
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90). Stanton also cited Speck, 1943, who was quoting
Swanton.

Stanton claimed in 1971 that a 1795 record "states that land
in the southern portion of Terrebonne Parish was granted to
Frerch settlers who had married local Indians" (Stanton
1971, 84). However, closer investigation of Stanton’s
source provides a slightly different picture:

The parish Conveyance Records reveal that in 1795
a white man named "Carlo" Naquin was granted a
tract of land in the marshy fringes along the Gulf
Coast. It is stated that Naguin, a migrant from
France, another white man named Chaisson, and an
individual named Dardar, whose race in unknown,
settled in the southern end of the parish and
married Indian women (Parenton and Pellegrin,
1950, 149).

BAR research indicates that Charles Naguin, who arrived in
1785 and received the land grant, was Acadian. His
grardson, Jean-Marie Naquin, married Pauline Verdin, a
dauchter of Marie Gregoire, founding the UHN Naquin line.
The Chaisson family was also Acadian: it was not until
after 1850 that Andre J. Chaisson (aka Joseph Andre
chaisson) married Felicite Isilda Billiot, the non-Indian
daughter of Jean Billiot and Manette Renaud, and began the
UHN line bearing this surname, for which BAR cannot
estzblish Indian ancestry. Michel Dardar, from France,
married Adelaide Billiot, the non-Indian daughter of Jean
Bapt.iste Billiot and Marie Enerisse, in 1809.

The UHN petition states that "early courthouse records refer
to the Houma as the Courteaux Indians which was, most
likely, a reference to an extended family" (UHN 1985b, 27).
BAR researchers found no such direct references in official
records. One possible explanation may have been that "Loup
La Bay called Courteau Indian of the Beloxy Nation" was
interpreted as "Courteau Indian" rather than the more likely
interpretation "Courteau(,] Indian of the Beloxy Nation"
(Terrebonne Parish 1829q).

Avai.lable information regarding the historical tribe from
which the petitioning group descends is vague and
inconsistent. Researchers have tended to quote one another
freely, without further primary source research. When
quot:es attributed in print are investigated at the source,
one often finds that information has been restated upon
reprinting in such a manner that the original meaning is

70

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgement UHN-V001-D005 Page 117 of 448



Genealogical Report -- United Houma Nation, Inc.

distorted. It has not been possible to determine the
historical tribe from which the petitioning group descends
based on available published materials.

P. Conclusion Regarding Tribal Heritage

Based on the best information available at this time, the
specific Indian ancestry of the UHN progenitors from whom
the majority of the current UHN membership descends appears
to be as follows:

Houma Courteau/Touh-la-[B]ay/et al, and children
Biloxi; possibly Chitimacha or Choctaw
Jeanet (wife of Joseph Billiot)
tribe unknown
Marie Gregoire (wife of Alexander Verdin)
tribe unknown

Where Rosalie’s identification as "Houma" comes from is not
clear. It may have been associated with her father’s name,
Houma Courteau. It could also be that when she, an
"Incélian," settled in the Houma area in the 1800’s, that she
was identified as an "Indian of the Houma area," j.e., a
"Houma Indian." A connection to the historical Houma tribe
"could not be found in records reviewed for this report.

It is clear that a significant portion of the members of the
UHN have some Indian ancestry. However, this ancestry
cannot be reliably defined as of one particular historical
tribe or another or from historical tribes which combined
and continued to function as a tribal entity.

XX. MEMBERSHIP IN RECOGNIZED TRIBES

To cletermine whether any of the UHN members were also
enrolled members of two other federally recognized tribes in
the area, researchers reviewed the following rolls in Branch
of Tribal Enrollment files:

Missiissippi Choctaw

1-1--1940 Census of the Mississippi Choctaw Reservation
(Bureau of Indian Affairs 1940)

1-1-1941 Supplemental Birth Roll No. 1 (Bureau of
Indian Affairs 1941)
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11-18-1920 Annuity Pay Roll (Bureau of Indian Affairs

1920)

no date Annuity Pay Roll (received Office of Indian
Affairs 10/18/1926) (Bureau of Indian Affairs
n.d.)

June 1959 Tribal Roll of Chitimacha Indians, Charenton,

LA (Bureau of Indian Affairs 1959)

Although a few individuals of the same or similar surnames
could be identified on the above Choctaw and Chitimacha
rolls, there the similarity stopped. Given names did not
match those found in the UHN genealogy.

None of the current members were found to be enrolled in the
reccgnized Mississippi Choctaw or Louisiana Chitimacha
Trikes. An unpublished inventory of annuity rolls on
depcsit with the National Archives was checked for the
following possible tribal entities: Houma, Attakapas,
Bilexi, Acolapissas, and Bayogoula; none were found (Hart
1954) .

No evidence was provided to suggest that any of the current
memkers are enrolled elsewhere.
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UHBN'’S DOCUMENTED "INDIAN" PROGENITORS AND THEIR INTERRELATIONSHIPS
(*"Indian™ Progenitors in bold)

(Iacalobe/Abbe/ siblings
Touh-la-Bay) {(Nuyu’n/Marion)
JP/B Billiot = Marie Enerise HOUMA COURTEAU = Marianne Louis le Sauvage MARIE GREGOIRE = Alex Verdin
(dc1798) (bc1750) (d1841/54) (bpt1771-dbef1840)
Jacques (d1858/687?) = (ml808)—Rosalie (b1787-d1883) Eulalie (bcl1806)
Jean/John =ml(bef 1809) Marguerite Courteau, m2 Marie Migolois Pauline
Charles Francois = Marie Migolois Ursain (bcl822)
Etienne (b?-d1897) Marguerite = Jean/John Billiot Victor
Michel (bc1780) Antbdine Jean Bte (bcl820)
Pierre (1790-1880)
Joseph -. (m1811) =— JEANET, an Indian woman
Adelaide
Modeste Bellhomme = Joseph Prevost
Jos Celestin
Arthemise elicite Marg (bcl818;
Alexander o = [F
Jean Marcellus Melanie (bcl1819) -
Rosette

Felicité (bc1829)

Jacques Const/Bartholomew
Severin

??Bartholemy
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RACIAL/ETHNIC ORIGINS OF UHN PROGENITORS

based on available information

Key to Abbreviat.ions:

A/C; IHC = Ancestry/Individual History Charts provided by UHN
ASP = American State Papers

BC22 = Blue Chart #22 prepared and provided by UHN

dc;b = death certificate; born

fa;mo;s;9s = father; mother; son; grandson

FD DD 6/92 = Field Data, June 1992, UHN Headquarters

Not Houma = Not a Houma Indian according to UHN genealogist

0/HS8 Tom Dion =
Dion, in UHN petition
UHN anc Card
specific ancestor of UHN group

UHN_“Progenitor® Race/Ethnic Origin

BABE (see SOLET)

BILLIOT
Jean Pierre Baptiste from France
from France

German

from France
from France

Jacques

CHAISSON, Andre I/Andressi Not Houma
French

COURTEAU, Houma/Tough la Bay Indian
Indian

CREPPELL, August I Not Houma

from France

Not Houma
French

DARDAR, Michael

from France

DION
Jean Charles
surname irom Frenchman who
narriec a Chitimacha

b France

re whether Indian,
said "We don’t know.”

DUBOIS, Francois
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Oral History #58 collected by UHN researchers froam informant Tom

= Ancestor card prepared by UHN of information collected on

Source of Information

0/H18 Alex Billiot
FD Louis Molinere
H.L. Billiot v.

Terrebonne Bd of Ed
0/H33 Francis Gallet

0/H11 Marie Dupre

FD DD 6/92
0/H33 Francis Gallet

Terr. Parish 1822e
Terr. Parish 1829g

FD DD 6/92
August I‘s IHC

FD DD 6/92

UHN anc card (dau’s
baptismal record)

Leopold Psulin
Dardar’s IHC

dc of son Placid

0/H48 Tom Dion

0/HS6 Tom Dion
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ENERISSE/IRIS, Marie

FITCH, Francois I

FREDERICK, Bustian

GALLEY/GALLE'l, Francois

GREGOIRE, Marie

HOUMA (see COURTEAU)
IRIS (see ENIERISSE)
JEANET (given name)

JOHN _ )
Captain (fs of Genevieve)

Joseph Jesnne
LOVING, Lise

MOLINERE, Thomas

NAQUIN
Jean Marie (fa)
Jean Charles (son)

NERISSE (see: ENERISSE)

Spanish
Spanish
Spanish
San/Santo Domingo

Pure Indian
Free Negress

Oklahona

Oklahona

Pure French

Not Houma

Not Houma

Not Houma

looked Indian/

known as Indian

Not Houma
b France

Frenchman

Indaan

Indian

from Spain
Native of Mexico
English

Not Houma
from Rome [Italyl

Acadian
b France
b France
parents b Acadia

ismigrated w/fa from

France on ship,
St. Remy, 1785
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O/HChas/Emay Billiot
0/H17 Ludovic Billiot
FD Louis Molinere
H.L. Billiot v.
Terrebonne Bd of Ed
0/H18 Alex Billiot
J.B. Billiot Probate

0/H26 Azalie Verdin
0/H29 Coldelia Verdin
0/HS Lindsay Molinere

FD DD 6/92
UHN anc card
Marie Dion’s A/C

0/H6S Odelia Smith

FD DD 6/92

1880 Fed’l Census,
Terrebonne Parish

0/H33 Francis Gallet

Alex Verdin will
(Terr Parish 1829f)

Lafayette Parish 1811

0/H1S Valentie
Serigny Dardar
death record

O/H16 Louis Naquin
FD DD 6/92

0/H30 Elvira Nolinere
Billiot

O/H3 Manuel Naquin
BC22

Narciss Nagquin A/C
UHN anc card

UHN anc card
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PARFAIT, Frederick Not Hounsa FD DD 6/92

France 0/H48 Tom Dion
PRERIELLE (eee SOLET)
RENAUD, Annette/Mannette from France 0/H30 Elvira Molinere
Billiot
parents were French church record
SAVAGE/LE SLUVAGE, Louis Indian ASP 1834a
SERIGNY, Gergoire/Gregor from England 0/H1S Valentine
Serigny Dardar
SOLET/SOLEY
Valentine French church record
Babe FWOC church record
VERDIN, Jean Acdam (fa of Alex) Germany 0/HS56 Tom Dion
Overseas 0/H28 Paul Verdin
VERRET
Jacques French church record
Celeste l.amatte Quadroon church record
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HISTORICAL REPORT ON THE UNITED HOUMA NATION, INC.

SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE.

The petition for Federal acknowledgment as an Indian tribe
submitted by the United Houma Nation, Inc. (hereafter
referred to as UHN) maintains that the petitioner descends
from the historical Houma tribe, which was mentioned in
eight:eenth-century French, Spanish, and English colonial
docunents. The UHN membership undoubtedly has both Indian
ancestry, which can be traced to the early nineteenth
century, and non-Indian ancestry, which is traceable to the
same period. Since the mid-nineteenth century, residents of
UHN siettlements have been intermittently identified as
Indian, or as of Indian ancestry, Indian appearance, and/or
of Indian lifestyle. Since the early twentieth century,
they have regularly been reported in anthropological
literature as a mixed-blood Indian group.

Some individual ancestors of the UHN group were
unambiguously identified as Indian in local documentation
between 1808 and 1830. Most, but not all, of the UHN
ancestral population was enumerated as Indian in the 1860
Federal census. The sole firm tribal identification for any
of these Indian ancestors, however, both in deed records and
by oral tradition preserved in ethnologist John R. Swanton’s
1907 anthropological interviews, is Biloxi rather than
Houma. “"Houma" was used as a family name by this Biloxi
man, which may have contributed to confusion on the part of
outsiders. Oral tradition also recalled one Indian
ancestress as born in Mobile, and one as either Atakapa or
Acolapissa. Three other women in the founding generation of
the UHN ancestral group were just described as "Indian."

In acldition to these individual Indian ancestors, the first
two ¢enerations of UHN progenitors in the Terrebonne Parish,
Louisiiana, area included persons of European ancestry and
persons of mixed European and African ancestry. Since
settlement in its current location, which took place by the
first. decade of the nineteenth century, the UHN population
has increased significantly. In addition to large families
in the founding group, considerable interaction with the
surrounding population, from the first generation onward,
contributed to this population expansion.

By the beginning of the twentieth century, the culture and
language of the UHN were primarily Cajun French, though two

1
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elderly people recalled some vocabulary of the Indian
language, which was described by Swanton at the time as
beiny "almost pure Choctaw," although more recent
scholarship indicates that it was from the Mobilian Trade
Jargon. In spite of extensive marriage outside the group
and a high level of participation in the surrounding
socisty’s institutions (as indicated by membership in the
Catholic church, private landholding in fee simple with
convayances recorded at the courthouse, etc.), evidence
indizates that the UHN continued to regard itself, and to be
regarded by its neighbors, as distinct from the French and
Acadian cultural groups around it.

The petitioner’s ancestors resisted attempts by government
authorities in the second half of the nineteenth century and
first half of the twentieth century to pressure it into
amaljamation with those free families of color descended
from the antebellum slave population, particularly evidenced
in efforts by the Terrebonne Parish school authorities to
require the attendance of UHN children at "colored"
segregated schools. In this matter, the UHN’s ancestral
population continued to maintain internally and assert
externally that its Indian ancestry distinguished it from
other free persons of color in the region.

However, it is not manifest from the evidence that the
distinct nature of the community, although based upon pride
in Indian ancestry, was tribal. Because of population
growth, the UHN precursor group expanded during the
nineteenth century from its original location into the six
settlements found in 1907 by Swanton, who described thenm as
having few ties to one another and only informal family-
based internal leadership.

Reports compiled during the 1930‘s by researchers sent by
the Bureau of Indian Affairs accepted the community as
mixed-blood Indian, but no Federal assistance was provided.
Most efforts during this period were aimed at the
improvement of educational facilities.

The modern UHN organization did not formally incorporate
until the late 1970’s. Since that time, efforts of the
leadership have been directed toward strengthening the
group’s perceived Indian cultural identity and improving the
comnunity’s economic base.
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LOUISIANA INDIAN TRIBES, PRE-1800.
Since the UHN petition identifies the historical tribe from
which the group descends as the Houma, it is necessary to
discuss the history of the historical Houma trive in more
detail than that of the other small tribes of the coastal
area.

Colonial Context. The situation in which the historical
Houma tribe and other neighboring Louisiana Indian tribes
lived during the second half of the eighteenth century was
that of the competitive struggle among the French, Spanish,
English, and Americans for control of the Mississippi River.
The colonial regimes all generated extensive records, many
of which were researched in the early twentieth century by
John Reed Swanton, an ethnologist who studied the Indians of
the Louisiana and Lower Mississippi River Basin in
considerable detail (see Swanton 1911, 2-3; Beers 1989).
Only recently has historical scholarship attempted to delve
into the multi-faceted relationships which evolved, in part,
from the day-to-day situations confronting the participants
rather than from policy enunciated by formal governmental
authorities.

There were numerous players in the drama. Not only the
Eurcpean powers were involved through the French, Spanish,
and English colonists whom they sent directly to the Gulf
Coast. There were the coastal Indian tribes themselves.
There were French emigres from Canada and the Caribbean
Islands; English who came by way of the North American
Colonies; and Spanish immigrants who came by way of the
Canary Islands. Also, in increasing numbers during the
eighteenth century, African slaves of a wide variety of
geographical origins were brought into Louisiana. These
immigrants contributed to the development, along the Gulf
Coast from Florida to Louisiana, of one of the first
societies in the Western Hemisphere composed of various
ethnic groups and languages.

While the political and administrative network established
by the French within the Mississippi Valley was primarily
designed to link their own settlements from the Great Lakes
to the Lower Mississippi Valley, both Marcel Giraud, A
History of French Louisiana, Vol. One, The Reign of Louis
XIV, 1698-1715 (Giraud 1974) and Daniel H. Usner, Jr.,
Indians, Settlers, and Slaves in a Frontier Exchange Economy
(Usner 1992), demonstrate that this system did extend to
include the Native American and African populations.

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgement UHN-V001-D005 Page 129 of 448



Historical Report - United Houma Nation, Inc.

The prodigious bibliographical and archival materials
researched and analyzed by Giraud and Usner demonstrate
cons.iderable political, economic, and social interaction
between European administrators and settlers and the
resident Indian tribes under the French and Spanish colonial
systems. Indian groups were involved in local affairs.
They interacted with French and Spanish authorities,
especially in connection with land grants made by, or land
purchases made from, the tribes. The internal Indian
perception of these events is less well understood than are
the assumptions the Europeans made.

Economic change and cultural mixing did not proceed without
conflict and difficulty. At various points in the
eigh:eenth century, the Indian tribes were thrust into
situations where they had to determine whom or whether they
would fight, be the enemy Indian or European. Internal
factions within tribes and splits between factions
considerably affected the tribal social and political
makeup.

One of the effects of the Seven Years War, 1756-63, was the
readjustment of the political fortunes of the French,
Spanish, and English in North America (Lyon 1974, Chap. II;
Moor: 1976, Chap. II). By the last third of the eighteenth
century, the Spanish took over the administrative authority
of Louisiana, beginning in 1762, with the process
effe:ctively complete by 1769.

The iistorical Houma Tribe, Colonial Period. The Houma
tribs is believed to have been resident on the Tombigbee
River in modern Alabama in pre-colonial times. By the time

of first European contact by LaSalle in 1682, however, they
were in Louisiana near the Mississippi border. Evicted from

this village site north of Baton Rouge by the Tunica in
1706, they lived for a short time on Bayou St. Jean near
presant-day New Orleans, but by 1718 settled around Houmas
Point, on both banks of the Mississippi, near the headwaters
of Bayou Lafourche (Donaldsonville area). There are
scattered mentions of them in this same location during the
next 50 years. The 1758 comment by De Kerlerec, quoted by
Swanton (Swanton 1911, 290), that the Houma were reduced by
the consumption of alcohol, is found in an extensive 25-page
report on the Indians of the Colony of Louisiana. It
indicated that the Houma had been numerous, but now only
numbered about "sixty men bearing arms." The group was then
located half-way between New Orleans and Point Coupee. The
Governcr noted the strategic position they occupied and
indicated "great consideration is shown them" (Mississippi

4
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Provincial Archives [hereafter MPA] 5:212, Doc. 56; MPA
5:225, note 41).

For :he Spanish period, numerous political descriptions and
analyses have been used by historians to try to determine
wher2 various tribes were actually located at particular
dates in the eighteenth and the early nineteenth century
(for sources see Kinnaird 1979, 39-48; Sanchez et al. 1991).
The political background contributes, as does Usner’s
description of the eighteenth century economic system, to
reinforcing awareness of the possibilities for intercultural
mixinig among the riverain tribes of the lower Mississippi.
Anthropologists have made the assumption that the historical
Houma tribe incorporated remnants of several other small
coastal tribes during this period (Kniffen, Gregory, and
Stokas 1987, 78).

Usinjy the documentary record to trace the historical Houma
tribe2 in particular is a somewhat sketchy, though not
altojether impossible process. There are numerous
references to tribes such as the Bayogoula, Houma, Taensa,
Tuniza, and other tribes (e.g., Giraud 1974, 73; Usner 1992,
62-63, 85), often in the context of a multi-level and
interactive set of circumstances, rather than mentions of
one tribe in isolation.

Eighteenth-Century Maps. Two maps printed in the 1770’s
inclided the Mississippi River Valley and adjacent portions
of the southeastern area of what came to be the United
Statas. Both were based on scientific and historical
documentation available at the time and each contained
information locating the Houma and other Indian tribes in
the general area indicated by other documentation.

The carlier map was completed in 1765 by a Lieutenant Ross.
It traced the "Course of the River Mississipi [gsic] from the
Balise to Fort Chartres; taken on an Expedition to the
Illinois, in the latter end of the Year 1765 . . . .,"
including references to a number of southeastern Indian
tribes within the Mississippi River Valley drainage system.
Houma, Acolapissa, Alibamons, villages, forts, and French
settlements were all depicted, as was "Chackhumas" on the
Yazous River. The Houma, Alibamons, Bayagoulas, and
Acoliapissas are all shown along the Mississippi above New
Orleans, yet below Point Iberv1lle/Manchac (Report of the
Secretary of War, 1892).

The ?hird quarter of the eighteenth century saw the
publication of Adair’s History of the American Indians,

5
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published in London in 1775. James Adair was described on
the title page as "a trader with the Indians, and resident
in their country for forty years" (Adair 1775). Adair’s
map, while somewhat indefinite regarding Indian tribes in
the Mississippi Valley and Louisiana, noted a "Chakchooma"
location on the Yazous River, in an area ostensibly claimed
at the time by South Carolina.

Linguistic Evidence. Scholars have used linguistic
information to hypothesize a link connecting the historical
Houma to other tribes, specifically Choctaw. One scholar
noted that the Adair map (Adair 1775) indicated that the
"Chakchiuma originated from the vicinity of the Yazoo and
Yalobusha Rivers in Mississippi" (Albrecht 1946, 49), and
then asserted that the "Houma were once a part of the
Chakchiuma" (Albrecht 1946, 48). His theory was based on
the similarity and use of the red crawfish by both groups
and on a linguistic analysis that the Houma were essentially
"a Choctaw-speaking remnant group" (Albrecht 1946, 48). It
should be noted that Swanton did not make this
identification (Swanton 1911, 292-283). "Houma" was not a
term which pertained exclusively to one tribal group along
the Mississippi River. Humma or homma for "red" was "widely
used" in Choctaw (Albrecht 1946, 46-47) and related
Muskogean languages.' Linguistic evidence is not conclusive
in tying the petitioner to a historical tribe.

Historical Houma lLocations and UHN Tradition. The standard

description of the locations of the historical Houma tribe -
-that LaSalle located them on the banks of the Mississippi
in 1682, and Iberville visited them there in 1699 (Swanton
1911, 285); that they were near New Orleans in 1706, and by
1718 some distance upriver from New Orleans on the
Mississippi--does not square well with the UHN tradition of
a Coufteau grandmother who was born in Mobile (Swanton 1911,
292).

! The petitioner cites the Penicaut narrative of eighteenth-century
Louisiana is the source of the word "istrouma,” signifying "red stick"
(McWilliams 1988 [1953}; United Houma Nation, 1Inc., Petition for Federal
Acknowledgment, Exhibit (hereafter UHN Pet., Ex.) 1:24), but scholars’ reviews
of the eighteenth century documents note some linguistic confusion. While humma
or homma wis found to be a "true Indian source," the spelling of the prefix
"istro" does not conform to the Choctaw dialect.

? The tribes which are known to have moved from Mobile to Louisiana in 1764
include the Pascagoula (Swanton 1911, 305), Apalache, and Chatot (Swanton 1911,
156, 210). The Taensa, originally from Louisiana, had moved near Mobile in 1715
and returned to Louisiana shortly after the 1763 cession (Swanton 1911, 171,

6
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A background report prepared by the BAR historian surveyed
the movements and linguistic affiliations of all the later
eigh:eenth-century Louisiana tribal groupings in an attempt
to ascertain if any one of them more closely matched than
did :he historical Houma to the information which Swanton’s
informants provided to him in 1907 (Background History
Pape:r, BAR Files). Although several of the other tribal
groupings which came into Louisiana from Alabama after 1763
followed paths more consistent with Felicite Billiot’s
descriptions of her ancestors’ movements than did the
historical Houma, no conclusive determination was reached.
BAR research could not tie the petitioner to the historical
Houma tribe, but was unable to determine which of several
other possibilities might be the correct one.

De la Houssaye. The UHN’s oral tradition frequently cites a
supposed eighteenth century ancestor of the petitioner
refe-red to as "de la Houssaye." Speck reported that this
"Dalahousie Courteau" was the last chief and died about 1800
(Speck 1943, 213). He cited to Swanton 1911, but Swanton’s
field notes and published papers did not include the
Delalhoussay/Dalahousie reference: only one to Courteau.

Reco:rds of the Mississippi Provincial Archives name two
officers named La Houssaye who served in Louisiana. Jean

Richard P. de la Houssaye was in Louisiana by 1731 and had
been a lieutenant at Point Coupee in 1741, but was removed
from that command, probably for "maintaining an Indian
concubine"™ (MPA 4:97, note 14, Doc. 16). He later
antagonized a chief in 1749 while in command at Tombecbe--he
had promised a cow to the chief in order to secure the
favorrs of the chief’s daughter, but the chief complained he
did not receive the cow (MPA 5:15, 21-22, Doc. 2; MPA 4:97,
note 14, Doc. 16). He was forced to leave the colony in
1749, when Governor Vaudreuil requested his transfer due to
his "excessive familiarity . . . with most of our Indian
nations" (MPA 4:97, Doc. 16).

The second de la Houssaye arrived in Louisiana in 1750.

Paul Augustin le Pelletier de la Houssaye, after service in
the Arkansas and Mobile posts went to New Orleans as a major
in 1762. (MPA 5:97, 99, and note 5, Doc. 24; see also Arthur
1971, 204-210). Paul Augustin de Pelletier died November

210). One band of the Muskogee, the Pacanna/Pakana, also moved into Louisana
from Alabami about 1764 (Swanton 1911, 204). Only "some" of the Alibamu followed
the French from Fort Toulouse to the Ascension Parish location on the Mississippi
in 1762 (Gai:schet 1969, 88; Swanton 1911, 153-156).

7
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23, 1777, having served in the western area of Louisiana in
the Attakapas country (later the parishes of St. Martin, St.
Mary, Iberia, Lafayette, and Vermilion). He settled in
Attacapas District by 1771 (American State Papers (hereafter
cited as ASP) 1834c, 3:129-30, No. 50). His eldest son,
Louis le Pelletier de la Houssaye, followed in his father’s
footsteps and served in the military in the late eighteenth
century (House Rept. No. 28, 19th Cong., 1lst Sess., Jan. 26,
1826; Smith 1991, 177-204). Both this son (Louis) and
another son, in the Attakapas District, had extensive land
claims (ASP 1859, 4:455-457, 803-804), business ties to the
Attakapas Indians (ASP 1834c, 3:111, No. 81), and
documentable economic connections with the Prevost family
(Conrad 1992, 359), which BAR research has proven to have
married into the UHN’s ancestors.

GCenealogical certainty as to whether Paul Augustin de
Pelletier may have been the progenitor, or whether the more
senior Jean Richard was the connection (if, indeed, either
one was), may be difficult to ascertain. As no documentary
evidence of the de la Houssaye or "Dalahousie Courteau"
cited by Speck’s informants has been located, it is possible
that it was the early nineteenth-century connection with the
Prevosts that the oral history was recalling (for a
recollection of Louis de la Houssaye’s connection with New
Iberia in Attakapas District, see UHN Pet., Ex. 7:#209/10,

p- 1).

The Historical Houma among Other Historical Tribes: Acadian
Coast and "La Fourche des Chetimachas," 1769-1803. There
were many conflicts between Indians and colonists in
Louisiana during and after the French and Indian War. The
introduction of Spanish and English administration in the
lower Mississippi Valley, east and west of the River, as a
result of the European realignment, caused considerable
turnoil (Moore 1976, 64 ff.).

Cabcnocey, The History, Customs and Folklore of St. James
Parish by Lillian C. Bourgeois (Bourgeois 1987), states that
the central location of St. James Parish made it a natural
center for Indian groups such as the Houma, Chitimacha,
Mugulasha, Bayogoula, Washa, and Acolapissa’® (Bourgeois
1987, 1). No extensive, permanent European settlement of
this part of the coasts of the Mississippi River took place
until the arrival of the Acadians in the 1760’s. At that

3 fThe Acolapissa Indians had been residents prior to 1739, when the site
of their v.llage was purchased by the French (Campbell 1981, 27-28).

8
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time, modern St. James Parish was referred to as the First
Acadian Coast, and modern Ascension Parish as the Second
Acadian Coast. Although the Acadians were more numerous,
government administration remained in the hands of older
French colonial settlers of Louisiana who moved to the
Acadian Coast from New Orleans.

During the 1760’s and 1770’s, the intermarried Cantrelle
[also Canterelle], Judice, and Verret families obtained land
gran:s in the area of what is today St. James Parish, on the
western shore of the Mississippi River (Campbell 1981, 4-5;
Harrell 1992). Louis Judice, Sr., a son-in-law of Jacques
Cantrelle, Sr., was commandant at St. James from 1765-1770,
and then moved to Lafourche (La Fourche des Chetimachas) to
becone Commandant there. At St. James, he was succeeded by
Nicholas Verret, Sr. (d. 1775), another son-in-law of
Jacqgies Cantrelle, Sr. (Campbell 1981, 36-37, 47-48).

Verrat was succeeded at St. James in 1775 by Michel Bernard
Cantrelle, Sr. (a son of Jacques Cantrelle, Sr. and brother-
in-law to his two predecessors in office as commandant and
judgz of the First Acadian Coast). Verret descendants
settled in Ascension and Lafourche Parishes as well. The
personal background and connections of the government
offizials in the area are prerequisites for understanding
settlement patterns, as these men were also the largest
landowners and it is primarily the records they created,
rathar than accounts by occasional travellers, upon which
systematic research must depend.

Census Records. The number of Indians residing along the
Mississippi River’s banks in Louisiana in the last third of
the esighteenth century was not large. Local officials knew
in considerable detail who and where they were.! Because of
the mixing-bowl effect that the close residential proximity
of a number of small tribal groupings had, it is effectively
impossible to discuss the historical Houma tribe during the
last third of the eighteenth century independently from the
other "small nations" living in the same neighborhoods. The
questions to be answered are, essentially: (1) what became
of each of these Indian groups; and (2) can any of these
groups be documented as having been the community of origin
for the UHN?

In his Journal, Notes on the Country along the Mississippi
from Kaskaskia to New_Orleans, Captain Harry Gordon wrote on

‘ For more detail on the individual tribes other than Houma, see

Historian's Background Report (attached to this Proposed Finding as an appendix).

2
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Octoper 14, 1766, that the colony of New Orleans was
inhabited on both sides of the Mississippi for 20 leagues
(approximately 60 miles) above the town. The population
included not only "poor Acadians," but also "about 150 Houma
and like number of Alibamu" (Bourgeois 1987, 13-14).

The 1766 Spanish census of Indian villages and tribes taken
in 1766 in the colony of Louisiana has been published
(Voorhies 1973, 164-166). At Cabannocey, on the right
(west) bank, some 20 leagues upriver from New Orleans, were
a Taensa village (pop. 21) and a Houma village (pop. 14); at
"Humas Coast" on the left (east) bank, about 22 leagues
upriver from New Orleans, were an Allibamont [sig¢c] village
(pop. 27) and a Houma village (pop. 58). The census of
1769 specified quite precisely that this "Land occupied by
Alibamu Indians" and "Land Occupied by Houma Indians" was
located between the concession of Pierre Blanchard and the
concession of Jean Sonne on the Acadian Coast (Bourgeois
1987, 178). The 1769 census also placed a Taensa Indian
village in St. James Parish (on the site of an earlier
Bayogoula village).’

Louis Judice’s 1768 "Resencement des Sauvages Dependants de
la Coste" [Census of the Dependant Indians of the Coast] at
Cabbanocey went into somewhat more detail (Papeles
Procedentes de Cuba (hereafter cited as PPC), 1772-1797):

Taensa® little nation, left bank, Mingo Mastabe, chief

men 12
women 12
boys 11
girls 10 TOTAL: 45

* Far:her north, near Pointe Coupee (Punta Cortada in Spanish}, described

as "below the little River of Plaquemine, above False River, further downstream
from Pointe Coupee,” on the right (west) bank, were two Chitimacha villages (pop.
22, respectively), and one Allibamont village (pop. 9). On the left (east) bank,
"six leagues, more or less, above the bridge of Pointe Coupee," were one Tunica
village (pcp. 33), one Istagula village (pop. 5), and one Chakta village (pop.
3) (Voorhies 1973, 164).

¢ In 1805, Sibley reported the Taensa (Tenisaw), with 25 men, as emigrants
from the Tensaw River that ran into Mobile Bay; they had been on Red River about
40 years, in a village within one mile of the Pascagoula, but were planning to
move to Bavou Boeuf. All spoke French and Mobilian {a southeast coast trade
jargon) (ASP 1832, 4:725). There is documentation pertaining to a Taensa land
gsale on bo:h sides of Red River in Rapides District, below the lands of the
Pascagoula, in 1803. The sale included lands occupied by the Apalache and
Coushatta (ASP 1834b, 2:796-797, No. 126; ASP 1834b, 2:801).

10
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[S/C(?)uana or] Alabamon’ nation, right bank, Mingos Canebe,

chief

men 27

women 28

boys 17

girls 15 TOTAL: 87
Cocteau [Hoctahenja) or Alibamon village, Mingo Titabe,
chief

men 23

women 31

boys 32

girls 31 TOTAL: 117

Houra® nation, right bank, Mingos Atthanabe, chief; Calabe
alsc chief

men 40
women 40
boys 60
girls 90 TOTAL: 230

These basic numbers serve as a starting point for analysis.

Interaction with European Settlers. In his study of Acadian
settlement, Brasseaux located the historical Houma tribe on
the west side of the river, in present-day Assumption
Parish, in the 1770’s and 1780’s (Brasseaux 1987, 182-183).
However, they also had a more general presence in the
region—--they were also on the east bank and in St. James and
elsewhere in Ascension Parishes as well. BAll of these
locations were along the banks of the Mississippi River

7 By 1805, sibley reported that the Alabamas, from West Florida off the
Alabama River, settled on the Red River about the same time as the Bolusca and
Apalache. They had lived about 16 miles above Bayou Rapide until 1804, when
most, about. 30 men, moved up the Red River near the Caddoes. Another party of
Alabamas, about 40 men, had been in the Opelousas District ever since coming from
West Florida, their village being located 35 miles northwest of the Opelousas
church. He reported that the Alabamas spoke Creek, Choctaw, Mobilian, most of
them French, and some of them English (ASP 1832, 4:724). The land of the
Alabamas irn Rapides District was contiguous to that of the Choctaw, Pascagoula,
and Biloxi (ASP 1834b, 2:802-803).

' sibley‘’s 1805 report on Louisiana Indians indicated that "a few of the

Humas" were¢ still on the east side of the Mississippi near Manchac, but stated
that they 'scarcely exist as a nation" (ASP 1832, 4:725). 1In the same report,
Sibley also stated that the Attakapa, about 50 men, were living in a village
about 20 miles west of the Attakapas District church. Tunica and Houma who had
married ini:o the group raised the total number of men to about 80 (ASP 1832,
4:724).

11
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norta of New Orleans, near the confluence of the Mississippi
with Bayou Lafourche. Although no mention of Indian
presance is found in the published local records, which deal
exclusively with land conveyances, marriage contracts, and
other legal matters pertaining to European settlers (Behrman
1981; Behrman 1985), the correspondence of Judice, the
Spanish commandant at St. James and Lafourche, preserved in
the Papeles Procedentes de Cuba, from the 1770’s and 1780’s,
contains frequent reference to Indian residents--some of
whom were Houma, but by no means all of whom were Houma:
when Judice confronted local Houma with allegations of
cattle stealing in 1772, their reply was that the Taensa and
Alibamu had done it (Corbin 1981, [1]).

The same year, in discussing a palisade that the Houma had
built to defend their village against the Talapouche, Judice
indicated that Taensa, Chitimacha, Tunica, "Hoctchianya",
and Pacana'were also in the area, though the Tunica had
abanioned their village and gone to Pointe Coupee (Corbin
1981, [2]). The Houma were going to take over the site of
an avpandoned Chitimacha village near Lafourche, about three-
fourths of a league from the river on the left (east) bank
of tae bayou (Corbin 1981, (3]).

Throaghout the 1770’s, the correspondence of the commandants
indicated that these "small tribes" moved back and forth
exteansively. They went across the river to talk to the
English Indian agent at Manchac. They went as far west as
Opelousas and returned, while Atakapa and Opelousa also came
into the Lafourche area. There were repeated conflicts
amony the various groups (Corbin 1981, [5-7, 13]), but there
were also other types of interaction. Judice mentioned one
Houma-Chickasaw marriage that had taken place in the
previous generation (Corbin 1981, [7]). The daughter of
this marriage "ran off"™ to the Alibamon village with a
Chicikasaw (Corbin 1981, [9]).° Pascagoulas (possibly from

° In more detail, a young Indian elave woman (who is not named in the

translation submitted in the historical document #23 with the petition) ran away
from her manter, a man with whom she was living. He was a "former Illinois post
commandant” (PPC, Roll 189B, August 1775; UHN Pet., Ex. 1 #23, p. 7). She was
apparently the niece of the Houma Chief, Calabee. Her mother was a Houma who
married a Chiickasaw. The Houma wanted her master to free her. She had moved in
with a Frenchman named Larteaux, yet later ran to an Alibamon [gic) village with
a Chickasaw. The French official, Louis Judice, sent Calabee, Larteaux, and
:ggee women to "fetch her," (PPC, Roll 189B, August 30, 1775; UHN Pet., Ex. 1
¢+ P 9).

The Frenchman Larteaux was apparently protected by the Alibamons. These
events indicate that special consideration was given to one Indian slave woman's
disappearan:ce and return.

12
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the Red River area in Pointe Coupee Parish) had come to town
and "gone after" some Houma women (Corbin 1981, [8, 16]).
Essentially, the continuing interaction among the small
tribes was so close that it became more and more difficult
and artificial for European administrators to distinguish
them from one another.

In 1775, some Biloxi were in Pointe Coupee near the Tunica
and both groups were associating with the Choctaw (Corbin
1981, [10-11]), while some Choctaw raiders had taken refuge
with the Houma (Corbin 1981, [8]). 1In 1779, one Arkansas
killed another in the Chitimacha village, and Judice was of
the opinion that the whole affair had been "fomented by the
malice of the Houmas" (Corbin 1981, [20]).

Calabee was noted as a Houma chief in records relating to a
land sale. Judice’s October 1, 1775, to the Governor of
Louisiana, Unzaga, stated that the "Houma chief" (probably
Matiabee!’) was descending the Mississippi with several
tribesmen to visit the Governor (UHN Pet., Ex. 1:#16).
Judice voiced the Houma chief’s concern that Calabee would
receive a present without passing it along to the other
members of the group, added that he had attempted to
restrain the others from going to Unzaga, and proposed
Unzaja send the present to him for distribution to the five
or six tribesmen who would receive the annual present (UHN
Pet. Ex. 1:#16; see also: PPC, Roll 189B, p. 277, Feb. 4,
1776; Mar. 18, 1776; UHN Pet. Ex. 1:#23, p. 9).

Thers was a split within the Houma tribe at the time.
Referring to the sale of October 1774, made by Calabee, of
"its village site" (UHN Pet., Ex. 1:#16; see also: Senate
Doc. 45, 28th Cong., 2d Sess., January 13, 1845, for
docunents) Judice indicated (1775) that the Houma actually
had divided into "three villages." Calabee, with about 20
men, remained on the site on the left bank of the
Mississippi River sold to Mr. (William) Conway; "the chief
[Matiabee?]" with an almost equal number, had retired to
anotier "site two and one-half leagues above [that of
Calabee’s village)]" and established a village 20 arpents

'  In addition to Calabee, the name Matiabee (Natchiabee) appears in a

number of entries in the PPC, where he is referred to in several as the young or
only real chief of the Houma (PPC, UHN Pet., Ex. 1:#23, p. 9, 2, February 4, 1776
and March 18, 1776; UHN Pet., Ex. 1:#23, p. 20, Oct. 4, 1778).
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from the river.!! In addition, "one Tiefayo, with eight
families, has withdrawn to the LaFourche" (UHN Pet., EX.
1:#16). This location was near Donaldsonville, at the far

north of Bayou Lafourche where it met the Mississippi River,
and was not indicative of a migration of the historical
Houma tribe at this time into lower Bayou Lafourche or lower
Bayocu Terrebonne.

On the basis of Judice’s description of their size, the two
contingents of approximately 20 men, with their families,
and the third under Tiefayo, may well have totaled less than
100 persons. At the time of this letter Judice was
attempting to have "these tribes" which he indicated were
the cause of complaints and disorder among themselves, move
to lafourche. This may shed light on the movement of
Tiefayo to Bayou Lafourche, though the correspondence
indicates that Judice was referring to the former Chitimacha
village site near the confluence of the bayou and the
Mississippi--not to the lower Lafourche area as asserted in
the petition. Therefore, the late colonial movements of the
historical Houma tribe as described and the names of its
leaders as given in the PPC do not provide a link between it
and the ancestors of the petitioner.

In summary, by the 1770’s the historical Houma are clearly
documented as having been settled in the parishes of St.
Jame:s and Ascension, on the Mississippi River above New
Orleans, but they were not living in isolation. The 1770’s
witressed considerable, if not perpetual, conflict among the
Houma and their neighbors, including other Indians, the
Talzpouches and the Chitimacha, the Attakapa and Opelousa,
as well as European settlers and African slaves (PPC, #23,
Nos. 2, 3, 5, 6, 16, 17, 18, 31, 32, 33). The documents
provide no indication that any of the ancestors of the UHN
petitioner were, during the 1770’s and 1780’s, living among
the historical Houma tribe.

Descriptions by Observers. The most concise generally
available picture of the status of the Indian "petites

nations" in Louisiana during the early 1770‘s (Rea 1970, 13-
14) is Robert Rea’s article on the career of John Thomas,
the English representative who had been involved in the

! It was probably this group that Jefferson’s 1803 report to Congress on

Ir.xdigns. it'\ Louisiana described as follows: "on the eastern bank of the
Mississippi, about twenty five leagues above Orleans, are the remains of the
?agzgn of Houmas, or red men, which do not exceed sixty persons” (ASP 1834a,
H ).
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establishment of Fort Bute on the east bank of the Iberville

River at Manchac since 1764 (Rea 1970, 6-

7). When Thomas

returned to Manchac as Deputy to the Indian Superintendent
of the Province of West Florida in 1771, his instructions
included that he was to travel the Mississippi from New
Orleans as far north as Natchez, "noting the various Indian
tribes and traders, and then to return to Manchac and reside

there while cultivating the good will of

the surrounding

tribes and the neighboring Spaniards" (Rea 1970, 12).

The Indians who came under John Thomas’ purview

and were usually referred to as the
consisted of remnants and survivors
groups once established on the Gulf
Mobile and along the rivers between
and the Mississippi. They had been

Small Tribes
of numerous
Coast west of
the Tombeckby
driven inland

and westward by the more powerful Chickasaw,
Choctaw, and Creeks, and in 1771 they eked out an
existence on either side of the Mississippi,
hunting and planting wherever they could find
safety, dreaming of returning to the coastal
plain. The Houmas were the first tribe north of
New Orleans and were located about twenty-five
leagues above the town. They numbered between
thirty and forty-six men and were firmly attached
to the masters of the Isle of Orleans. A league
below Manchac, Plaguemines creek entered the
Mississippi from the west, and there were found
some thirty families of Tensa, Pacanna, and
Mobilien Indians; farther up the bayou lived fifty
to fifty-eight Chittamachas, Attacappas and
Opelousas. The Alabamas lived a half-league below
Manchac, on the Spanish side, and numbered thirty-
five or forty warriors. Near Point Coupee was
located a band of fifteen Chittamachas, and a
league above the Spanish post, the Tonicas, some
thirty-five families strong, occupied the English
shore. Across the river from there were ten or a
dozen Choctoes [probably Chatot; possibly
Choctaw], so few in number that their chief
Illetaska described himself as the sole survivor
of the tribe and depended upon the Biloxies for
safety. Two leagues further north were nearly one
hundred Biloxies, refugees driven from the
Pascagoula River to the banks of the Amite and
thence to the Mississippi. As recently as 1771,
they had fled to the Spanish side in fear of
Choctaw raids, as had fifteen or so Pascagoula
warriors. Several smaller groups had separated
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from these tribes and were settled on the Red
River where security had bred civilization and it
was reported that they had built themselves a
churcn (Rea 1970, 13; 14 n. 10, citing "Charles
Stuart’s List of the Several Indian Tribes, c.
November 1772"; Thomas to J. Stuart, December 12,
1771, in Haldimand Papers).

All these tribes were declining, the number of
their warriors being estimated at somewhere
between 200 and 250, but their very weakness
enabled them to move back and forth across the
Mississippi as they pleased. The Biloxies and
Pascagoulas, for example, planted corn on the
English side of the river but resided on the
Spanish side. All of the tribes were eager to
trade with any white men (Rea 1970, 14).

In 1784, Thomas Hutchins, a British officer reported that
there were about 25 Houma warriors at a village 60 miles
from New Orleans, also an Alabama village with 30 warriors,
and three miles further on, a Chitimacha village with 27
warr.ors (Hutchins 1969%, 39).

Judice’s references to Houma at Lafourche (living on the
site of the former Chitimacha village near Donaldsonville)
cont:inued in 1784, 1785, and 1787 (Corbin 1981, [26-27,
29]). In 1790, 1793, 1796, and 1797, Verret wrote
ment.ioning Naquiabee, chief of the Houma of Lafourche, to
the governor (Corbin 1981, [30-~31, 34-35]), but aside from
those occasions, mentions of Indians gradually dropped out
of the correspondence from the Lafourche commandant. During
this period, most of the "petites nations" migrated from the
Mississippi to the Red River and Bayou Boeuf areas in
centrral Louisiana (see Background History Paper, BAR Files).
Indian concerns continued to be prominent in the
corraspondence of commandants further to the north and west,
and continued to indicate extensive interaction among the
variosus small tribes (Corbin 1981, [30-38]). The
disappearance of such mentions from the correspondence of
the administrators in the Mississippi River parishes
probably indicates that none of the small tribes were still
living there.

The Historical Houma, Early U.S. Administration. Several
items printed in the American State Papers and The

Territorial Papers of the United States, Vol. IX, The
Territory of Orleans, 1803-1812 indicate the interest of

observers in the Indian groups at the time of U.S.
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assunption of sovereignty over Louisiana. President
Jefferson’s letter to Congress, November 14, 1803, entitled
"Description of Louisiana," states that the Houma did not
exceed 60 persons (ASP 1834a, 1:349, Report No. 164).
Jefferson had taken the information from a letter, dated
September 29, 1803, to Secretary of State James Madison from
Daniel Clark detailing the Louisiana Indian tribes along the
Miss:.ssippi and other important rivers and bayous.

Jefferson utilized Clark’s letter to Madison on the Indian
population in its entirety, making no substantive changes.

Two vears later, John Sibley indicated that the Lower
Miss:issippi Valley tribes were experiencing constant
movenent and interaction among groups or remnants of various
tribes. Sibley noted that some Tunicas and Humas [sic] were
"mari-ied in" to the Atakapas, in a village near Quelqueshoe
[Calcasieu, later Opelousas District), about 20 miles west
of the Attakapas Church (ASP 1832 {Indian Affairs], 4:724).
The addition of the Houma and Tunica had increased the
number of men at this settlement, which was a considerable
distance (50 to 80 miles) west of the UHN ancestral
settlement along the bayous in Lafourche and Terrebonne
Parishes (Swanton 1911, 291-292). For a land claim based on
an 1801 purchase from an Indian of the Calcasieu settlement,
see 1"the American State Papers (ASP 1834c, 3:113, No. 96) .7

Sibley in the same report (ASP 1832, 4:721-725, No. 113;
Annals of Congress, 9th Cong., 2d Sess., 1076-1088)
indicated that "a few of the Humas [were] still living on
the cast side of the Mississippi, in Insussees [bad mis-
spelling of Ascension?] parish, below Manchac, but scarcely
exisi:ed as a nation" (ASP 1832, 4:725). By way of contrast,
the only Indians reported in Lafourche Parish by Sibley in
1805 were not Houma, but five Washas, scattered in French
families (ASP 1832, 4:725). This reaffirmed what Clark’s
letter had indicated in 1803. It was land in this area,
sold by Calabee in 1774, which subsequently was referred to
as the "Houmas Claim" (Sen. Doc. 144, 25th Cong., 2d Sess.,
Jan. 29, 1838; S. Report 45, 28th Cong., 24 Sess., Jan. 13,
1845, . Daniel Clark, who purchased the Houma’s property in
the area, sold it to General Wade Hampton in 1812. 1In the
1850's the property passed to John Burnside, after which

2 Alavamas were also in this area. HYLAIRE, sauvage Alibamon legitmate

according to their laws, son of Payancabe & Fic SCHONQUE, sauvages Alibamons, b.
1 Aug. 1815, bt. 16 July 1816, Opelousas Church: Register of Blacks, v. 2, p. 19
(Hebert 19743a, 3:687).

17

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgement UHN-V001-D005 Page 143 of 448



Historical Report - United Houma Nation, Inc.

time the area came to be called Burnside (Prichard, Kniffen,
and Brown 1945, p. 757, note 76; p. 843, note 504).

A diary kept by James Leander Cathcart also referred to the
Houma settlement in the early nineteenth century as being
locat:ed near the modern boundary of Ascension and St. James
Parish, on the east side of the Mississippi. Some Houma
(fourr families, two of whom he saw) were certainly on
Cantrelle lands in St. James Parish when seen by de Laussat
in 1805/06. At that time, he reported, they spoke Choctaw
and Jlrench (Laussat 1978, 67-68). They were still in St.
James, under Cantrelle patronage, when "Chakchuma" and an
unnaned chief were sent to New Orleans to see Governor
William Claiborne in 1806 and 1811 (Rowland 1917, 3:347 and
5:27%). Houma were possibly reported around Manchac as late
as 1836 (Gallatin 1973, 115), if Gallatin was not at that
date just repeating information that Sibley had gathered
over 30 years earlier. Anthropological literature seems to
have assumed that they migrated away from St. James Parish
short:ly after that date, but a local historian indicates
that a settlement remained to the rear of Bon Secours
Plani:ation until at least 1915 (Canmpbell 1981, 28).

Writing on behalf of the petitioner and seeking to deal
specifically with the historical Houma from the late
eighi:eenth century into the nineteenth, Janel Curry traced
movenents of the historical Houma, both known and supposed,
from a variety of sources (Curry 1979). As an explanation
for t-he fact that neither Clark nor Sibley referred to a UHN
ancestral settlement on Bayou Terrebonne, Curry contended
that the authors of the early Federal period sources,
particularly Daniel Clark, might have had some ulterior
motive(s) in describing only certain locations of the
historical Houma tribe (Curry 1979, 9-10, 17).

More probably, the sources did not describe any Indian

- settlement along Bayou Terrebonne during the first decade of
the nineteenth century because there was none. The
situation depicted in these sources showed a high level of
movenment by numerous Indian groups (not only the historical
Houma tribe) in the Lower Mississippi Valley at this time.
The rrelocation and amalgamation of various Indian tribes,
bandis, and groups prior to and subsequent to U.S.
acquisition of Louisiana from France were part of their
response to the pressure of United States, French, and
Spanish interests and the uncertainties which resulted from
the rapid administrative changes. There is no indication
that the government officials’ reports deliberately omitted
inforrmation.
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Correlation with the Petitioner’s Traditions. The Indian

groups which appeared in Judice’s correspondence during the
1770’'s are very similar to those recalled by UHN ancestress
Felicite Billiot in her conversations with Swanton in 1907:

The family history of the writer’s oldest
informant, Felicite Billiout, will serve to
illustrate this tribal complexity. Her"
grandmother, whose Indian name was Nuyu’n, but who
was baptized "Marion" after her removal to
Louisiana, was born in or near Mobile; her
grandfather, Shulu-shumon, or, in French, Joseph
Abbe," and more often called "Couteaux," was a

3 1In ;eviewing Swanton’s field notes, the referent of the pronoun "her" is
ambiguous. In the published version, it seems to refer to Felicite Billiot
herself. EFowever, his notes indicate it is possible that Felicite'’'s brother,
Barthelemi, may have been speaking of his mother’s grandparents and parents.
Chronologically, the second interpretation would make more sense.

¥ For a very similar name, see a 1745 reference to Shulashummashtabe (Red
Shoe, Souloiche Oumastabe) as a Choctaw war chief at the town of Couechitto, near
Tombecbe (Galloway 1981). Elsewhere, Galloway remarks that:

each [Choctaw village] chief had his staff of officials numbering
about five. These men can be identified in the documents through
the repeated occurrence of what the French took for personal names
but what are clearly functional titles, . . . Many, if not all,
villages had a war chief, and often this office carried the title of
soulouche oumastabe (red shoe killer) or simply mingo ouma (red
chief)” (Galloway 1985, 123).

Galloway further notes that, "Swanton, who had access only to the French
documents acquired up to that time by the Library of Congress and other American
libraries . . . did not recognize the titular nature of the appellations
soulouche oumastabe . . . . (Galloway 1985, 152, note 14). Gatschet regarded
appellations such as 0ld Red Shoe as names or war-names rather than titles in
Creek, Alibamu, and Koasati (Gatschet 1969, 162).

Usner’s discussion of the Choctaw Red Shoes (Usner 1992, 88) also says he
was "known Dby the name of his political position" and uses the spelling "Shulush
Houma" for "Red Shoes," which is phonetically even closer to the version given
Swanton by Felicite Billiot. Combined with her recollection that the family came
from Mobile, and the fact that the "Houma" language that Swanton collected from
her was "nearly pure Choctaw" (Swanton n.d.; see also Swanton 1918), this opens
a possible line of research that some of her ancestry may have been Mobilian or
Choctaw and that "Shulu’shumon” represented a title rather than a personal name.

A "Coosada" ([Coushatta, Koasati) chief named Red Shoes was mentioned
several times in Alexander McGillivray’s correspondence, and is noted as having
visited New Orleans ‘*in 1792 (Caughey 1938, 246), but a Creek uncle of
McGillivray's called Red Shoes (brother of McGillivray'’s mother Sehoy Marchand)
died in 1784, which indicates further the frequency of the name/title (Caughey
1938, 62, 65). According to Swanton, about 1793 this Coushatta Red Shoes led a
party of about 20 families of Alabamas and Coushattas to settle about 60 miles
up from the mouth of the Red River (Swanton 1922, 204).
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Biloxi medal chief; and her mother "an Atakapa
from Texas." In addition, she said that Cherokee
("Tsalaki"), Choctaw, and Alibamu had all married
with her people. Among other tribes she had heard
of the Chickasaw ("Shikasha"), Tallapoosa
("Talapush”),” and Tunica. Her grandmother,

whom, she said, had moved successively to the
Mississippi, "Tuckapaw Canal," Bayou La Fourche,
Houma, and the coast of Terre Bonne, was evidently
among the Indians who migrated from the
neighborhood of Mobile after 1764, in order not to
remain under English rule (Swanton 1911, 292).

Were the Historical Houma the Tribal Antecedent of the UHN?
In accordance with the acknowledgment criteria, the focus of
this section of the report is whether or not the historical
Houma, or any of the other Indian tribes along the
Mississippi in the later eighteenth century, can be
iden:ified as a tribal antecedent of the UHN. Various
authors have attempted to make such an interpretation.
Kniffen, Gregory, and Stokes, publishing in 1987 and
apparently extrapolating from Swanton (Swanton 1911), stated
that even after 1803, "three Houma families, or bands"
remained (emphasis added) in the "marshland bayous"
(Kniffen, Gregory, and Stokes 1987, 78). At the same time,
thes:2 authors indicated that while lands were sold by the
Houma in 1776, "as late as 1836" English'® [sic] maps showed
them hunting on the Amite River (Kniffen, Gregory, and
Stokes 1987, 78).

Elsevhere, referring to the "pantribal Houma agglomerate,"
Kniffen, Gregory, and Stokes suggest the historical Houma
absorbed "some Washa and Chawasha, the Yakene Chitto, and
refujees from Gulf Coast tribes such as the Biloxi"
(Kniffen, Gregory, and Stokes 1987, 78), as well as the
Okelousa, whose "identity, location, and fate . . . remain
in doubt” (Kniffen, Gregory, and Stokes 1987, 79; Swanton
1911, 300-301). In addition, these same authors suggest at
another point that the "Acolapissa, Houma, and quite likely,
the Washa fused into one group, seeking refuge from the
encroachment of the Europeans" and moved into Terrebonne

5 A eubdivision of the Creek.

'®  Although Albert Gallatin published his history of American Indians in

1836, a close reading indicates that his discussion of the Houma and other small
Louisiana tribes was based primarily on Sibley’s 180S report, and the statement
did not refer to the actual situation in 1836.
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Parish to become the UHN (Kniffen, Gregory, and Stokes 1987,
65; Swanton 1911, 44). The authors cite no primary
documents supporting these presumed admixtures with the
historical Houma tribe or for its presumed migration into
the lower bayous.

FREE PEQPLE OF COLOR.

The situation of the Indian groups in Louisiana in the
eight.eenth century cannot be analyzed without considering
the impact of African as well as European settlers. A
number of studies treat the issue of slavery in colonial
Louisiiana, but a discussion of race is not synonymous with a
discussion of slavery.

Indians were enslaved with some frequency during the French
colonial period. However, the issue of Indian slavery in
Louisiiana is not relevant to analysis of the petition, as
there is no indication that any of the documented Indian
ancesitors of the UHN had ever been enslaved.

In fact, neither Indian nor African slavery was as
significant in the development of the UHN ancestral group as
was the existence in Louisiana of free persons of African,
or mixed European and African, ancestry. While this study
is not primarily focused on investigating black-Indian
relationships during the French and Spanish administrations
in Louisiana, in the total picture of the heterogeneous
society which was evolving, the presence of Africans was
nearly as important for the Indians as the presence of
Europeans. Their existence is of major significance to
understanding the social, linguistic, ethnic, and economic
groups which developed and met in Louisiana, as a whole, and
in specific localities within the State.

The importance of the "free people of color" portion of the
Louisiiana population in the eighteenth and early nineteenth
century in Louisiana is well documented in governmental,
archival, and secondary source material. Ingerscll (1991),
Sterkx (1972), Everett (1966) and Berlin (1974), have dealt
with free blacks and free negroes in the New Orleans area
prior to 1803. They and others have presented various
aspects of a century and a half of the history (1720-1860)
of African and West Indian immigrant society, though
primarily from the perspective of outside observers rather
than using the documents generated by the group itself, as
Mills did for the Metoyers (Mills 1977).
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The free Negro population in Louisiana appeared shortly
after the founding of the colony. Church records indicate
that marriages of free Africans took place in New Orleans as
early as the 1720’s (Sterkx 1972, 15, 22). The
heterogeneity of the society created a social situation that
permitted widespread interaction among all ethnic groups
(Sterkx 1972, 31). 1In addition to the "mixed offspring" of
whitz and Indian (known in French as "metis" and in Spanish
as "mestizos"), and white and African (mulattos, quadroons,
etc.), there were also offspring of Indians and blacks or
mulattoes (known in French as "griffes" or in Spanish as
“zambos") (Webre 1984, 120). All of these groups
intermarried with one another as well as marrying back into
the source populations.

The Spanish treatment of, and attitude towards, both Indians
and Africans was potentially, if not always in reality, more
humane than the French, British, or American (Moore 1976,
Chap. V; Sterkx 1972, Chap. 2). The new Spanish Governor,
Alejandro O‘Reilly issued a decree in December, 1769, which
prohibited the future enslavement of Indians (Webre 1984,
122). In 1794, Governor Carondelet freed all Louisiana
Indian slaves except the Natchez (Kniffen, Gregory, and
Stokes 1987, 94).

Webre stated in a phone conversation that the court records
for the slave cases cited at footnotes on pages 124-126 of
his article!” indicated that the suits for freedom were
brought by Indians who were "fairly fully assimilated into
white and black culture" (August 25, 1992, phone
conversation with BAR historian Terry Lamb). If, however, a
slave who claimed to be Indian were found to be African in
appearance, the legal ground for determining free status was
based on whether or not the individual "could prove to the
satisfaction of the court that he was descended from Indians
in the maternal line" (Webre 1984, 127).

While adopting a more positive or pragmatic attitude toward
the Indian population, the Spanish also "removed all

7 The study of Spanish judicial records indicates that, while the Indians

who brought legal actions on slavery issues were identified by name, they were
not identified by tribe. One case involved a suit against the estate of
Francisco (ruzat, a lieutenant at an Illinois post. Following his return to
Louisiana from Spanish Illinois (Missouri), he died. Slaves kept by Cruzat, one
Marie and her brother Pierre, and Marie's half-brother Baptiste, who sued his own
master, wer-e freed under the anti-slavery declarations initially issued by
Governor O‘Reilly in 1769. Between 1790 and 1794 some dozen cases were brought
before the Governor, who heard each case (Webre 1984, 124-130).
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impediments to manumission" for all slaves, though this did
not, of course, outlaw or restrict slavery itself (Ingersoll
1991, 180). After 1780, African slaves were guaranteed a
righ: of self-purchase, which was quite frequently exercised
(Ingersoll 1991, 183-89, 192; Conrad 1974).

The :3panish kept population figures on the numbers of free
persons of color. Sterkx concluded that of the 165 free
Negroes in Louisiana in 1769, 73 were "free Blacks" and 92
were "free Mulattoes" (Sterkx 1972, 33), but this appears to
have been only a count of males eligible for militia service
(Voorrhies 1973). 1In 1785, the Louisiana Colony had a
population of 9,766 whites, 15,010 slaves, and 1,175 free
Negroes, of whom 563 were in New Orleans (Sterkx 1972, 85).

A 1900 publication, cited by Sterkx, indicates that the
Spanish period witnessed "clear lines"™ of classes based on
law and custom, which placed the Europeans by birth (the
"chapetones™) as first in rank and power; the Creoles, in
the sense of persons of European ancestry born in the
colonies, were second; the free mulattoes and free Negroes
formed the third class; and the slaves and Indians [emphasis
added] the fourth (Sterkx 1972, 87). There is no indication
of why Indians were classified with with slaves rather than
with other free persons of color.

The law of Louisiana under American jurisdiction after 1803
did not make legal distinctions among the various categories
of free persons of color, whatever an individual or group’s
spec:.fic ancestry may have been. The status of free people
of color within Louisiana in the early nineteenth century
was defined in a First District, Louisiana, court decision
of 1810 (Adelle v. Beauregard) in which the Court held that
"persions of color may have descended from Indians on both
sidesi, from a white parent, or mulatto parents in possession
of their freedom" (1 Mart. [0.S.] 183, 184).

As of 1806, the Black Code (a compendium of laws pertaining
primarily to slaves but also referring to free persons of
color) stated that the testimony of "all free Indians" would
be admittedninto evidence in trials involving slaves (Digest
1806, 8-9).

The '"free person of color" notation on official civil
records, devised after the purchase of Louisiana by the

'® The Digest of slave law compiled in 1835 summarized the "Black Code" as
it existed under the Louisiana government from 1806 to the 1830°s.
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United States, was the result of official government policy
(Sterkx 1972, Chap. 3 and 4, esp. 160-161). The slave
revolts in the 1790’s in Haiti and Santo Domingo had caused
a fear of similar potential upheavals in Louisiana (Berlin
1974, 112-119; Sterkx 1972, 79-97).

The social and political situation faced by the Spanish,
French, Americans, and Creoles in Louisiana was new and
anomalous for the American government (Sterkx 1972, 79-97).
Once the United States began to establish an administrative
network, free blacks who had begun to exert some degree of
independence through the black militia challenged the social
and economic patterns which were being introduced, in large
degree as a response to the immigration from Haiti and the
resulting larger free Negro population developing in
Louisiana. By 1810, with the influx of free Negroes from
Santo Domingo and Cuba, the free people of color in
Louisiana numbered approximately 8,000: most were from the
West Indies. '

How the petitioning group relates to the free Negro or to
free people of color who were partly of African ancestry is
incompletely. documented from the traditional historical
perspective. Genealogical sheets forwarded with the
petition include notations that a number of founding group
ancestors were designated as free people of color. It is
sometimes, but not always, clear whether a specific "free
person of color" was of Indian or African background--or a
combination. From the perspective of acknowledgment
criteria, the question to be analyzed is whether or not the
group was distinct from the society surrounding it because
of the element of Indian ancestry, the element of African
ancestry, or both. If it was held distinct from French
Creole society because of non-European ancestry (whether
Indian or African), did it hold itself distinct from the
general population of free people of color because it
identified itself as Indian in nature rather than African in
nature?

EARLY DEMOGRAPHY OF THE UHN ANCESTORS.

Origins of UHN Ancestral Settlement in Lafourche and
Terrebonne Parishes, 1800-1850. Throughout the first half
of the nineteenth century, the ancestors of the UHN were
never distinguished in Federal or State government records
as an Indian group discussed by Indian agents or in
specialized record groups. Therefore, to locate documents
that permit an understanding of the chronology of the
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appearance of the group’s ancestors in its current area of
residence, and the development of the community in what is
now ‘ferrebonne Parish, Louisiana, it is necessary to look,
not at any special set of "Indian" records, but at the
ordinary administrative records of the civil and
ecclesiastical jurisdictions of southern Louisiana, as they
pertained to all residents.

The -records pertaining to the petitioning group have been
kept in various civil and ecclesiastical parishes over time.
This does not reflect a continuing geographical migration on
the part of the UHN ancestors during the period 1800-1850.
By the end of the Spanish administration in the 1790’s, they
had already received land grants on Bayou Terrebonne and
were living there. Rather, the location of the records
reflacts the subsequent subdivision of civil and
ecclasiastical parishes which occurred as the population
incrzased and the level of governmental and church services
was extended over the course of time.

Development of Southern Louisiana Record-Keeping Agencies.

The founding ancestors of the UHN appear to have been
already settled in what is now Terrebonne Parish along Bayou
Terrebonne by the late 1790’s. They continued to live there
from the 1820’s through the 1850’s. The successive
appearance of records pertaining to the UHN in Ascension,
Assumption, Lafourche, and Terrebonne Parishes does not
reflect a process of continuing or ongoing southward
migration, but rather one of changing administrative
boundaries through subdivision.

Civil Jurisdictions. For the purpose of tracking the
origins of the petitioning group in Terrebonne Parish,
Louisiana, it is not necessary to consider the development
of Louisiana’s civil jurisdictions prior to their
reorganization by the Spanish administration in 1769. The
new rulers divided the Province of Louisiana into 20
districts, with sometimes rather ill-defined boundaries. 1In
each district, the governor appointed a commandant who was
entrusted with various military, judicial, and civil powers
(Rokichaux 1974, vii). These districts survived until the
beginnings of American administration after the Louisiana
Purchase, in 1803.

One of these districts was the "Distrito de La
Fourche de los Chetimachas." From a study of
adjacent districts and of the subsequent
separations from the original area, this District
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is believed to have been composed essentially of
the areas of today’s civil parishes of Lafourche,
Terrebonne, Assumption and that part of Ascension
on the "west" side of the Mississippi River. The
District included land on both sides of, and
along, the entire length of Bayou Lafourche
(formerly called by the French, "La Riviere des
Chetimachas")--from the ]unctlon with the
Mississippi (the "fork," in French, "La Fourche")
to the Gulf of Mexico. 1Its shoreline on the Gulf
was that of the present parishes of Lafourche and
Terrebonne combined (Robichaux 1974, p. Vvii).

on the north, it was bounded by the Iberville Coast and
Cabanocey or the First Acadian Coast (modern St. James
Parish); on the east by the German Coasts, the District of
New Orleans, and the Lower Coast below New Orleans; on the
west, by the Attakapas District (Robichaux 1974, p. vii).
The denlsh mllltary post of Valenzuela was establlshed on
Baycu Lafourche in 1778 (Robichaux 1974, p. viii).

After the Louisiana Purchase, the first session of the
Territory of Orleans Legislative Council (1805) abolished
the Spanish administrative system and replaced the 20
districts with 12 counties. The ecclesiastical parish of
Ascension (also known as the Second Acadian Coast) was
subtracted from the old Lafourche District and placed into
Acadia County together with St. James Parish, while the new
Lafcurche County was the old district less Ascension Parish
(Rokichaux 1974, p. ix).

This system did not last long. In 1807, the second session
of the legislature redivided Orleans Terrltory into 19 civil
parlshes. Those of interest for the history of the UHN were
Ascension Parish (the Second Acadian Coast, including the
old post and village of "La Fourche des Chetlmachas")
Assumption Parish, and Lafourche Interior Parish. The civil
Assumption Parish was the northern part of this area along
Baycu Lafourche, closest to the Misssisippi River.

Lafourche Interior Parish contained the southern part of old
Lafourche District (Robichaux 1974, pp. ix-x).

In 1822, the legislature divided Lafourche Interior Parish
into Lafourche Parish and Terrebonne Parish. These civil
parishes attained, at that time, essentially their modern
bouridaries (Robichaux 1974, p. x). Sketches of both of
thesie civil parishes (No. 29, Lafourche and No. 55,
Terrebonne) and their records were produced by the Works
Pro‘ects Administration and published in 1942 by Louisiana
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State University. They were conveniently reprinted in the
first. volume of Hebert’s South Louisiana Records (Hebert
1978z, pp. xiii-xxxviii).

Ecclesiastical Jurisdictions. While Catholic churches
existed in Louisiana from the foundation of the settlement,
New Crleans was not established as a diocese until 1793.
Prior to that date, the ecclesiastical administrative
authority was first Quebec, then Santiago de Cuba, and then
Havaria (Beers 1989, 154). 1In 1793, the Diocese of Louisiana
and the Floridas (episcopal seat at New Orleans) included
the entire area of the modern state. In 1853, the northern
section of Louisiana was transferred to the newly
established Diocese of Natchitoches (the name of which has
since been changed to the Diocese of Alexandria). Southwest
Louisiiana was made into a separate diocese in 1918, with
Lafayette as the seat. The Diocese of Baton Rouge was
created in 1961 (Hebert 1975, 2). Lafourche and Terrebonne
Parishes, with a small amount of adjacent territory, were
separated from the Archdiocese of New Orleans in 1977 under
the t.itle of the Diocese of Houma-Thibodaux (Hebert 1979a,

p. vi).

Ascension Parish, at the Post of Lafourche (modern
Donaldsonville), was founded August 15, 1772 (Robichaux
1974, viii). Assumption Parish, a few miles below the Post
of Valenzuela, at modern Plattenville, was founded 1793
(Robichaux 1974, p. ix). Abstracts of these parish records
have been published (Catholic Church. Diocese of Baton
Rouge:, Louisiana).

St. Joseph Church, Thibodaux, Louisiana (Lafourche Parish),
was established in 1817; registers begin in 1820 (Hebert
1975, 32). St. Francis de Sales Church, Houma, Louisiana
(Terrebonne Parish), was established in 1848 (Hebert 1975,
59). Sacred Heart Church, Montegut, Louisiana (Terrebonne
Parish), was established in 1865 (Hebert 1975, 59). While
its clate of founding might seem to place its records beyond
consideration in a section on the first half of the
ninet.eenth century, the efforts of Sacred Heart’s first
priest to baptise a number of adults, some of them of
advanced age, make its early records relevant to the period
1800--1850.

Using Civil and Church Records to Identify Early Ancestors
of the Petitioner. Use of the records generated by the late
colonial and early Federal era civil and ecclesiastical
jurisdictions of Louisiana to identify members of the
petitioning community is not always a straightforwarad
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procedure. After 1808, keepers of civil records were
instiructed to use the term "free person of color"
(abbrreviated "f.p.o.c."), or some variant of it, for non-
whites. Indians and mixed blood Indians, as well as
African/Caucasian mulattos and negroes, were included in
this generic category (see Adelle V. Beauregard, First
Distr-ict Louisiana, Fall Term, 1810). Of necessity, under
the iAdelle v. Beauregard standard, Indians in Louisiana had
to accept the "f.p.o.c." designation for legal purposes in
relat:ionships with outside society. This was not congruent
with the self-identity of those who perceived themselves, or
whose parents chose to identify them, as Indian.

Upon occasion a civil record keeper might be more specific
than "f.p.o.c.," as in referring to Joseph Billiot'’s wife
Jeanet as "an Indian woman" (Lafourche Parish Records,
Marriage Bk. 1808-1829, Doc. 3) or Courteau as "Indian of
the 3iloxi nation" (Terrebonne Parish Records, Acts of
Conveyance, Bk. 3, 1828-1830, Doc. 526)--but a civil record
keepar was not required to be this specific. Several of the
references of use to researchers working on this petition
exist not because the record keeper specified the ethnic
designation, but because the originator of the record did
so, as when Jean Billiot declared that his deceased wife
Margaierite Courteau was "an Indian woman" (Shannon 1986, 65)
or waien Alexandre Verdun, in his will, specified that Marie
Greghire was a "femme sauvage" (Terrebonne Parish Records,
Acts of Conveyance, Bk. 3, 1828-1830, Doc. 521 and 521A4).

In presenting abstracts of early sacramental records
(baptisms, marriages, and funerals), the catholic dioceses
of Louisiana have made a deliberate effort both to provide
essential information to genealogists and to prevent the use
of the abstracts for purposes of racial identification. As
an example of this procedure, in the Diocese of Baton Rouge
catholic Church Records, Volume 3 (1804-1819), most of the
records pertaining to ancestors of the UHN from Assumption
Parish are coded ASM-4 (Catholic Church. Diocese of Baton
Rouge, Louisiana 1982, Vol. 3, throughout). It is necessary
to refer to another book, not in the same series, to
discover that the ASM-4 code for Assumption Parish refers to
"Libro de bautizados de neg.s y mulatos para esta parroqu.a
de la Fource de Valenzuela (nombrada la Assumpcion) que
comienza en veinte y nueva de sept({i)}embre del ano de mil
setecientos noventa y tres y acaba en [1841]" [Book of
baptisms of negroes and mulattos in this parish of La Fource
of Valenzuela (called Assumption) which begins September 29,
1793, and ends in ([1841)) (Nolan 1976, p. B-15-2). Some of
the original entries may have been more specific about the
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ethnic identity of the individual considered, but the
original entries were not accessible to BAR researchers.

The published abstracts are not complete. In his
introduction to the South ILouisiana Records series, Rev.
Donald J. Hebert stated:

The records found in this series are from the
Registers of Whites only, although a few records
of slaves or free people of color are sometimes to
be found in these Registers. The records from the
Black Registers will probably be published later
on in a different series (Hebert 1978a, p. ix).

Hebert also emphasized that his extracts of church records
made no reference to legitimacy, even when this was given in
the original document (Hebert 1978a, ix). Therefore, it
must be emphasized that while a historian can to some extent
utilize these series of abstracts in a study of the early
development of the UHN, the abstracts were not produced with
such a purpose in mind, and are not well-designed for the
purpose of analyzing ethnic affiliations and legal
rela:tionships.

Chroaology of Settlement Patterns on Bayou Terrebonne, 1787-
1810. ' At the time of Swanton’s visit to Terrebonne Parish
in 1707, Bob Verret, one of his informants, delineated
approximately 1,700 descendants of its founders in six
settlements on the southern bayous (Swanton 1911, 291). In
1911, Swanton wrote that:

The records leave us in doubt when the bulk of the
(historical Houma) tribe moved from Ascension into
Terre Bonne parish, and possibly it was a drift
rather than a regular migration. At any rate, the
remnant of the tribe, mixed with other Indian
peoples and white and negro blood, now live along
the coasts of Terre Bonne and La Fourche parishes
. « « (Swanton 1911, 291).

In fact, the parish-level documents located by BAR create
doub: that the "bulk of the tribe" ever made such a move at
all. Swanton’s informants in 1907 told him that all "Houmas
or rather Homas" of Terrebonne and Lafourche descended from
the "Couteaux, Billiout, and Verdine" families (Swanton
1911, 292). This statement was perfectly accurate. Swanton
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did not realize how small the number of Indians who
originated the group he was studying had been.'’

In addition to acknowledging that there had been a mixture
with whites and negroes (Swanton 1911, 292), Swanton made
the assumption that the UHN’s founding settlement had
incorporated not only survivors of the historical Houma
tribe, but remains of several other tribes: Bayogoula and
Acolapissa, Biloxi and Chitimacha, probably remnants of
Washa and Chawasha, besides individuals from a number of
othelr Louisiana and Mississippi peoples (Swanton 1911, 292).

Thus Swanton suggested seven specific tribes as ancestral to
the modern UHN petitioner. However, BAR research has found
only three family lines (a married couple with their four
children, and two other women) providing documented Indian
ancestry for the petitioning group. In fact, the situation
that Swanton attributed to the first decade of the
ninei:eenth century would seem to be much more typical of the
Indian tribal melting pot or mixing-bowl process that had
been taking place along the Mississippi River near La
Fourche des Chetimachas a full generation earlier, as
descir-ibed in the PPC correspondence of Commandant Judice in
the 1770’'s (Corbin 1981). It does not to conform to the
data that land and census records provide about the
settlement pattern in the lower bayous.

The 13illiot land grants in Terrebonne Parish were dated as
early as 1787/1788, while the Verdin land grant was in 1792
(see below). These dates are not in chronological accord
with swanton’s hypothesis that the historical Houma tribe
migrated into the lower bayous. By the time of the latest
reports of the historical Houma tribe in St. James Parish
and among the Atakapa in the first decade of the 1800’s, the
UHN ancestors had already received Spanish land grants on
Bayou Terrebonne. The earliest reported marriage of a
docunented Indian in the petitioning group, that of Rosalie
Cour:eau to Jacques Billiot, took place in Lafourche Parish
on Bayou Terrebonne in 1808, at which time the historical
Houma tribe was still in St. James Parish.

» Swanton'’s studies of American Indians were comprehensive but not

infallible--see, for example, a discussion of how research by more recent A
scholars indicates that Swanton was in error when he assumed that the Mohegan

tribe of Connecticut migrated there from upstate New York (BAR Proposed Finding,
Mohegan, Historical Report, 12}.
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It proved possible to develop a chronology of settlement of
the UHN’s ancestral families. This section covers,
essentially, the period from the arrival of the Acadians in
1785 to the death of Jean-Baptiste Billiot, Sr. in 1809.
Sources for the preparation of the chronology included not
only land and church records, but also the late Spanish
colonial censuses of Lafourche, 1788-1791-1795-1797-1798
(Robiichaux 1974) and the first Federal census of Louisiana
in 1810 (NARA Microfilm Series M-252, Roll 10). Overall,
this chronology does not link the known ancestors of the
petitioner to the known activities of the historical Houma
tribe.

Genelal pattern of settlement of the Lafourche-Terrebonne
area. In a marginal note to his taking of the 1810 Federal
Census, Judge William Goforth of Lafourche Interior Parish
desci-ribed Bayou D’Arbonne (Terrebonne) as follows:

This Bayou comes up from the Sea and is Considered
as belonging to the Interior Parish of La Fourche.
It comes up to within about 10 miles of the bayou
la Fourche in a dry time and in a wet time within
the distance of one and a half. The Tide comes up
this bayou about Nine Legues. The length of this
bayou from the Sea is Seventeen Leggues. The
general wideness is 120 feet at 10 mi. It has
good rich land on each side surrounded with low
lands. The arable land is 15 acres [illegible] &
10 acres & till you get near to the Sea it is
chiefly a low marsh (NARA Microfilm Series M-252,
Roll 10, [2]). .

A few settlers from colonial Louisiana French families, as
well as some more recent immigrants from the Canary Islands
and isome Acadians, were residing in, or at least claiming
land in, the Lafourche area by 1779 (ASP 1839b, 2:332, No.
1). Newly arrived Acadian French received grants in the
area after 1785 (Robichaux 1974, viii), but the number of
Spanish grants to this population group in the area was also
small. In 1810, Goforth noted of "Bayou D’Arbonne" that,
"There is very few Spanish grants on this bayou, it is
generrally Congress land" (NARA Microfilm Series M-252, Roll
10, 3).

By 1787/1788, Governor Miro was issuing these land grants on
"Bayou Darbonne." U.S. Land Office surveys indicate the
Spanish claimants’ names as (in order, moving from north to
soutli) Pierre Menard [Minoue], Pierre Gazeau [Cazo], Pierre
Ganoue [Gano], Joseph Ganoue [Gano], Charles Billiot
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[BilLio], Pierre Billiot, Michel Derdin ([Dirdia), Etienne
Billiot, Etienne Billiot [Bious), and M. Eris [Iris].

Another slightly overlapping sequence continued with the
namess Etienne Billiot, Marianne Erice [Iris], Joseph
Deann/Deanne/Dianne [Dlon/Dlonne/Jeanne], Pierre Chasson
[Cha.sson/Chiasson], Charles Billiot, Jean Bte. Theodore
Henry, Joseph M. Boudreau, Jean Dupres [Dupre], Jean Nangquin
[Naquin, Nacquin], and the widow of Jean Pierre Dugat
[Dugas]. A third survey map, starting with Jean Pierre
Dugai: [Dugas], continued down the Bayou with Charles Nanquin
[Naquin, Nacquin] (assigned to John B. Alexander and Peter
Vvard:in [Verdin/Berdine]), Charles Billot (assigned to John
B. Alexander and Peter Vardin [Verdin]), Pierre Bourque
(assigned to John B. Alexander and Peter Vardin {Verdin])
Louis Sauvage (assigned to John B. Alexander and Peter
Vardin [Verdin]), Jean Billet Jr., Jean Billot Sr., Marie
Neriunse [Iris), Joseph Billet, and Manuel Albaradez (U.S.
Generral Land Office, Survey Maps; copies in BAR files).

Arrival of Known UHN Ancestral Families in Modern Terrebonne
Parish. The date of arrival of the majority of the
ancestral families of the UHN who were early settlers in the
Lafourche/Terrebonne area (not just of those families who
are identified in the records as Indian), must ordinarily be
deterrmined by a combination of church, land, and census
recorrds. The following discussions are in approximate order
of arrival. More detail on the demographic development of
the ‘Families of Billiot, Courteau, Verdin, Gregoire, Solet,
and Verret is contained in a survey prepared by BAR
historian as background for this report.®

There was no Indian tribe living on Bayou Terrebonne at the
time Europeans and other non-Indians started to settle
there. Also, there is no evidence for an Indian tribe or
tribal agglomerate which moved to Bayou Terrebonne from
somewvhere else. Rather, the descendants of a small number
of unrelated individuals with Indian ancestry, along with
descendants of a majority of immigrants who were or European
and/or African descent, developed into a community on the
lowe:r reaches of Bayou Terrebonne. The immigrants, both
Indian and non-Indians, received individual land grants.
Thes: persons of widely varied origins became neighbors and
associates. Because of a tendency toward group endoganmy,
most of these immigrants’ descendants now share some Indian
ancestry (84% of petitioner’s members).

» A copy of this background survey will be made available to the

petitioner.
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For narrative purposes, BAR has adopted standardized
spellings for the relevant family names. The original
documents contain’ many variants for every surname.

Family-by-Family Summary. Each of the following families
has been documented as ancestral to the UHN petitioner. The
order of discussion is chronological, beginning with the
earliest known date of settlement in the lower bayous.

Nagquin. Jean Charles Naquin, born in 1771 in France, was a
son of two Acadians, Charles Naquin and Anne Durand, a
seamstress. He immigrated to Louisiana with his father from
Nancy on the St. Remy to New Orleans in 1785. As Juan
Carlos Naquin, he married Magdalena or Magdelaine LeBoeuf on
December 28, 1800, at Assumption Church, Plattenville,
Louisiana. She was a daughter of Jean LeBoeuf, born on the
German Coast (his parents had been born in Canada) and Reine
Matherine/Matherne/Materne, born ca. 1760 on the German
coast (her parents were also born on the German Coast). The
1810 census showed Jean "Nankin" [Nagquin] on Bayou D’Arbonne
(U.S. Bureau of the Census. Original 1810 Population Census
Louisiana, 161). The family has remained a large one in the
Terrebonne area, the majority of the descendants of the
immigrant couple continuing to identify exclusively as
Acadian French.

No member of this family became identified with the UHN
until ca. 1828, when Jean-Marie Naquin, born in 1804,
baptized at Assumption Parish, Plattenville, Louisiana, son
of Jean Charles Naquin and Magdelaine LeBoeuf, entered the
group through his union with Pauline Verdin, daughter of
Alexander Verdin and Marie Gregoire.

Chaisscn/Chiasson. This family was also part of the Acadian
French immigrant group that arrived in 1785. The 1810
census showed Pierre "Shaison" on Bayou D’Arbonne (Original
1810 Pcpulation Census, Louisiana, 161). However, no
Chaisscn identified with the UHN until shortly before 1850.
The majority of UHN members who carry the Chaisson surname
are ijescendants of only one marriage: that of Andre
Chaisson and Marie Azilda/Felicite Isilda Billiot.

Billiot/Billeau, etc. When John Reed Swanton visited
Louisiana in 1907, one of his main informants was Felicite
Billiot (Swanton n.d.; Swanton 1911, 392). The information
he obtained from her and from her brother Barthelemi
pertained primarily to their maternal grandparents.
However, Felicite and Barthelemi were also grandchildren of
Jean-Baptiste Billiot, Sr. and Marie/Mariane Iris, members
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of families which had been living south of New Orleans in
the iarea of the English Turn [Detour Anglaise) as late as
the 1770 census (Voorhies 1973, 133; Woods and Nolan 1988,
2:21-22).

Jean-Baptiste Billiot’s first land claim on Bayou D’Arbonne
was filed on land granted in 1787 by Governor Miro: this
land, 162 acres, was inhabited by him prior to 1803. His
other claim, 167 acres adjacent to Louis Sauvage, was as
assignee of Joseph LeForce (ASP 1834b, 2:433, Nos. 371 and
484; ASP 1834c, 3:362, No. 371; 363, No. 484). Marie Iris
entered an independent claim of 321 acres, obtained on a
regular warrant from Governor Miro in 1788, which was
recorded as Marie Nerisse (ASP 1834b, 2:433, No. 370; ASP
1834, 3:362, No. 370); as Marianne Erice she claimed a
tract in Lafourche Parish on both sides of Bayou Terrebonne,
adjoining the lands of Dardan (sic] (ASP 1834c, 3:597, No.
249).

Their son Joseph Billot/Billiot received a grant in the same
area in 1788, adjoining "Marie Acies" in the printed
records--most probably another misspelling/misreading of
"Arias" for "Iris" (ASP 1834b, 2:432, No. 368). Jean
Billot, Jr. was in possession of a claim by 1803, but it had
been conveyed to him by way of Jean Chap, the original
claimant, through his father, Jean Baptiste Billiot, Sr.
(ASP 1834b, 2:433, No. 484; ASP 1834b, 2:432, No. 369).

Three more sons of Jean Baptiste Billiot, Sr., and Marie
Iris had claims in the same area. Charles
Billot/Billio/Billiot’s was dated 1790 (ASP 1834b, 2:362,
No. 314; ASP 1839c, 3:597, No. 244) and adjoined those of
Pierre Billio (ASP 1834c, 3:597, No. 243) and Etienne Billio
(ASP 1834c, 3:597, No. 251).

It is doubtful that the family had moved to their claims by
the filing dates, however, for as late as 1792 Jean Biau
[(sic] and Marie Yrys had a daughter baptized at New Orleans,
with Alexandre Verdin (see below) serving as her godfather
(Woods and Nolan 1990b, 5:32-33). So far, this is the only
documentary evidence located by BAR for a connection between
any two of these families prior to their settlement on Bayou
Terrebonne, and it is the sponsorship of the child of one
man of European ancestry by another man of European
ancestry.

The Billiot family is not listed on any of the late Spanish
colonial censuses (the last dated 1798) as being in
Lafourche Parish, but Jean-Baptiste Billiot died there in
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1809 (Lafourche Parish Probate Records 1809) and Marian
Billau/Billoux was on the 1810 Federal Census, described in
a marginal note as "free Negress, 60 years old, has land,
pays tax, has 10 children" (Original 1810 Population Census,
Louisiana, 161).

Because Marie Iris was clearly identified as non-Indian in
the records, considerable effort was made by BAR historians
to determine whether or not there was Indian heritage in the
line of Jean Baptiste Billiot. Circumstantial evidence
gathered from numerous published sources (Robichaux 1973;
Voorhies 1973; Woods and Nolan 1988-1992; Cruzat 1941a and
1941b) leads to the conclusion that he was in all
probability a descendant on the paternal side of Isaac/Louis
Billiot dit Bon (French) and Marie Eve Frederick dit Conrad
(German), early residents of the Mississippi River coast
below New Orleans. No information at all was found
pertaining to his maternal lineage but, as he was never
referred to as a free person of color in his estate
administration, it is probable that his mother was also of
European ancestry.

Sauvage/Savage. Louis Sauvage claimed a tract of land on
both sides of Bayou Terrebonne in Lafourche Parish,
containing 80 and 48/100 acres, adjoining on one side to
Pierre Bourg [Bourque]. This land had been actually settled
prior to December 20, 1803, with permission of the proper
Spanish Officer (ASP 1834b, 2:423, No. 339), but the claims
report does not indicate by whom. Louis Sauvage did not
appear on any Federal census records. On December 27, 1806,
John Joseph of Lafourche sold to Louis Ogeron land on Bayou
Darbonne bounded above by Louis Sauvage and below by Jean
Biou, fils (Toups 1991a, 47). As Louis Sauvage died without
children, the land eventually passed to descendants of his
sister, Marianne, wife of Houma called Courteau (Terrebonne
Parish, Conveyance Bk. I, 157-158).

The origins of the Louis Sauvage who held land on Bayou
Terrebonne have not been traced. It is possible that he was
of Indian ancestry, but no proof has been adduced of his
identity with the Louis Sauvage, grandson of an Indian, who
in 1806 sold to Joseph Ennet land in Pointe Coupee Parish,?
a considerable distance to the north from the Terrebonne
Parish land (ASP 1834b, 2:388, No. 154).

I There were several Indian groups (not Houma) in Pointe Coupee Parish in

the early 18th century.
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The petition states that this man was identical with the
"Louis de la Houssaye/Dalahousie Courteau" whom oral
tradition says was the last chief of the group, that he
succeeded Chac-Chouma as chief of the historical Houma, and
that he was the unnamed man who accompanied Chac-Chouma on
his visit to Governor Claiborne in 1811 (UHN Pet., Narr., p.
32; UHN Pet., Resp. to OD Letter, 35). All of these
assertions are unwarranted assumptions based upon
extrapolation from one single documented fact: that his
land was inherited by his niece Rosalie Courteau (Terrebonne
Parish, Conveyance Bk. I, 157-158).

There was a colonial family named S8auvage or Sauvagin which
appears in other documents connected with the Billiot
family, and which was of Flemish origin. Since there was a
documented contemporary man named Luis Sauvagin in that
family (Forsyth 1977, 123), additional work needs to be
undertaken before Indian ancestry can be regarded as
established for this Louis Sauvage or, by extension, for his
sister. However, the oral tradition that his sister had an
Indian name and an adult baptism (Swanton 1911, 292) would
point to a strong possibility that there was Indian heritage
here, even if he is not identical to the Pointe Coupee
vendor.

Solet/Saulet. Valentine Solet (Louisiana French) was the
father, by a woman of color named Babe/Babet Marie whom he
freed in 1811, of a son named Jean-Baptiste Prairiale Solet
whose descendants would marry into the petitioning
community. (By Babet and other women, Valentin Solet was
also father of at least five other children of color whose
descendants did not become part of the UHN community).
Baptized May 4, 1755, in New Orleans, son of Thomas Solet
and Francoise Julie Bruandet (Woods and Nolan 1989, 2:250),
Valentine Solet married in 1782 (Woods and Nolan 1989,
3:272), but apparently had no children by his wife. His
Lafourche Parish land claim was dated 1790 (ASP 1834Db,
2:333, No. 15). On the basis of late colonial census
records, he apparently settled in Lafourche Parish between
1791 and 1795 (Robichaux 1974, 50, 73, and 123), but the
1810 census indicates that he resided on Bayou Lafourche--
not on Bayou Terrebonne (Original 1810 Population Census
Louisiana, 149).

Verret/Lamatte. Jacques Verret, who was probably a member
of the Louisiana-French Verret family, had between about
1790 and 1803 seven children by Celeste Lamatte (or
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Lamo:he/Lamotte), who is described as a liberated gquadroon”
(Toups 1991a, 26; Original 1810 Federal Census, Louisiana,
145) . Verret was ordinarily described in the records as a
resident of New Orleans, though because of his relationship
to the Cantrelle and Nicholas Verret families, he often
appeiared also in land records of St. James and Assumption
Parishes. The Verrets were filing land claims along Bayou
Lafourche and Bayou Terrebonne by 1792 (ASP 1834b, 2:333,
No. 10; ASP 1834c, 3:596, Nos. 236-239).

Celeste Lamotte’s Spanish-era land claim for 193 acres was
on the right (east) bank of Bayou Lafourche, not in the area
of the claims of other UHN ancestral families on Bayou
Terrcbonne (ASP 1834b, 2:417, No. 297). She later married a
French-born man, Pierre Jacob Gaubert, who in 1807 was
serving as a Justice of the Peace in Lafourche Parish, by
whom she had at least seven more children (Berger 1985, 30;
Catholic Church, Diocese of Baton Rouge, Louisiana 1980,
2:411; Catholic Church, Diocese of Baton Rouge, Louisiana
1982, 3:474; Hebert 1978a, 333).

Of Celeste Lamatte’s children by Jacques Verret, only three
have descendants among the petitioner: Solomon Verret, who
married into the Verdin family, and Louis Verret, who
married into the Courteau/Billiot family. A family named
Fitch, her descendants through a daughter, also married into
the Courteau/Billiot family prior to 1850 and has
descendants among the petitioner. None of her Verret
children who married into other families and none of her
Gaubert children were progenitors of UHN members.

Jeanne/Dianne (perhaps Dion). Joseph Jeanne or Dianne®
[also Ghianne], thus far identified only as a free man of
colorr and a native of Campeche, Mexico, held a land claim
along Bayou Terrebonne by 1792 (ASP 1834c, 3:597, No. 254).
His descendants began to marry into the petitioning group by
abouf: 1815, and he died by 1822 (Cogswell 1978, 277). As
all t:hree of his children were associated with ancestors of
the UHN, more knowledge of this family line could be of
sign:.ficance, particularly since "John" ‘is a surname

2 A quadroon was a person of one-fourth African and three-fourths European
ancestry.

3 In 18th-century French pronunciation and spelling, the "D" and the hard
"G" were to:ally interchangeable: Dion and Guyon must be handled as the same
name in Quebec genealogical research, for example. As the "G" and "J" were
nearly indiestinguishable in many people’s handwriting, names beginning with those
to letters often became confused as well.
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commonly found in at least two other Louisiana Indian
comminities in the nineteenth century (Bushnell 1909, 18;
Jacobson 1974, 93).

Courteau/Houma/Abbe. The earliest reported records under
the name Courteau along Bayou Terrebonne are: the 1808
marriage of Rosalie Courteau to Jacques Billiot (this date
evidenced only by an 1878 application for a War of 1812
widow’s pension--the oldest child was not born until 1813);
an 1808 land sale in Lafourche Parish (Lafourche Parish,
Record of Deeds, Book A, 24); an 1809 purchase by Cortau a
Savage from the estate of Jean-Baptiste Billiot; and the
1810 recording of Courto a Savage (with six children) on
Bayou Terrebonne in the Federal census, as the household
next to that of Marian Billou (U.S. Bureau of the Census.
original 1810 Population Census Louisiana, 161).

Since Rosalie Courteau’s mother Marianne, wife of
Houma/Courteau, is documented as having been a sister of
Louis Sauvage (see land claim above), it is possible that
the family was on Bayou Terrebonne prior to 1803. The
family’s presence, however, was not recorded on any of the
late colonial Spanish censuses. Information provided by
Felicite Billiot to Swanton in 1907 indicated that the
origins of the Courteau family lay in the Biloxi tribe
(Swanton 1911, 292), which was verified by early deed
records (Terrebone Parish Conveyance Book A, 92-94, No. 51;
Acts of Conveyance Bk. 3, 8128-1830, Doc. 526), but the
family used Houma as a surname by the 1830’s and 1840's
(Terrebonne Parish Original Acts, Bk. 7, Doc. 1343,
Conveyance Book H, 110-111; Federal Land Certificate,
December 8, 1845). No documentation was located to tie
Houra/Courteau to known families of the acknowledged Tunica-
Bilexi Tribe of Louisiana.

Felicite Billiot also indicated that her ancestress had been
baptized with the name "Marion" later in life. This, along
with the adult baptism recorded for Rosalie Courteau as an
elderly woman, a couple of other late-in-life Courteau
baptisms, and the oral tradition that Rosalie’s nephew
Jacques Julien Courteau was arranging for a Catholic baptism
at the time of his drowning in 1882, by which time he was
over 50 (UHN Pet., Ex. 7), would indicate that this family
was not fully European-acculturated in the early nineteenth
century.

Vercin/Verdine/Verdun. Alexandre Verdin, his brothers,
Pierre and Jean-Baptiste, and his sister Marie who married
Nictolas Joseph Robinet, were children of Jean-Adam Verdin

38

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgement UHN-V001-D005 Page 164 of 448



Historical Report - United Houma Nation, Inc.

(Gernman) and Marie-Anne Dauphin (French). All were baptized
at New Orleans (Cathedral of St. Louis King of France, New
Orleans, 1758, 1767, 1769, 1771). The three brothers made a
land claim "on both sides of Bayou Derbonne" in the
Lafourche area as early as 1792/93, but the land
commissioners stated that they were reported to have left
the area prior to 1800. The claim was first denied but then
approved upon appeal (ASP 1834c, 3:261-262, No. 612, under
the spelling Vardin). They spent some time in the Attakapas
District where the Robinet family had settled (Conrad 1992,
107, 360, 379 and throughout). The 1810 census recorded all
thre: of the brothers in the section of Attakapas District
sout1 of St. Martin of Tours church, each recorded as a
whitz male in a household of free persons of color.
Alexandre Verdin‘’s household showed three persons of color
(original 1810 Population Census Louisiana, 68). Alexandre
had returned to Lafourche - Terrebonne by 1820 (Jackson,
Teeples, and Schaefermeyer 1981, 31).

Betwz2en 1805 and 1822, he fathered seven children by an
American Indian woman, Marie Gregoire, of unknown tribal
origin.?* Those who survived to adulthood remained in
Terrsbonne Parish and became ancestors of numerous UHN
members. Several additional free persons of color named
Verdin, who may have been descendants of Alexandre Verdin’s
brothers, amalgamated with the group during the 1830’s and
1840’s, while at least one of his brothers left descendants
amony the Atakapa (Gatschet 1885).

Dardar. Journalists’ reports on the UHN have claimed Dardar
as being a uniquely Indian name (UHN Pet., Ex. 3: Sherwin

#  of possible relevance to the tribal origins of Marie Gregoire is a
notebook by Albert Samuel Gatschet entitled Atakapa Language, gathered at Lake
Charles, Louisiana, in 1885 (Smithsonian Institution, National Anthropological
Archives #239-a-b, BAE Records). It indicates that Cyprien Verdin, a nephew of
Alexandre Verdin, was married to an Atakapa woman, showing that the family had
ties to tha: tribe. Specifically, Gatschet described Delia/Delila Moss (Swanton
1911, 362, gave her name as Delia Morse) as a daughter of Cyprien Verdin, who
raised the children and died in the Civil War after they were grown, and of an
Atakapa woran who removed to Texas.

This unnamed Atakapa woman was said to be the daughter of Shu’kuhui, chief
of the the Atakapa at English Bayou/Lake Charles, and of Mary Ann. Delia was
described :B a cousin of Pauline Verda-ine, and of Eliza Verda-ine (born ca.
1848), who knew the Atakapa language and lived at Lockport, 3-4 miles west of
Lake Charles.

Civil marriage records gave the name of Cyprien Verdin'’s wife as Helene.

They were married in 1826 (Hebert 1974b, 2:887). Baptismal records for their
children gave her surname as Baradin (Hebert 1976b, 563) or Barabino (Hebert
1977, 463).
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Guidry, "Houmas Indians, First Americans," Subsection
’0ld2st Resident/Bright Future for Houmas,’ Courier), but it
is not., Michel Dardar was born in 1782 in Chalons-sur-
Marnz, France. The date of his arrival in the Bayou
Terrzbonne settlement is not known, but he married Adelaide
Billiot there in 1809 (Lafourche Parish, Marriage Records,
Bk. 1808-1829, No. 4). It is possible that he was there by
1803, when a Michel "Dirdia" or "Dardan" claimed a tract of
land situated in the county of Lafourche, on both sides of
Bayo. Terrebonne, containing 330 superficial acres, adjacent
Joseph Ganoe and Pierre Bion [Biou, Billiot], settled and
cultivated by permission of the proper Spanish officer prior
to D2cember 20, 1803 (ASP 1834, 3:231, No. 597). However,
it is not certain that Dardar was in the U.S. so early, for
this claimant may have been from the Dardenne family which
had numerous members in the Lafourche area.

Summary. The UHN petitioner has far more European ancestry
than it does Indian ancestry, even though the Indian
ancestry spread as a result of group endogamy
(intermarriage). No families besides the Courteaux and the
Verdins known to have married into the UHN ancestral group
through the time of the Civil War have been documented to be
of Indian origin, although the possibility has not been
disproven in the cases of Joseph Gregoire, the Jaco
(Jacjuot) family, and Marie Migoulois. In addition to
Naquin and Chaisson (discussed above), the Magnan, Renaud,
and Dubkois families, all in the Terrebonne area prior to
1800, were demonstrably of Acadian or combined colonial
French and Acadian ancestry. The origin of the Parfait UHN
ancestor is undocumented, but according to the UHN’s oral
tradition, he was French. The Fredericks were from
Louisiana’s German Coast and of German/French descent. The
Creppel, Gallet (Terrebonne Genealogical Society 1983, 64),
and Roubion (Toups 1991b, 1) marriages, like that to Dardar,
were to men born in France. The Fitch ancestor came from
Kentucky and married into the Verrets.

The proportion of African ancestry in the UHN founding group
was jJenetically very small and culturally insignificant.?®
After the founding generation, which contained African
ancestry in the line of Marie Enerisse/Iris (mother of the
Billiots), and the second generation, when some entered via
intermarriage by way of Celeste Lamatte and Babet Marie,

¥ Except in so far as white supremacists, more than a century later, would
attempt to use its presence to force an amalgamation between the UHN and other
non-white population groups.
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there were no documented alliances between the UHN ancestral
group and the general community of Euro/Afrxcan free persons
of color prior to the Civil War.? It is probable from the
historical circumstances (the Iris family had been in
Louisiana, and free, at least since 1741) and descriptive
terminology used in contemporary records that all three of
these women were, in part, of European ancestry. Celeste
Lamatte was specifically described as a quadroon. It is
certain that all three of them were European—acculturated in
the sense that they were Catholic in religion, French in
language, and bore their children to men of European
ancestry. '

Relaticnship of Appearance of Known UHN Ancestral Families
in Lafourche/Terrebonne to Early Nineteenth-century Reports
of Historical Houma Tribal Locations. To sum up the
material gathered above, none of the ancestral families of
the UHN have been shown to have descended from the
historical Houma tribe. The majority of them have been
shown to have resided elsewhere than in Ascension and St.
James Parishes (the knowh location of the historical Houma
tribe’s villages) prior to 1800. The documentation
indicates that the majority of the ties among the UHN’s
ancestors developed only after the families had settled on
their Spanish land grants in what is now Terrebonne Parish
after 1790/1800.

EVIDENCE OF UHN BACKGROUND FROM U. 8. LAND CLAIMS.

General Nature of Claims Records. Almost immediately after
the date of United States sovereignty in Louisiana, settlers
claimed lands based on grants issued under the French and
Spanish administrations. Descendants, purchasers, or likely
speculators claimed title from those to whom the grants were
originally made. Disposition of the claims was made by
commissioners who were authorized by U.S. law to pass on
their validity.

The various classes of Louisiana claims were summarized in
two 1812 reports (ASP 1834b, 2:377-379, No. 200). A clear
explanation of the procedures by which French and Spanish
land titles were granted (written petition or requete to the
commandant of the post, regular survey, and sometimes, but
not always, formal patent by the governor) and the

* The Jeanne/Dianne family members were described as free persons of color.
The earliest known ancestor was a native of Campeche, Mexico.
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procedures of the American commissioners in handling these
clains was made to Congress in 1813 (ASP 1834b, 2:635-636,
Clain No. 240). Some were dismissed or rejected for lack of
docunentation (ASP 1834b, 2:299, No. 421; ASP 1834b, 2:300,
No. «22; ASP 1834b, 2:435, No. 338).

The records are extensive: reports of these claims made to
the General Land Office (ASP 1834b, 2:224-404) comprise a
tota.. of 180 pages of several hundred claims by individuals
throughout the Orleans Territory, as constituted in 1811-
1812. This was just one of many similar reports made in an
attenpt to recognize and confirm land titles in portions of
the .ands purchased from France in 1803.

At least some members of the UHN trace their genealogical
roots to individuals who claimed land under these
procedures. A number of claims were made by individuals
with surnames matching those of families noted in the
geneialogy accompanying the UHN petition (ASP 1834b, 2:395-
96, Nos. 6, 10, 15; 2:411, No. 207; ASP 1834b, 2:415, Nos.
249, 250, 251; ASP 1834b, 2:417, Nos. 275, 286; ASP 1834b,
2:418, No. 312; ASP 1834b, 2:432, Nos. 314, 339, 340, 341,
368, 369; 2:433, No. 370, 371, 453, 484, 496; ASP 1834b,
2:43%, No. 338). None of these documents identified by
clainant by race or background. Each of these confirmed
claims was located on Bayou Lafourche or Bayou Terrebonne.
Other:r claims in the same geographical areas were made by
individuals not related to those on the UHN membership list.

Generral Nature of Indian Tribal Claims and Sales.
Individuals who considered themselves to be Indian were free
to submit claims for individual parcels. In the early
ninef:eenth century, these claims made by individual Indians
were not afforded the protection of tribal lands, as was the
praci:ice when the United States made treaties with Indian
tribes as tribes. '

Some claims involved lands initially conveyed by Indians. A
number of these were denied for lack of adequate
docunentation, or lack of information indicating Indian
occupancy of the lands. Reports from the Land District
Office of Western Louisiana in 1815 cited the Spanish policy
as to what lands constituted Indian lands. In reports dated
April 6, 1815, and May 1, 1815 (ASP 1834c, 3:91, 119), the
nature of Indian land-holding practice and policy under
Spanish administration in Louisiana was discussed, (ASP
1834, 3:94; ASP 1834c, 3:146). The Spanish policy
regarding title to Indian lands in Louisiana had allowed the
Indians to occupy what areas they wished. Official acts
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under the French or the Spanish either "granted" the lands
in some official act or unofficially recognized that the
Indians held certain tracts, usually called villages.

The Spanish respected Indian occupancy and title to lands as
inhering in the soil. Indians were allowed to sell their
lands, customarily with the government’s consent, although
apparently no time requirement existed for such consent.
This was in part because the approval was a "formality,"
rather than a real possibility of refusal. "The principle
is well established, that a deed for lands from Indians or
their chief, who, in all cases sells in his name for them,
is as valid and good [as others], and the title as complete,
provided the land sold was a village or part of a village"
(ASE 1834c, 3:146). Indeed, even villages deserted by the
Indian tribes in Louisiana apparently continued to be
considered Indian property by the Spanish. :

Certain land claims did describe Indian individuals by the
names of their tribes. Those tribes that were named in
General Land Office documents included the Atakapa (ASP
1834c, 3:91, 120-121) and the Choctaw (ASP 1834b, 2:775-
776). In the schedule of sales made by Indians of lands in
Opelousas and Attakapas Parishes, eleven individual Indians
were named as selling various acreages.

The American commissioners distinguished four separate
categories or classes of claims to lands purchased from
Indians during the Spanish period. The first class covered
those claims to land purchased from Indians who were found
to ke Christian. These were usually small tracts for the
use of one family. The second class was those claims to
land purchased from Indians, a chief or tribe, which had
beer. ratified by the Governor. The Governor'’s ratification
was "regarded as a relinquishment of the title of the Crown
in favor of the purchaser" (ASP 1834c, 3:95). The third
category included sales of lands from Indians who occupied
the lands at time of the sale, even though the deeds had not
beer. presented to the Governor. The title was incomplete in
sucl. transactions, the claimant having only an "equitable
claim for the confirmation of his title" (ASP 1834c, 3:96).
Finally, if the lands claimed as having been sold by Indians
were: unoccupied at the date of the sale and the Governor of
Louisiana had not ratified the transaction, then the
purchasers or claimants’ title was not confirmed (ASP 1834c,
3:96).

Of those claims made by individuals who derived their title
from "purchase from Indians," most were not recommended for
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confirmation by the U.S. land commissioners. The report
dated April 6, 1815, from the Western District Land Office
indicated only 5 of 20 claims involving lands "sold" by
Indians were recommended for confirmation (ASP 1834c, 3:91-
97, No. 235). A similar report dated May 1, 1815, included
nine sales claiming Indian lands. Five of these nine were
reconmended to provide, in part, compensation if not actual
titls to the land. The issue upon which confirmation of the
ljand claim turned was non-occupancy of the land by the
Indians at the time of the conveyance.

As examples of handling of these Indian sales, the
Pascagoula joined the Biloxi in a land sale in 1802 (ASP
1834b, 2:789-93, No. 125; ASP 1834b, 2:801-803). Documents
indicate that in the first decade of U.S. sovereignty in
Louisiana, the Choctaw, Pascagoula, and Biloxi tribes were
located on Bayou Boeuf, in Rapides Parish. The conveyance
made by the Biloxi, Choctaw, and Pascagoula tribes to
William Miller and Alexander Fulton in 1802 was brought
before the General Land Office officials and reported June
9, 1813 (ASP 1834b, 2:744, 775, 789-795, no. 217; ASP 1834c,
3:91-97, no. 235). .

The Early Federal Period Land Claim By the "Homas Tribe of

Indians" Was Not Located in the Lower Bayous. At some time
between 1803 and 1817, a claim was filed by "The Homas tribe

of Indians" to twelve sections of land “"on bayou Boeuf, or
Black bayou." This claim for land near Nachitoches, in the
general Red River area where others of the "petites nations"
had established themselves by the time of the American
purchase of Louisiana, was denied by the General Land Office
in 1817, under the Act of February 27, 1813, on the ground
that it did not fall within provisions of the existing laws.
It indicates, however, that as of the January, 1817, date of
the report to the General Land Office in which the claim was
included (ASP 1834c, 3:254; ASP 1834c, 3:265, No. 247),
Houra Indians apparently were seeking to claim lands in
north central Louisiana (ASP 1834a, 1:349, No. 164). This
indicates that the direction of movement of the historical
Houna tribe, when it left the Mississippi River parishes,
had not been south, but rather northwest. One writer has
mairtained that the denial of this claim violated the
Louisiana Purchase Treaty (Curry 197%a, 17).

No [ocumented Land Sales by the Historical Houma Tribe after
1774. There is no documentation for any lands conveyed by

the historical Houma, as_a tribe, after 1774. There is
little indication that the tribe advanced land claims after
that. date: the above referenced 1817 unsuccessful claim for
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lands on Bayou Boeuf by unnamed Houma Indians (ASP 1834c,

3:265, No. 247) is the sole exception. There is no

documentation to indicate why this occurred, but the .
phenomenon does raise some basic questions. Was it because

the historical Houma tribe had no additional interest in

lands to convey? Had the historical Houma tribe amalgamated

with other tribes? Were no chiefs still functioning to act

as representative(s) for the historical Houma?. The answer

to each of the three questions appears to be, "yes."

The "Houmas Claim" Was By American Settlers to Land Which
the Historical Houma Tribe Had Already Sold in 1774.

Several documents were presented to the Congress in the mid-
nineteenth century, each of which dealt with the "Houmas
Claim." In spite of the name of the claim, Houma Indians,
either as a tribe or individually, were not claiming these
lands. Instead, non-Indian successors of the eighteenth-
century European purchasers were the nineteenth-century
claimants, seeking to confirm title in themselves.

In October 1774, the Bayogoula and Houma Indians sold
certain lands on the left (east) bank of the Mississippi
River, the exact description of which was unclear. Chiefs
of the two tribes conveyed the lands, the location of which
was confused by subsequent overlapping claims.
Correspondence and petitions for title to certain portions
of the Houma land were recorded in an opinion of the U.S.
Attorney General dated December 31, 1847, (Sen. Doc. 150,
36th Cong. 1lst Sess., p. 7-55). The tracts involved in
various transfers were intertwined in a series of claims
made on the government, essentially to clear title in the
name of the claimants.

The Donaldson, Conway, and Clark claims to the "Houmas
Grant," located on the north side of the Bayou Manchac, were
reviewed under the provisions of Acts of Congress enacted
March 2, 1805, 2 Stat. 324; April 21, 1806, 2 Stat. 391;
March 3, 1807, 2 Stat. 440; March 3, 1811, 2 Stat. 662;
April 25, 1812, 2 Stat. 713; April 12, 1814, 3 Stat. 121;
and April 18, 1814, 3 Stat. 137. This legislation provided
for confirmation procedures regarding private land claims in
Louisiana, yet these Acts did not simplify the complexities
of surveying and patenting lands either in the context of
French and Spanish law or in light of Louisiana’s ecological
and geographical realities (Sen. Ex. Doc. 111, 46th Cong.,
2d sess). The Attorney General concluded that the grant to
one Maurice Conway was "a complete and perfect Spanish
Grant," but that certain patents issued to Donaldson, Scott,
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and “lark were "void and of no effect"™ (Sen. Ex. Doc. 111,
46th Cong., 2d sess., 55).

Docunentation pertaining to the "Houmas Claim" was printed
as congressional documents on several different occasions in
the nineteenth century. Two of these were: "Information in
relation to the claim to land in the State of Louisiana,
callad the ’‘Houmas claim’" (Sen. Doc. 45, 28th Cong., 24
Sess., January 13, 1845, Serial Vol. 450), and "The select
committee to whom was referred the memorial of residents and
owners of lands in the parishes of Ascension and Iberville,
Louisiana, . . . to whom, also, were referred the protest of
the swners of the Houmas grant, . . ." (Sen. Doc. 150, 36th
Cong., 1lst Sess., March 23, 1860) . These two Congressional
docunents alone comprised over 250 pages of correspondence,
copiss of eighteenth century Spanish and French materials
and sxtensive discussion of the issues which characterized
the nistory and individual claims involved.

Confision in the legal terminology and uncertainty
concarning the exact location of the lands involved
incrzased to the degree that a General Land Office report of
1880 on the "Houmas Claim" identified the lands as
comprising approximately 120,000 acres. Reports of the
Survayors General, Louisiana, made to the Commissioner of
the seneral Land Office, filed in the 1870’s, include
references to the unconfirmed land claims in Louisiana. The
reports indicate title to approximately 80,000 acres was
still unresolved. This excluded the lands embraced within
the "Houmas Grants" (GLO Reports, 1873, 1874, 1877; Sen. EX.
Doc. 111, 46th Cong., 2d sess.). In none of these
docunents, however, were any UHN ancestors cited as having
any possible interest in or title to the lands in dispute.

Land Claims by Individual UHN Ancestors. Research conducted
in records of the General Land Office and Louisiana parish
conveyance records, using the citations in the American
State Papers, suggests a chain of title exists from
individual claims made in the early nineteenth century to
the present. However, the voluminous amount of material
which must be reviewed and collated in such an effort to
prove more than mere "connections" precluded an extensive
in-depth research endeavor. Entries in tract books of the
General Land Office indicating claims by individuals with
surnames identical to those of members of the petitioning
group lead to the tentative conclusion that individual land
clains which were confirmed were later surveyed and platted,
and the surveys approved, as early as 1831-1832, although in
some cases they were not patented until 1964!
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Informatioh available on private land claims includes the
names. of individuals making those claims, the names of
individuals making application for the patents, and the
issuence of the patents in the name of the original
claimants. Subsequent actions on those claims by the
General Land Office and the Bureau of Land Management were
admir.istrative actions taken, file numbers, and patenting
procedures. Certain documentation submitted by one
individual to the BAR included genealogical data intended to
demorstrate the inheritance of land by that individual and
members of his family (Bureau of Land Management patents,
submitted to BAR, with documentation, by P.H.B. Martinez,
Fort Worth, Texas, July 1991).

These submitted records include copies of a dozen patents
issued between 1940 and 1964 (8 issued in 1964, 1 in 1963, 2
in 1950, and 1 in 1940). They indicate a chain of title
exists on lands initially claimed in the early nineteenth
century by individuals with the surname Billiot, in six of
twelve instances. These lands were platted from surveys
completed in 1831-32 and 1856. However, the lands were not
officially patented until well over 100 years had elapsed.
The coming of the War between the States in the late 1850’s,
the long duration of that conflict, both in actuality and
the period of Reconstruction following, when Federal troops
occupied Louisiana and other states, may have contributed to
this delay. The delay may also indicate a predisposition of
both the Federal and state governments to refrain from the
patenting of lands to those not considered full-fledged
citizens, be they considered black, negro, mulatto, Indian,
or some combination.

One example of two claims being made on behalf of an
individual who was one of the progenitors of the UHN is that

of "Marie Nerisse/Erice". Her claim (No. 370) was approved
for patenting in 1964 (ASP 1834b, 2:433, Report No. 193,
January 8, 1812). Claim No. 370, contained 309.24 acres,
according to the plat of survey of August 30, 1856. Another
clain (No. 249) was referenced in a letter of the Bureau of
Land Management, dated August 5/6, 1963. This claim was
reported as part of Report No. 368, dated January 1, 1823
(ASP 1834c, 3:597, No. 251). Each claim was confirmed,
according to the BLM documents, the first under authority of
the Act of March 3, 1807, 2 Stat. 440; the second under
authority of the Act of February 28, 1823, 3 Stat 727.

There were also two claims on behalf of Charles Billiot.
The first claim (No. 314), made as part of Report No. 193,
January 8, 1812, was approved for patenting and patent
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issued in December 1963 (ASP 1834b, 2:433, Report No. 193,

January 8, 1812). The second was made as part of Report No.
368, January 1, 1823 (ASP 1834c, 3:597). These were also
surveyed and the plats of survey approved in 1831-32 and
1855.

NINETEENTH-CENTURY DEMOGRAPHY OF THE UHN ANCESTORS.

Interconnections of Families Based upon Baptismal Sponsor-
ships, Witnessing of Legal Documents, etec. Civil and church
records from the early nineteenth century demonstrate that
ancestors of the modern UHN frequently did appear in such
roles as witnesses to one another’s deeds and sponsors at
the oaptisms of one another's children. However, the same
records clearly demonstrate that they were neither the
exclisive nor even the predominant fulfillers of such roles.
In tne case of legal documents, this might be explained by
the wish to have as witnesses white neighbors whose
testimony could not be impeached in court in the case of
future disputes or challenges to the document. This could
not be a causative factor in the case of baptismal
sponsorships, however.

Community Residence Patterns from the Federal Census, 1810~
1860. All source materials have their limitations. When
usiny Federal censuses to outline community development, it
is necessary to emphasize that ethnic identifications did
not remain consistent from one Federal census to another:
in 1810 and 1820, the household of Alexandre Verdin had one
free white male, while all others in the household were
identified as free persons of color. In 1830, all free
persons in his household (with a very high degree of
probability the same children by the same Indian mother,
Marie Gregoire) were listed as white. On the other hand,
the household of Solomon Verret, who was identified in his
marriage record as a free man of color, was consistently
listed as white in the 1820, 1830, 1840, and 1850 Federal
censuses.

pattern shown by the 1810 Federal Censhs. In addition to
the originals of the 1810 Federal census for Lafourche

Parish, Louisiana (U.S. Bureau of the Census. Original 1810
Population Census Louisiana), there is a published version
(Census Records 1957). Several heads of UHN-ancestral
families, and also many unrelated neighbors and associates
who appear in documents pertaining to UHN ancestors, were
listed in this census. The families of interest for an
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analy/sis were not in a uniform pattern of close Fesidential
contact. Some names were difficult to decipher.”

To make the meaning of the following listing easier to
follow, the listings have been keyed. Names in bold print
are persons, both Indian and non-Indian, who were members of
futur-e UHN core families. Names underlined are French or
Acadian families which would marry into the UHN ancestral
group in subsequent generations, but were not yet associated
with it as of the date the census was taken. Names in
italics indicate neighbors who witnessed deeds, sponsored
baptisms, and otherwise were associated with UHN ancestors
in the documentary record, but who were not themselves
ancestors of the modern UHN group. Regular type indicates
neighbors who did not appear associated with UHN ancestors
in documents.

On Biayou Lafourche (ellipses indicate the appearance of
seveiral other households between the names, indicating that
~ these individuals of interest for the history of the UHN
lived in the same general vicinity along Bayou Lafourche,
but were not immediate or next door neighbors to one
another): . . . Marie Celeste Lamatte (marginal note, "A
quadrroon") . . . Thomas PFitch . . . Jacques Lamotte . . .
Jacques Verret . . . Valentine Solet . . . Guillaume Gobert.
On Bayou Terrebonne (full listing of residents, in order):?®
Thomas Rhodes, Hubert Bellenger, Margrette Bellenger,
Auguste Babin, Henry S. Thibodeaux,” Ustace Carret, Pierre
Guedi'y, Pierre Sylvie, Francis Sylla, Joseph Darsy [Darce],
Widow Charles Bergeron, John Cambel, Jean Joseanses [?],
Jean Baptist Henry, Joseph Boudraux, Jean Duprey, Pierre
Shaison [Chaisson), Jean Nankin (Naquin]), Jean Pierre Dugot
{Dugas), Pierre Bourge [Bourg?/Bourque?], Marian Billau(x?]

7  The Accelerated Indexing System index to the 1810 census of Louisiana
indexed "Velentia Solet,” ”"Marian Billoux" and "Courlo Savage” in Lafourche
Parish (Jackson 1976, 13, 133, and 136). The following names are as they appear

in the published version (Census Records, 1957), indicating some of the
_difficultien that appear in attempting to use published indexes: Jacques Loret
or Verret . . . Volentine Lobet . . . Marian Billain, Coxitoca Savage.

Examination of the original census at the National Archives indicated that this
final name was "Courto, a Savage."

? Note that this order corresponds closely with that of the land grants,
from north 1:0 south.

P The Justice of the Peace who performed the 1808 marriage of Jacques
Billiot and Rosalie Courteau, Thibodeaux was born in Albany, New York, but had
settled in l.ouisiana by 1793 (Westerman 1991: 29-30).
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(marginal note: free Negress 60 years old, pas land, pays
tax, has 10 children), Courto a Bavage (marginal note: pays
tax, has six children).

pPattern Shown by the 1820 Federal Census. In addition to
the originals of the 1820 Federal census of Lafourche
Interior Parish, there is a published version (Westerman
1982). This census had no separate category for “Indian"
identification--ancestors of the petitioning group were
identified as either white or as free persons of color.

The 1820 Federal census listing of names, apparently in
order of residence since the names again track well with the
order shown in plats and surveys of land grants along Bayou
Terrebonne from north to south, indicates that those persons
who were most closely associated with the early petitioning
community were living in a tight but not exclusive
residential group.

To make the meaning of the following listing easier to
follow, the listings have been keyed. Names in bold print
are persons, both Indian and non-Indian, who were members of
future UHN core families. Names underlined are French or
Acadian families which would marry into the UHN ancestral
group in subsequent generations, but were not yet associated
with it as of the date the census was taken. Names in
italics indicate neighbors who witnessed deeds, sponsored
baptisms, and otherwise were associated with UHN ancestors
in the documentary record, but who were not themselves
ancestors of the modern UHN group. Regular type indicates
neighbors who did not appear associated with UHN ancestors
in documents.

Pircn Amie, Thomas Pitch, Joseph Collet [dit Prevost), Marie
Riche [{i.e. Marie Iris/Eris], Pierre Billiot [Jackson,
Teeples, and Schaefermeyer 1981 indexed as Billcot], Etienne
Billiot ([Jackson, Teeples and Schaefermeyer 1981 indexed as
Ettienne Billcot), Charles Billiot, Mitchel Dardar, Jacque
Billiot [Jackson, Teeples and Schaefermeyer 1981 indexed as
Jocque Belleot], John Billiot (Jackson, Teeples and
Schaefermeyer 1981 indexed as Bilhot]), Bastien Fredrick,
Joseph Bodro fils, John Bpt. Duplantis, Edmon Fanguy, Widow
Tyean [Tyson], Jos. Jean Guenon, Pierre Chasson, Pierre
Bourque, John Bpt. Henry fils, John Bpt. Henry, Frans.
Const. Henry, Chs. Mager. Henry, Widow Bodro, Isidore Bodro,
Frarcs. Dubois, Charles Dupret, John Dupret fils, John
Dupret pere, Joseph Cher-Amie, Jerome Dupret, Jean Naquin,
Gabriel Lebeuf, John Pierre Dugas, Alexandre Verdine, John
Mars, Lewis Lynge [Synge], Joseph Gennot, Daniel Laquet,
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Ambroise Dugas, Joseph Bourgeois, Augustin Babin, Widow
Crochet, Hubert Baulenger [Bellenger] ... Jacque Verret
(Weserman 1982, 33).

Pattern Shown by the 1830 Federal Census. In 1830, census
iden:ification possibilities again were "free white" or
"fre: persons of color" (abbreviated as "fpc"). The census
of Terrebonne Parish, Louisiana, showed in this year three
separ-ate residential clusters (U.S. Bureau of the Census,
1830l>, NARA Microfilm Series M-19, Roll 43):

(1) Alexandre Verdine, Pierre Chaisson, Solomon Verret,
Joseph Gauber, Joseph Gregoire [possibly an Acadian rather
than the UHN ancestor)]) (all of these persons counted as

white) . . . ; (2) Jean M. Naquin (white), Pierre Billeaux
(fpci, Charles Billeaux (fpc), Henry Carr, Edmond Fanguille
. . . ; and (3) Jean Billeaux (fpc), Pierre Cazeau, Joseph

Mongen, Etienne Billeaux (fpc), Jean V. LeBlanc.

The (ourteau family did not receive a "head of household"
listing in Terrebonne Parish in 1830 or 1840. There are
some indications that they may have been living elsewhere,
as land sales made in 1836 and confirmed in 1845 to
"Cou:-teau Houma and Antoine Houma' and "Modeste Abbey and
Julian Houma" indicate that this family, as well as some of
the Billiots, were purchasing Federal land in St. Martin
Parish (BLM, Federal Land Certificates, December 8, 1845).%
The petition presented no information pertaining to these
purchases. However, the family was living in Terrebonne
Parish in 1828 and 1838 when Joseph Courteau Houma executed
deed:s, and in 1844 at the time of his death, so they may
have been counted in someone else’s household.

Pattern Shown by the 1840 Federal Census. In 1840, census.

iden:ification possibilities again were "free white" or
"free persons of color." It is marked by anglicized
phonetic spelling of many French family names ("Abear" for
Hebe:rt, "Robsho" for Robicheaux), which makes its use
difficult. Again, there were clusters:

®» y.s. Land Office - Index to Tract Books, Southeastern District. Abbey,
Modeste & !louma, Julien, Bk. 41, Folio 89; 46/144. sec. 23, T55, RBE, LA
Meridian, sale 2/8/1836, pat. 10/6/1841, vol. 1, p. 435.

December 8, 184S. Houma, Couteau and Houma, Antcine, of the Parish of
Terrebonne, Section 66, T20 R18E; Section 21, T5, R8E, District of land subject
to sale at New Orleans, Louisiana, containing 329 64/100 acres.
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J. M. Naquin (husband of Pauline Verdin) next door to Ursin
Verdin (both households counted as white) (NARA Microfilm
Series M-704, Roll 129, 31). Separated from them by three
households were A. Beyout [Jackson and Teeples 1978 indexed
as Beyont] next door to L. Verret, all counted as white
(NAR?. Microfilm Series M-704, Roll 129, 32).

After an interval of twelve households appeared: Pierre
Beix [Beez, Becz, Beey?] (6 f.p.c.), J. Rice ([?], S. Verret
(white), H. Beo (2 f.p.c.), C. Daldar (5 f.p.c.), C. Bieo
(Beco?) (white), Benjn. Thibodeaux, P. Beo (4 f.p.c.), J.
Greg¢sano (Gregoire?] (7 f.p.c.), F. Debo, F. Thibodeaux,
Vin F. Town, P. Dursch, P. Thibodeaux, M. Beo (white), W.
Delaide Vinton (1 free woman of color, aged 55/100)3 (NARA
Microfilm Series M-704, Roll 192, 32-33).

1850 and 1860 Federal Census Records. The clearest pictures

of the petitioning community in the mid-nineteenth century
come from the Federal census records of 1850 and 1860.
Published, annotated versions of both these documents are
available (Horvath 1985 and Terrebonne Genealogical Society
1983). In 1850, generally, as ethnic identification, the
desicnations of "black" or "mulatto" were substituted where
"all other free persons except Indians not taxed" or "free
colored persons" had been used in the earlier decennial
censuses. :

Ethnic Identification. In 1850, the majority of the
ancestors of the UHN were classified as mulatto, though
several families were counted as white. Modeste, nee
Billiot, wife of Joseph Provost, had "I" for "Indian"
inserted in the ethnic identity column (Horvath 1985, 106).
The 1860 census identified many more members of the group as
Indizn, though not with any consistency--some were
identified as mulatto, and others as white, with variable
desicnations for persons who were full siblings. Modeste
(Billiot) Prevost, who had been the only individual labelled
Indian in 1850, was classified as white in 1860, in her
white husband’s household #325 (Terrebonne Genealogical
Society 1983, 44). The families were in Terrebonne Parish,
but ro clear residential pattern appeared from the census
listings.

¥ Circumstantial evidence indicates that this might be a listing for
Adelaide Billiot, who otherwise does not appear in this census, but is known from
other documents to have been living in the area.
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1850 Residential Groupings. In 1850, the family of Jean
Billiot, #228, was followed by two Dupre households--the
Dupre’s having beeh neighbors of UHN ancestors, but not
themselves UHN ancestors, at least since 1810.% Nearby, at
#235 and #236, were the households of Charles Dardar and
Etienne Billiot. The remainder were listed in several
separate clusters: Jean Baptiste Verdin at #333; Etienne
Billiot at #336; Michel Billiot #337; Jean Baptiste Gregoire
#338; then Pierre Billiot at #350; Francis Fitch #353; and
Solomon Verret #356; then Louis Verret #523 and Joseph
Provost, #525; finally, Ursin Verdin at #542 and Celestin
Billiot at #550 (Horvath 1985, 62-64, 92-93, 96-98, 105-106,

150) .

1860 Residential Groupings. The household of Michel Billiot
was more or less isolated at #297. Joseph Verret, Etienne
Billiot, and Solomon Verret were next door neighbors (#307,
308, and 309). A residential cluster began at #341 with
Frank Fitch, followed by Rene Billiot, Robert Billiot, and
M. Billiot.

There was one other clear residential cluster. Michel
Billiot (#467) was living near his Dubois in-laws. As
neighbors, he had Paul Dardar (#472), Clemente Carlos
(married to a Naquin and who was involved with Rosalie
Courteau’s land transactions in the next decade) (#474),
Rosalie (Courteau) Billiot (#475), Rosalie’s sons, Jean
Marcellus Billiot (#476) and Barthelemy Billiot (#477), her
daughter Felicite’s family (#479), Mrs. M. Courteau (#480),
Julien Billiot [Courteau] (#481), and Manette (Renaud)
Billiot (#482).

Azilda Billiot had by this time married Andre Chaisson, and
was at #531, near others of the Dubois connection. At some
distance, Antoine Courteau, working as a farm laborer, was
by himself at #£644, and it is not clear whether the Courteau
woman and child shown in the next household were his sister
and niece or his wife and child. Philerome Billiot was at
#646, Pierre Billiot at #649, Louis Verret at #653, Frederic
Parfait at #657. Rosalie Courteau’s son, Jacques, was
working as a farm laborer and living in household #639, near
Jean Verdin (#641) and Joseph Courteau (#642).

Nature of the Mid-Nineteenth Century Petitiening Community.
Information on the activities of the UHN in the mid-

3% vincent Dupre would marry Rosalie Gregoire in 1858, beginning a UHN
Dupre family line.

53

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgement UHN-V001-D005 Page 179 of 448



Histcrical Report - United Houma Nation, Inc.

nineteenth century is scattered, if not sketchy. One
explanation for the lack of information is that offered by
Janel Curry (Curry 1979a; Curry 1979b), who worked among the
UHN cn behalf of the Central Mennonite Committee in the
later 1970’s. curry'’s research has been incorporated into
the UHN petition.

curry maintained that ecological conditions and historical
circumstances combined to isolate UHN ancestors, driven
there by economic circumstances, in small residential
pockets in the southern Louisiana bayous. cCurry contended
that these isolated settlements permitted the UHN ancestral
families to maintain linked familial and social ties. She
also claimed that the families in these settlements adapted
to the economic circumstances by moving from an agricultural
to a "hunting and gathering" society (Curry 1979a, 18; cCurry
1979h, 6 and 15-16).

Curry overstated this point. The economic pattern of UHN
ancestors was, it is true, more traditionally agricultural
in the mid-19th century than it was to become in the early
20th century. By the latter date, many members of the
petitioning community were living on houseboats. They were,
however, fishing, oystering, and trapping for commercial
sales~-not just for subsistence--and their existence
remained tied to the surrounding cash economy. Manuel
Naquin’s grandfather constructed pirogues [small, flat-
bottomed boats], used to transport groceries from Houma, a
six hour trip (UHN Pet., Ex. 7:#203, p. 2).

curry’s review of Terrebonne Parish land records indicated
expansion by UHN ancestors into several locations during the
nineteenth century. These records showed families residing
as far west as Bayou Du Large and as far east as Bayou

- Lafourche (Curry 1979a, 18, citing Terrebonne Parish
Conveyance Records and Lafourche Parish Tax Roll). She

argued that the leadership of the group decentralized to
individuals in the various locations that the group occupied
and settled on a permanent basis (Curry 1979b, 8).

These locations included Bayou du Large, Bayou Lafourche,
Dulac, Point Barre on Lower Bayou Terrebonne, and Bayou
Petit. Caillou ((Curry 1979a, 18; Curry 1979b, 8; Swanton
1911, 291). Curry stated that the leadership that grew out
of such a decentralized situation was "based on kinship or
identification with a certain community" (Curry 1979a, 18).
This hypothesis was based primarily upon Swanton’s research
(Swanton 1911, 291-292).
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However, Curry elsewhere contended that it was the economic
adap:ation to "hunting and gathering" and its consequences,
rather than the residential expansion per se, that shifted
political authority away from any centralized leader who
would have been universally recognized by the society
external to the petitioning community. BAR found no
evidence of centralized leadership in the mid-19th century
perind.

By tae 1930’s, Frank G. Speck’s description of the
petitioning group’s organizational system was:

It may be found, broadly applied, that the entire
Houma group is now an extended consanguineous
family. The clan organization is not known.
There is no semblance of political cohesion under
chief, leader or council. The last chief,
apparently a hereditary officer, is remembered to
have been one Delahoussay (Dalahousie) Couteau
(Courteau). He is an historical figure mentioned
by Swanton,* and pointed to by the Houma as the
last social unifier, whose death (about 1800) left
the people minus leadership (Speck 1943, 213).

¥  gwanton mentioned the name Courteau, but not Dalahousie or any of its

variants.
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DEVELOPMENT OF THE UHN COMMUNITY AFTER THE CIVIL WAR.

Unfcrtunately, the petitioner presented essentially no
documentation on the development of the UHN from the Civil
War through World War I other than Federal census records.
The only written material consisted of the above-mentioned
deeds pertaining to land purchases by Rosalie Courteau, but
nothing indicated that these purchases were of a tribal
nature. Rather, they seemed to be ordinary individual land
transactions.

Occupations at the Turn of the Century. It was possible to
derive a picture of the occupations of petitioner’s
ancestral families at the turn of the century from the 1900
U.S. Federal Census (Boudreaux and Morrison 198%a, 296, 311-
318, 345, 446-453). The results are presented in the
following table:
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Occupations of UHN Ancestors (Male) over Age 16
1900 U.S. Census, Terrebonne Parish, LA

Age Fange Fisher- Oyster* Farmer/** Other
man Fishman Farm Labor
Under 26 13 21 15 xx Laborer: 6

Day labor: 1
Swamper: 2
Groc slsm: 1

26-3°% 9 19 7 Grocer: 2
Hunter: 1
Day labor: 2
36-4¢% 6 7 9 Hunter: 1
- Laborer: 1
Swamper: 1

46-5¢ 1 q 3 Laborer: 3

Over 55 1 2 4 Laborer: 1
Day labor: 1
Hunter: 1

Swamper: 1
None: S**»»

. All on Bayou Terrebonne.

' Only 4 farmers/farm laborers were on Bayou Terrebonne; the
remainder lived in the area served by Theriot Church.

LA Seven of the "farm laborers" under 26 were counted in the
households of fathers who were farmers.

**#*%x The ages of these men were given as: (78) (81) (82) (92) (100).

John Swanton. The only study submitted by the petitioner
which interrupted this blank between the Civil War and World
War I was the material gathered by John R. Swanton in the
comrunity in 1907. As an ethnologist, his interest was
primarily in the group’s origins, artifacts, and survivals
of Indian culture, as indicated by the 80 "Indian" words
which he collected from Felicite Billiot (Swanton n.d.;
Swanton 1911, 33). Swanton characterized these words as
nearly pure Choctaw, but, in fact, the words appear to be
Mobilian trade jargon (Drechsel to DeMarce, 1993). .

In so far as the petitioner presented documentation for the
development of the group during this period, it existed in a
group of oral histories taken in the later 1970’s. Some of
the interviewees at this time were over 80 years old, so can
be a2ssumed to have had memories which reached back to the
World War I era. The oral history testimony contains a
plethora of information on ancestors, families, communities,
Houma, and/or "Indians." Various references to leaders,
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leadarship, lands, community, and countless individuals
permeate the answers to questions posed by the interviewers.
Genealogical references are interspersed and numerous
throughout the interviews.

For the period from the Civil War to World War I, the
interviewees were describing, on the basis of recollection
only, things which had been told to them by others. As an
example, one informant stated that the movement of the
Indian groups down the Mississippi bayous occurred with the
displacements caused by the "Confederate war" (UHN Pet., Ex.
7: #224/31, p. 2). One woman related how her grandfather
came down the bayou "with the Indian group he was with"
(Juanita Wilson Roma, UHN Pet., Ex. 7:#223/31). She said
that a considerable amount of moving or drifting around the
area happened at the time they were attempting to get away
from the Choctaw, which took place at the time the Negroes
were . in slavery (UHN Pet., Ex. 7:#223/31). This vagueness
about place and time is characteristic of the oral
interviews. Essentially, there is a SO-year hiatus in the
historical record. Lacking further specifics, i.e., dates,
locations, names, and reasons, only a partial picture
emerges from the oral history testimony.

Self-Identification as Indian. After Swanton published his
first work on the petitioner’s ancestors in 1911,
identification of the petitioner as "Houma" became more
frequent. It was not yet, however, consistent. While the
oral testimony may be illustrative, it is largely
inconclusive as to whether some of the individuals were
Indian, or even claimed to be. The interviews indicate
clearly that Rosalie Courteau’s memory was strongly
imprinted upon her descendants. The general picture is that
of an impressive family matriarch, but there is no evidence
that her political influence went beyond her own extended
family. For example, claims in the petitioner‘’s oral
histories that she originally owned a land grant and donated
the land upon which the city of Houma, Louisiana, is located
have been disproved by a local historian who checked the
chain of title (Chauvin in Morrison 1984, 4).*

M The Spanish land grant was to Joseph Hache, later confirmed to him by the
U.S. goverament. He sold to Brigitte (Belanger) Thibodaux, widow of Henry
Schuyler Thibodaux. She sold a portion to her brother Francois belanger, who
sold to his nephew, Hubert Madison Belanger, and to Hubert’s brother-in-law
Richard Herry Grinage. Their act of donation for relocation of the Terrebonne
Parish courthouse on this property was dated May 10, 1834 (Chauvin in Morrison
1984, 4). The same historian indicates the -following:
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The t:estimony presented by V.S. Dardar indicates a mobile
society characterized by "some Indians that moved from place
to place" (UHN Pet., Ex. 7:#214/15, p. 1). 1In addition, the
mobility factor among the Indians themselves was
chariacterized by knowing other Indians, i.e., wsitimacha"
(sic| were located near Berwick and Morgan City (UHN Pet.
Ex, '7:#214/15, p. 1). At the same time, Dardar indicated
that the "Sitimacha" and modern Houma were "mixed" (UHN
Pet., Ex. 7:#214/15, p. 2). BAR researchers, on the other
hand, found no evidence of intermarriage between the
chitimacha and ancestors of the petitioner during the
nine:eenth and twentieth centuries. It may be of
significance in explaining this confusion that in 1917,
Bushnell’s "Chitimacha" informant was Abel Billiot,
demonstrably a descendant of UHN ancestors (Bushnell 1917).

Some information in the oral histories appeared in
isolation, unconnected to any other data presented in the
petition. For example, Dardar also recalled that in 1932
some "Oklahoma Indians came here and talked to people" (UHN
Pet., Ex. 7:#207). This interesting bit of information also
appeared as a short notice in the Times-Picayune, but no
interviewee recalled who the Indians from Oklahoma were,
from what tribe, or why they had come.

In the oral histories, there was uncertainty both as to
specific dates and actual residential locations of earlier
generations. Referencing the mid-to-late nineteenth
centary, V.S. Dardar stated the "Indians" at Bayou Lafourche
were there prior to anyone else.” He also indicated that

he did not know "anybody that was pure Sitimacha and not
Houma." The mixture of the two groups was more typical,
thoujh "the Terrebonne people were more the Houma people"
(UHN Pet., Ex. 7:#214/15, p. 2).

It is generally conceeded {sjc]) that Houma received it‘s { 8ic) name

from a small band of Indians, who, at the same time of the founding

of the town and for some years prior, were camped at Ouiski Point.

This is where Bayou Cand [gic, should be Bayou Cane) intersects with

Bayou Black, some three miles northwest of the City. Tobias Gibson,

or a member of his household is supposed to have suggested the name.

Houma means "red” in the Indian language (Chauvin in Morrison 1984,

4).
since the aicestors of the petitioner had been living over 20 miles south of the
location of the city of Houma for 30 to 40 years by the time the city was founded
in 1834, this does not indicate a connection between them and the band camped for
some time northwest of the city location.

¥ pccording to the documentary record, the earliest settlers were Acadians.
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The Challenge of White Supremacy. V.S. Dardar (born ca.
1910) indicated that Rosalie Courteau was a "Houma Indian"
(UHMN Pet., Ex. 7:#214/15, p- 2). The petition narrative
indicates that in the early nineteenth century the
generation of Indian women represented by Rosalie Courteau,
and the generation following [no names in addition to that
of Rosalie were provided in the oral history], married
"Frenchmen" (UHN Pet., Narr., 35-36).%

The issue of race predisposed, if not determined, the social
identity of Rosalie Courteau’s husband, Jacques Billiot, a
son of Jean Baptiste Billiot and Marie Enerisse [Iris].
Records of 1812 pensioners indicate Jacques Billiot was of
"yellow complexion" and that he was designated a free person
of ¢olor (U.S. Veterans Administration 1878a). This is
illustrated by comments by Marie Dupre during an oral
history interview in 1977. Dupre indicated to Janel Curry
that. while she thought that Jacques Billiot "came from
France," confusion had resulted from people’s describing him
as part Negro and part Indian. Dupre ascribed this to an
attempt to prevent Rosalie Courteau from obtaining funds
that. other Indians were understood to receive. The issue to
Dupre was not whether Jacques Billiot was Indian, but that
he was construed as being "Negro." According to Dupre,

the reason they done that [sic] was they wanted
her to go down so her people wouldn’t get the
money what the other indians ({sic] are getting in
the west and all over. They figure being married
to a half negro, her family, her grandchildren and
all that they wouldn’t have been able to do
anything because a negro was not able to have
nothing (UHN Pet. Ex. 7:#192). :

The point of the discussion was that Rosalie Courteau was
recognized and accepted as Indian, if not specifically as
Houma. More importantly, since the association of some of
the community with Negroes could not be made through Rosalie
it vas made through her husband. The Negro "association,"

¥ sone of these "Frenchmen" were in fact from France or were from Acadian
families of the local neighborhood, but others were Creoles of partially African
ancestry wio bore French surnames. The social effects on those who maintained
a "Houma" identity were to last for several generations. Because of the
circumstances in which free people of color lived, and the general overall racial
relationships in 19th century Louisiana, the element of African ancestry may have
been what :caused the UHN group to become geographically isolated, socially and
economically constricted, and politically non-existent to those not part of the
numerous kinship networks which developed over several generations.

60

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgement UHN-V001-D005 Page 186 of 448



Historical Report - United Houma Nation, Inc.

which Dupre went on to explain was made because "they wanted
her to go down," is a reference to the white population’s
associating all dark-skinned individuals with Negroes.

The origin of the derogatory term "Sabine" as applied to the
UHN has not been specified to any particular time during the
nineteenth century, nor are there early examples of it in
the written documentation.? 1In any case, the question of
the term’s origin is irrelevant to the merits of the UHN
petition. As the practice of racial discrimination affected
Rosalie Courteau and her husband, however, the use of the
term "Sabine" within the local context, as implying mixed
Indian-Negro ancestry, becomes significant.

For a quarter-century following repeal of anti-miscegenation
statutes in 1870 by a Reconstruction state government
(Dominguez 1986, 84-85), the white, black, Creole, Acadian,
and Indian groups of society could legally mix. Although
still classified as persons of color, Indians could legally
marry whites until 1894. Numerous long-standing households
among the petitioning group’s ancestors legalized their
status during this period.

As the twentieth century dawned, white ascendancy in
Louisiana created a more openly dichotomous racial
atmosphere, as the separation of Creoles of European
ancestry from Creoles of color became more deliberate
(Desdunes 1973, xxi-xxiii). During this period, as
recounted in the UHN oral histories, the assertiveness of
the petitioning community as to its Indian/Houma identity,
personalized in Rosalie Courteau, emerged in the context of
claims to certain land located in the southern Terrebonne
Parish bayous.

Francis Gallet was related to Rosalie through one of her
daughters, Felicite, who was his grandmother, and maintained
lively recollections of her. He indicated in one interview
that his mother was having a baby when Rosalie Courteau
passed away (UHN Pet. Ex. 7: #201/33, p. 3). He stated that
Rosalie Courteau and Jacques Billiot were married when
France was still in Louisiana. It was not unusual for him

¥ A good case could probably be made that it derived from the period

shortly aft.er the purchase of Louisiana by the United States. The unsettled
circumgtances along the Sabine River "and east into what came to be western
Louisiana led up to the Adams-Onis Treaty of 1819 between the United States and
Spain which fixed the western boundary of Louisiana vis-a-vis the eastern
boundary of Texas (Taylor 1984).
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to indicate, or even emphasize, that Jacques Billiot was a
Frenchman. He went on to state that Billiot was friendly
with the Spaniards and wanted to take Francis to South
America (UHN Pet., Ex.#201/13, p. 2). While Gallet
indicated he had not heard of the name "Delahoussaye" his
wife stated, "that was supposed to be Rosalie’s name. Her
last name" [sic); (UHN Pet., Ex. 7:#201/13, p. 2).

Ludvic Dardar asserted that Rosalie "was the daughter of the
chief of the tribe of the Houmas grant" (UHN Pet., Ex.
7:#205). He also was aware that she married Jacques
Billiot, and said that she moved from Houma to Montegut (UHN
Pet., Ex. 7:#205). Oneziphor Dardar, Ludvic’s brother,
indicated in December 1978 that "Rosalie was the aunt of all
these people around here. She was the aunt of my
grandfather on both sides" (UHN Pet., Ex. 7:#207).

After 1894, allegations that ancestors of the petitioner
were Negro (based on the presumption that any African
ancestry, no matter how little, categorized the bearer as
black), or that individuals in the group were passing for
white, became critical to the group’s survival and self-
identification, both for the segment of society wishing to
maintain the Indian identity and that segment seeking to
deliberately categorize all non-whites as colored/Negro. By
this time, any external "Indian" aspects of identification
that may have existed in earlier periods had dissipated so
far, as Swanton found out, that this group of people with
Indian ancestry had to be rediscovered in Louisiana, and
their history had to be reconstructed as a part of the
process of re-labelling them as Indians. Though no Indian
cultural traits remained, compared with the stereotypical
Indian of the late nineteenth and early twentieth century,
his interviewees cast themselves as among the the "Indians
of Louisiana."

Education at the Turn of the Century. Since much of the
petitioner’s oral history tradition and many of the
twentieth-century studies of the petitioner by outsiders
indicated a lack of educational facilities, it should be
noted that the 1900 Federal census indicates that a school
was available to that portion of the group resident at or
near Montegut, Louisiana, on Bayou Terrebonne. "Student"
was noted as the occupation of 16 school-age children in the
1900 U.S. census, all but one on Bayou Terrebonne. Girls
were as likely to be in school as boys. These children
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resided in 13 households® numbered between #3380-#3410
(Boudreaux and Morrison 198%a, 296, 311-318). Fifty-six
children on Bayou Terrebonne, age 6-14 (elementary range for
8 grades), were not classfied as students.

In households #3380-3410, nine non-students of school age
(6-14, elementary range for 8 grades) lived in a household
where at least one other child was a student. Of these, all
were aged either 6-7 or 13-14. Nine non-students of school
age (6-14, elementary range for 8 grades) lived in five
households where no child was a student.” One child in
question was 8; one was 11; two were 12. The other 5 were
either 6-7 or 13-14. 1In the succeeding households on Bayou
Terrebonne, #3411-#3453, no children were classified as
students. In this range, 20 households contained 38
children of school age (6-14, elementary range for 8
grades). It was not possible to determine if no children
were in school, or if the census taker just stopped counting
at that point (Boudreaux and Morrison 1989a, 311-318). No
children in families ancestral to the petitioning group who
were living in the Theriot Church service area were noted as
students. There were students in "non-Houma" families
enumerated on the same census pages (Boudreaux and Morrison
19891, 446-453), indicating that "white" public schools
existed in the vicinity.

“"Rediscovery" of the Terrebonne Settlement as Indian and
“Houma" by Anthropologists. In 1900, James Mooney reported
that the historical Houma were practically extinct, or at
least had lost their identity, prior to 1800. 1In 1907,
Hodge’s Handbook of American Indians North of Mexico,
published by the Bureau of American Ethnology, repeated that
the "Huma" were said to be extinct (Hodge 1907, 1:577). In
the same year, however, ethnologist John Reed Swanton, while
doing field work in Indian communities in Louisiana, visited
the Terrebonne Parish settlement and tentatively identified
its members as descendants of the historical Houma, saying
that they called themselves "‘Hommas’ or, rather ‘Homas’"
(Swanton 1911, 292). After a long discussion of the
historical Houma tribe from eighteenth and early nineteenth-

¥  Household heads: Victor Billiot, Francois Gallet, Martin Dupre, Oscar
Galley, Jules Courteaux, (Charles] Duncan Billiot, Clodius {Chlodomir] Billiot,
Andrew Chasson, Marcel Naquin, Jr.; Joseph Maulinaire, Marcelian Courteaux,
Charles Hotard [son of Josephine/Fine Courteau], Wallace Couteaux.

¥ Household heads: Jim Fitch, Jouissan [Joachim) Verdin, James Dardar,
Arthur Chasson, Floran Chasson.
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century sources, he concluded: "At any rate, the remnant of
the :ribe, mixed with other Indian peoples and white and
negro blood, now live along the coasts of Terre Bonne and La
Fourche parishes" (Swanton 1911, 291). Swanton continued by
saying that, "In spite of mixture with whites and negroes,
they form a distinct class of the population, and prefer to
be called ‘Indians’" (Swanton 1911, 292).

According to Speck, in 1907 Swanton estimated a population
of 350 for the UHN ancestral group at that time and added a
comment that: "The so-called Houma of today include
remnants of most of the Louisiana coast tribes, in all
degrees of mixture, Indian, white, and negro. The state
recognizes about 350 as Indian. They claim over 800 of all
mixtures and intermarriages" (Speck 1943, 1937). The
petition presented no documentation concerning this "state
recognition" as Indian prior to 1907, nor did the petition
narrative discuss what it meant for the community.

\
Swanton’s identification of the group as Houma was not
accepted as unambiguous by other ethnologists in the early
twent:ieth century. When M. Raymond Harrington spent some
time "searching out the remnants of Indian tribes still left
in the state of Louisiana, for the purpose of learning
somei:hing about their location, numbers, and condition .
." (Harrington 1908, 656), he discussed the Chitimacha and
Koasati at length. His total description of the UHN
sett . ement was much briefer:

The Houma tribe, near Houma, Terrebonne Parish, is
now nearly extinct, only two or three persons
being found who can claim pure Indian blood.
However, a number of families were seen who show
plainly their Indian extraction. The Houma
language, which belongs to the Muskogean stock and
is closely related to the Choctaw, is remembered
to-day by two old women only and one of these has
forgotten much of what she knew of the Indian
tongue. Strange to say this very woman remembers
some characteristic Indian songs. French is the
prevailing language to-day, and the Houma live
like the white people about them. Even the art of
basketry has been lost, which seems a pity, for I
found a number of fine old baskets among these
people, one of which, a double basket, would
compare favorably with the work of the Chitimacha.
The most remarkable specimen I found here was a
blowgun made of a cypress pole, which had been
split, hollowed out, and stuck together again,
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then wound with cord, and covered with wax or gum
of some kind (Harrington 1908, 657-658).

In 1917, Bushnell identified a descendant of a central UHN
family, from a major UHN settlement, as Chitimacha:

At the present time several families living in
Terrebonne and La Fourche parishes, near Bayou La
Fourche, claim to be of Chitimacha descent,
although they know some of their ancestors to have
been Houma, and many have traces of European blood
as well. On the following pages are given some of
the mannerisms and customs of these people, as
related by Abel Billiot, a man about sixty-five
years of age, who is known as a Chitimacha, from
the village of Point-au-chien in the southeastern
part of Terrebonne parish, Louisiana (Bushnell
1917, 302).

Frark G. Speck expressed no doubts that the roots of the
modern petitioner lay within the historical Houma tribe,
although he opened his major article (based upon a report he
prepared for the Deparment of Education, Office of Indian
Affeirs, in 1939-40) by saying, "Historians and ethnologists
have: dealt most charily with the Houma people" (Speck 1943,
136). His own summary stated that it was "well established
historically that the Houma removed" from their 1706
sett.lement to the delta near New Orleans "and subsequent